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Note on forward-looking statements

The group management report and other sections of this annual report contain 

forward-looking statements that are based on current planning, assumptions, 

and estimates rather than on historical facts. In all cases, the forward-looking 

statements apply at the time the statements are made and we give no 

undertaking to update the content on the basis of new information or future 

events after publication of this report. We have derived our assessments 

and conclusions from these forward-looking statements, expectations, and 

forecasts. We explicitly draw attention to the fact that all our forward-looking 

statements are subject to known or unknown risks and uncertainties and are 

based on conclusions that relate to future events. These in turn are subject 

to risks, uncertainties, and other factors outside our control. Such risks, 

uncertainties, and other factors may arise, among other things, from changes 

in general economic conditions or the competitive environment, trends on the 

capital markets, changes in the tax/legal framework, and other risks. Actual 

events in the future may therefore differ substantially from our forward-looking 

statements, expectations, forecasts, and conclusions. We can accept no liability 

for the accuracy or completeness of the information provided and can make no 

warranty that future situations will occur as described.

General disclaimer

Unless otherwise stated, the past performance of the funds has been 

determined on the basis of Union Investment's own calculations using the BVI 

method (front-end fees not included, where applicable). Past performance is 

not necessarily a guide to future performance. For extensive product-specific 

information and details of the opportunities and risks attaching to Union 

Investment Group funds, please refer to the latest sales prospectuses, the 

Company's terms and conditions, the Key Investor Information, or the annual 

and half-yearly reports, German versions of which can be obtained free of 

charge from the client service offered by Union Investment Service Bank AG at 

Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. These documents 

constitute the sole binding basis for the purchase of funds. The content of this 

annual report does not constitute a recommendation to take a specific course 

of action; it is not a substitute for personal investment advice from the Bank or 

for expert personal tax advice. Although Union Asset Management Holding AG 

has taken due care in preparing and producing this document, Union Invest-

ment gives no guarantee that the information contained therein is up to date, 

accurate, and complete.

Revision date of all information, disclosures, explanations, charts, and  

diagrams: March 4, 2013 (unless stated otherwise).

Formal aspects of the report

 

To improve readability, repeated use throughout the report of the full legal 

form of the names of group companies has been avoided. The 2012 Annual 

Report is available in both German and English. 

It can be accessed on the internet at wir-vermoegen.de, either as an interactive 

report or as a PDF download.
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The Union Investment Group is one of the 
largest and most important providers in 
Germany's asset management industry, 
with more than 50 years of expertise 
in fund management, and assets under 
management of over EUR 190 billion. 
Union Investment actively manages assets, 
offering tailored investment solutions for 
both retail and institutional investors. 

Union Investment is a member of the  
DZ BANK Group alongside Bausparkasse 
Schwäbisch Hall, DG HYP, DZ PRIVAT-
BANK, R+V Versicherung, TeamBank,  
VR LEASING, and various other specialized 
institutions. The companies in the  
DZ BANK Group constitute key pillars in 

the range of financial products and ser-
vices offered by the cooperative financial 
network. The DZ BANK Group sets out 
its strategy and range of services for the 
cooperative banks and their customers 
through its four strategic business lines – 
Retail Banking, Corporate Banking, Capital 
Markets, and Transaction Banking. The  
DZ BANK Group forms part of the German 
cooperative financial network, which 
comprises more than 1,100 local coopera-
tive banks and is one of Germany's largest 
private-sector financial services organiza-
tions in terms of total assets. Within the 
cooperative financial network, DZ BANK AG 
functions both as a central institution for 
over 900 cooperative banks (and their 

roughly 12,000 branch offices) and as a 
corporate bank.

This combination of banking, personal in-
vestment products and services, insurance, 
and home savings has a long and success-
ful tradition in the cooperative financial 
network. The specialized institutions in the 
DZ BANK Group provide top-class, highly 
competitive products at reasonable prices 
within their specific areas of expertise. 
This ensures that the cooperative banks 
in Germany are able to offer their clients 
a comprehensive range of outstanding 
financial services.

Union Investment – Partner of the Cooperative Banks and  
a DZ BANK Group Company

Key financial figures for the Union Investment Group 

2012 2011 2010

Assets under management (AuM) (EUR billion) 190.5 170.3 177.4

Mutual funds 114.8 103.0 109.7

Special funds 58.8 53.3 54.4

Other formats ¹ 26.1 20.3 19.1

Formats managed by third parties ² -9.2 -6.3 -5.8

Market share of total BVI assets under management ³ 12.3% 11.8% 11.9%

Market share of BVI mutual funds (AuM) 19.5% 18.2% 18.1%

Market share of BVI special funds (AuM) 11.0% 11.7% 11.9%

Net inflows (EUR billion) 9.9 -1.5 8.7

Mutual funds 5.4 -2.1 -0.3

Special funds 2.1 0.3 6.2

Other formats ¹ 3.7 1.3 3.0

Formats managed by third parties ² -1.3 -1.0 -0.2

Market share of total inflows to BVI (AuM) ³ -14.9% -36.2% 25.0%

Market share of inflows to BVI mutual funds (AuM) 41.0% n.a. 4 -32.0%

Market share of inflows to BVI special funds (AuM) 10.3% 4.4% 21.5%

Number of products 998 969 957

Mutual funds 708 675 634

Special funds 323 308 318

Other formats ¹ 250 249 246

Formats managed by third parties ² -283 -263 -241

¹ Fund-linked asset management, institutional asset management, private banking, advisory services.
² Notional adjustment of assets under management for formats that are administered by Union Investment but managed by third parties.
³ Based on fund management statistics published by the Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management e.V. (BVI) [Federal Association of German Fund Management Companies].
4 Total new business in the sector was down, therefore no market share can be shown.
Source: Union Investment; as at December 31, 2012

Leif Schönstedt, Head of Sales Support,
Risk Management, and Regulatory Law

Dr. Joachim von Cornberg, Head of the
General Legal and Compliance department

Astrid Joost-van der Spek, Head of International 
Institutional Account Management

Many people, one ‘us’

Union Investment has many facets. The diversity 
of our business lines and knowledge is mirrored 
in the diversity of the people behind our solutions 
and products. A small cross-section is illustrated 
by the changing themes on the cover of our 2012 
Annual Report. Four employees have been chosen 
to represent the values and attitudes of our Com-
pany. We maintain a strong focus on customers 
by working side by side with our partners in the 
Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken cooperative finan-
cial network or through direct contact with our 
institutional clients. That is what Union Investment 
understands by ‘We can do it’.

Cover page: Gunther Kramert, UniGlobal fund manager

Union Investment Group entities

Union Investment 
Institutional GmbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union IT-Services GmbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Service-Gesellschaft 
mbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment 
Service Bank AG
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment Financial 
Services S.A
308, route d’Esch
1471 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg

attrax S.A.
308, route d’Esch
1471 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg

Union Investment Institutional 
Property GmbH
Platz der Republik 6
60325 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment 
Luxembourg S.A.
308, route d’Esch
1471 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg

Union Investment 
Privatfonds GmbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment 
Real Estate GmbH
Valentinskamp 70
20355 Hamburg 
Germany

Union Investment Towarzystwo 
Funduszy Inwestycyjnych S.A
ul. Polna 11
00-663 Warsaw 
Poland

Union Investment Real Estate 
France S.A.S., Paris
112, Avenue Kléber
75784 Paris Cedex 16 
France

BEA Union Investment  
Management Limited,  
Hong Kong
10 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

Quoniam Asset
Management GmbH
Westhafenplatz 1
60327 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Credit institutions

Fund management companies

Securities trading companies

Service companies

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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What happens when the parameters within which we operate change significantly? This 
issue concerns us all at the moment. Financial markets have become imbalanced, capital 
markets are now more complex, and tighter regulation has been put in place. The low level 
of interest rates brings a whole set of new challenges for investors. The financial sector 
needs to develop new solutions because the old ones are no longer adequate. This is par-
ticularly applicable to asset managers. The most important topics are greater specialization 
and focus, more quality and stability, and increased concentration on core competencies. 
This means value chains need to be reassessed and business models adapted. Future success 
will, above all, depend on having a well-defined profile.

Union Investment set about fulfilling this requirement early on, which is why 2012 was a 
year of change for us. As part of our Union Investment 2.0 project, we looked at how we 
can make ourselves fit for the future in all divisions and throughout the entire value chain. 
Our aim was to inject more effectiveness and efficiency into our tried-and-tested business 
model so that we can make even better use of growth opportunities. We will therefore 
 focus our efforts more on our core competencies by providing investment solutions tailored 
to customer needs in our retail business and positioning ourselves as a leading expert  
in the active management of opportunities and risks in our institutional business. In this 
way, we can continue to fulfill investors’ wide-ranging requirements and add value over 
the long term despite the changing parameters within which we have to operate. At the 
same time, it will enable us to achieve our objective of making more of our investors’ 
money so that we merit their trust.

Dear readers and shareholders,
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Our strong business performance in 2012 has provided us with the necessary momentum. 
The upturn in the capital markets is reflected in the consistently positive performance of 
our funds. We have already steered a course for further growth, generating new business 
worth EUR 9.9 billion and increasing our assets under management to a record 
EUR 190.5 billion. As a result, we achieved a profit before taxes of EUR 307 million, which 
enables us to act from a position of strength – something of which we are proud.

We are working together toward one goal: to add value for our investors over the long 
term. This is the foundation on which our success is built. But we can only achieve it 
through constructive collaboration with our partners in the cooperative financial network 
and the huge level of commitment shown by the 2,450 employees of Union Investment.  
On behalf of the Union Investment Board of Managing Directors, I would like to take this 
opportunity to say a big thank you to everyone. 

Kind regards,

Hans Joachim Reinke
Chief Executive Officer of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report

9



2012 – Issues  
at the focus of  
our attention
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November 12, 2012 
Hamburg

Meeting of the Advisory Council

Hans Joachim Reinke discusses the market 
penetration strategies for the coming year 
with Dr. Wolfgang Baecker, Chairman of the 
Advisory Council. Baecker, Chief Executive 
Officer of VR-Bank Westmünsterland eG, 
provides an update on the latest sales 
trends. One of the key issues is how to pro-
vide even more help for investment busi-
ness advisors, particularly in view of regu-
latory requirements. Reinke attaches great 
importance to close dialog with partner 
banks. Here, Baecker’s first-hand knowledge 
means Reinke can find out more about 
matters of concern to advisors and clients.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report

11



12



November 14, 2012 
Mainz

Risk Management Conference

For the seventh year running, institutional 
investors from both Germany and abroad 
have been invited to a Risk Management 
Conference. Alexander Schindler is well 
aware of the importance of talking directly 
to investors. The opportunity to hold 
 discussions at a professional level with 
 distinguished experts and high-profile poli-
ticians is particularly well received. Here, 
Schindler is in conversation with Dieter 
Lehmann, Member of the Executive Manage-
ment and Chief Investment Officer of the 
Volkswagen Foundation, sharing ideas 
about investment strategies to generate 
higher returns in times of low interest 
rates. The conference participants keenly 
follow a subsequent panel discussion 
 involving Lehmann and other eminent 
speakers.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report
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November 20, 2012 
Berlin

Meeting of the Union Investment 
senior management team

The issue of regulation is on the agenda 
for the meeting in Berlin. Ulrich Köhne 
discusses regulatory developments in the 
fund management sector with financial 
experts. The presentations on the latest 
regulatory plans provide a more detailed 
insight into the political decision-making 
process. Köhne is openly critical of the 
push for more regulation. He believes that 
the constant discussion of proposed new 
legislation just creates more uncertainty 
for investors and undermines efforts to 
achieve the actual objective of improved 
investor protection.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report
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January 15, 2013 
Frankfurt

Portfolio management event  
for employees

In challenging market phases, it is par-
ticularly important that capital market 
 specialists have regular opportunities to  
share their experiences and ideas. At  
this employee event, Jens Wilhelm is in 
discussion with colleagues about the new 
requirements for portfolio management.  
A sharper focus on core competencies is 
critical to performance in this area of 
 activity, but it does also mean that there 
needs to be a new structure for the 
 management teams. The employees are 
talking about the resulting changes in 
 day-to-day activities and how they can 
 better exploit synergies in the investment 
process within the new structure.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report
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It is vital that we work in close collaboration with the 
local cooperative banks. Every year, Hans Joachim 
Reinke, Chief Executive Officer of Union Investment, 

spends about 100 days on the road in Germany.  
He aims to talk directly to partner banks so that he can 
establish the various needs first-hand. Much has 
changed since the turmoil in the financial markets and 
the crisis in the euro zone over the last few years. 
“There is still deep-seated insecurity,” explains Reinke, 
who has a keen instinct for the underlying issues faced 
by advisors. “Clients are very cautious and not show-
ing much interest in investing for the longer term. They 
are not prepared to accept any losses either. This 
 presents huge challenges in many advisory discussions.”

Market development focus on partner banks
The driving principle in our retail business is to base our activities more rigorously on 

the needs of investors. Following a detailed analysis of these needs, we identified the 

following core investment issues: saving, providing for old age, and optimizing assets. 

Teams have therefore also been structured in line with these areas of investment. The 

objective of our marketing will be to provide the best possible support for the advisory 

process by offering activities precisely tailored to the needs of investment advisors. In 

the other direction, employees at partner banks are encouraged to contribute sugges-

tions for improving the services to clients – as part of a competition for innovation ide-

as. This represents a further step in the process of reinforcing our competitiveness.

 Our task is to find the right responses to 
the changes in the needs of our customers.   

Hans Joachim Reinke 

Demand for high quality

The level of quality now demanded by investors and 
advisors from an asset manager is correspondingly 
high. They are looking for needs-based solutions that 
deliver the required level of security, returns, and 
 flexibility. “Our task is to find the right responses to 
the changes in the needs of our clients,” says Reinke. 

This task is not made any easier as the capital markets 
environment becomes increasingly complex. According 
to Jens Wilhelm, the member of the Board of Managing 
Directors with responsibility for investment strategy, 
“We are now faced with a new reality in stock markets 
characterized by shorter cycles, lower potential growth, 
more rapidly changing investment favorites, and 
 unstable correlations.” The difficulties are being com-
pounded by the crisis in the euro zone, global imbal-
ances, and the perpetual fiscal debate in the USA. 
 “Although the risk of a crisis in the global financial 
system has receded, it will still be some time before 
capital markets are in calmer waters,” Wilhelm believes.

However, stock markets are not the only source of 
constraints. Flexibility in fund management business is 
also becoming increasingly restricted by regulation. 
“Since the financial crisis, regulatory zeal has moved 
into a new dimension,” explains Ulrich Köhne, who is 
responsible for fund management services and infra-
structure. Köhne also takes a critical view of some of 
the proposed regulation. In his opinion, even though 
increased regulation aims to offer better protection for 
investors, much of the new regulation already intro-
duced or planned will in fact cause even more uncer-
tainty for both investors and advisors.

Ensuring successful performance in the future

The Board of Managing Directors is focusing on new growth areas, increased effectiveness, and 
 enhanced efficiency, all brought together under the umbrella of the Union Investment 2.0 project.  
How the course for the future has been set – an example. 
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Sales drive aimed at high-potential customers
Innovative approaches for implementing new regulatory requirements are at the core of our 

sales activities in institutional business. This is because banks and insurance companies 

will have to satisfy tighter requirements in the future as a result of imminent changes to 

legislation. Union Investment first had to reorganize its own process chain in line with 

the new standards in order to be able to offer investors professional solutions in this regard. 

This included further development to create the concept of the service asset management 

company. We also had to develop a comprehensive range of expertise in matters relating  

to banking and insurance company regulation because this was the only way in which  

we could then develop tailored solutions for the regulatory requirements. The provision of 

these services has been very well received, especially by clients in the financial sector. 

Bucking the trend with growth

Reinke sums up these developments: “The environment 
in which we operate as asset managers has fundamen-
tally changed.” The situation is therefore often referred 
to as an upheaval in the fund management industry. 
There is no doubt that asset managers are battling 
against a bitter wind and this is reflected primarily in 
profitability. Nevertheless, Union Investment is out-
stripping many of its competitors and delivering suc-
cessful financial performance. Alexander Schindler 
 attributes this to the fact that, among other things, new 
business is now growing again. 

Schindler is the member of the Board of Managing 
 Directors responsible for institutional clients: “In this 
 regard, we have been able to pick up on the success 
enjoyed in previous years and even managed to 
 exceed our target for the year, generating net inflows 
of EUR 8.8 billion.” However, he is well aware of  
the challenges involved in continuing to meet the ex-
pectations of significant new business in the future. 
Schindler is an experienced sales strategist and is clear 
about what is required: “To achieve these forecasts, 
we must focus even greater attention on those areas 
in which we can demonstrate our expertise and strengths 
compared with our competitors.” In institutional 
 business, risk management is one of these areas  
of expertise: “In this regard, we are considered a market 
and opinion leader, which is also reflected in the 
s uccess of our annual Risk Management Conference.”

In total, significant inflows in institutional and open-
ended real estate fund business, the turnaround 
 resulting in net inflows in retail business, and the sharp 
rise in prices on capital markets led to an increase  
of 12 percent in Union Investment’s assets under man-
agement to EUR 190.5 billion. As Reinke concludes: “All 
in all, a very encouraging performance, which is also re-
flected in our operating profit. We are financially 
strong and healthy.”

Proactive approach

Nevertheless, the Board of Managing Directors sees 
no reason why Union Investment should rest on its 
laurels. As Reinke explains, “Back in 2011 we carried 

 We are focusing our attention on those 
areas in which we can demonstrate our 
 expertise compared with our competitors. 

Alexander Schindler 

out a critical analysis of what Union Investment stood 
for and the features that could determine the success 
of the company into the future.” In the next step, the 
results of this analysis were condensed into a new cor-
porate mission statement and an associated statement 
of values. “Making more of investors’ money, meriting 
their trust – these words embody the challenge we 
have set ourselves,” adds Reinke, reinforcing the point. 
However, that was only the beginning. “It rapidly 
 became clear that if we wanted to keep Union Invest-
ment on course for further success, we would also 
have to put our business model and the existing pro-
cesses in the individual segments to the test,” adds 
Wilhelm. The reason was that, even if Union Investment 
demonstrated that it was significantly more robust 
than many of its competitors in tough market condi-
tions, its management would still have to cope with 
the same challenges faced by all the other players in 
the asset management industry. 

These challenges include the increasing pressure on 
costs. Costs rise in line with increasing requirements 
from clients, markets, and regulators. On the other side 
of the equation, income is very volatile and this mis-
match has worsened as a result of the crisis. Köhne is 
in no doubt: “Sooner or later, every provider has to 
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 address the question of how costs are to be reduced if 
income is flatlining.” The Board of Managing Directors 
of Union Investment has taken a proactive approach 
at an early stage. “We will continue to develop our 
business from a position of strength so that we remain 
on course for further success despite structural 
c hanges. It is our responsibility to take this approach,” 
according to Reinke.

Establishing a powerful structure

In order to establish a more powerful structure, Union 
Investment has initiated a project aimed at examining 
corporate strategy throughout the entire group.  
“We called this project Union Investment 2.0. This name 
 reflects the fact that we are continuing to use our 
 existing business as a basis, but applying our skills and 
expertise in a manner that is more closely networked 
and focused – with the objective of ensuring that our 
services are even better aligned with the needs of our 
investors,” explains Schindler.

The objective of Union Investment 2.0 is clearly defined: 
to gear the proven business model to increased effec-
tiveness so that Union Investment is better placed to 
exploit the potential for growth. As part of this project, 

all processes in the individual segments were reviewed. 
The requirements were extensive and the timescale 
ambitious. The first results were available after just 
three months, which Wilhelm attributes to the special 
structure of the project: “It was a completely innova-
tive approach. We set up six different subprojects. In 
the two market segments, and in the portfolio manage-
ment and real estate segments, we were therefore 
able to focus the project work very specifically on the 
relevant key areas.” Various consultancy firms were 
also involved as appropriate.

A second feature was that the project was broken 
down into an effectiveness investigation phase and a 
subsequent efficiency review building on the results 
from the first phase. In this way, it was therefore pos-
sible – initially within the individual segments – to 
 examine the value chains, highlight the interfaces, and 
then bring this information together into a complete 
picture. This picture then formed the basis for identify-
ing potential efficiency enhancements.

Doing the right things

The project was initiated at the start of 2012. Reinke 
explains the first steps: “We took a very critical view 
of whether we were doing the right things. Were there 
any profitable growth areas in asset management  
that Union Investment could also move into based on 
 innovation?” As a consequence, the project first ana-
lyzed the retail clients and institutional clients market 
segments. These segments were also closely linked  
to the portfolio management and real estate segments, 
which were subject to their own effectiveness investi-
gation beginning four weeks later. 

The Board of Managing Directors was conscious that it 
was demanding a very great deal from all the repre-
sentatives of the segments. A large amount of capacity 
was tied up by weekly – and in some cases even  
daily – coordination sessions and meetings of steering 
committees. At the same time, day-to-day business 
had to continue to run smoothly. Another important 
factor was to ensure that employees were involved at 
a very early stage because any change in an organ-
ization always tends to unsettle employees. Project 
communication therefore had to be well organized. 

All information from one source
Under the new regulatory requirements, regulatory reporting will take on a central 

role. Detailed information will have to be supplied, particularly to banks and insurance 

companies, to enable them to continue to satisfy regulatory requirements in the  

future. A completely transparent reporting system will also be required so that capital 

 adequacy and risk structure can be managed in optimum fashion. The range of services 

in our reporting system has been expanded accordingly. High-performance processes 

and systems as well as specific employee expertise are absolute prerequisites for these 

services. We are already in a position to deliver from one source all the information 

that investors need to meet their regulatory reporting requirements and manage their 

capital.   

 We will also continue to offer the  
highest level of quality in our products  
and processes. 

Ulrich Köhne  
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Breaking new ground

It was beneficial that the project teams were closely 
integrated with each other. Generally, all the decision-
makers from the segments sat round one table and 
carried out the work on Union Investment’s strategic 
realignment on a joint basis. Reinke particularly values 
the fact that this approach engendered a correspond-
ingly strong sense of identity with the project: “From 
the very beginning, this project was driven forward 
with a huge degree of commitment from the manage-
ment team. Working together, the team was therefore 
more than willing to break the new ground set out in 
Union Investment 2.0.”

The priority was to address the question of leveraging 
the potential for more growth, greater efficiency, and 
lower costs. As Köhn explains, “We examined how we 
could deliver services faster and at lower cost without 
any quality impairment.” Accordingly, investigations 
were also carried out to establish how duplication and 
unnecessary use of resources could be avoided. “How-
ever, as we see it, efficiency is not just about cutting 
costs, it is much more about focusing the activities of 
our employees in the right areas,” stresses Köhne. 
The Board of Managing Directors is satisfied with the 
results generated by the Union Investment 2.0 project. 
“This is a milestone in our corporate history,” says Reinke. 
All the segments presented impressive reorganization 
strategies based on the shared corporate objective of 
ensuring successful performance for the future.

Focusing on strengths

“Focusing on strengths is the common strategic theme 
in all our areas of activity,” explains Wilhelm. However, 
implementation in the individual segments varies sig-
nificantly. In the institutional business, new emphasis 
has been placed on the issue of capital optimization 
whereas the priority in retail business is on more inten-
sive support for banks. For example, Union Investment 
has initiated an innovation process with the banks  
so that it can provide even better support for securities 
investment advice over the entire process chain.
“The basis is that we continue to offer the highest level 
of quality in our products and processes,” emphasizes 
Köhne. This applies as much to the competency units as 

it does to the service units. It is clear from the realignment 
in the portfolio management and real estate segments 
that Union Investment is not simply paying lip service to 
these principles. Wilhelm describes the main changes: 
“In portfolio management, we are increasing our focus 
on core competencies and have therefore completely 
restructured this segment.” In the real estate business, 
the potential for performance is more rigorously exploited 
across the entire value chain. According to Wilhelm, 
“Faster, specialized processes, more transactions, and a 
higher turnover rate are necessary in this case.” 

Behind every new strategy there is a comprehensive 
range of measures that are currently being put into 
action in the segments. Everything is planned to be 
implemented by 2015. Once fully implemented, the 
plan is expected to generate additional income of 
EUR 30 million and cost savings of EUR 60 million each 
year. This cannot be achieved without cuts. A 10 percent 
reduction in the workforce and the restructuring of 
many corporate units is demanding a great deal, par-
ticularly of employees. However, Reinke makes the 
 following promise: “We will try to keep the impact on 
the workforce as low as possible.” He is well aware 
that the one thing Union Investment needs more than 
anything else as it completes its realignment is moti-
vated, committed, and highly professional employees. 
“Our employees are our greatest asset.” 

Focus on core competencies
The number one priority in portfolio management is to create added value for the 

investor. As customer needs have changed and the situation in capital markets has also 

become more challenging, it has become necessary to realign the structure of portfolio 

management teams and processes to reflect the new conditions and to sharpen the 

focus on core competencies. This includes global, European, and German equities. As 

far as fixed-income securities are concerned, there has been a shift in focus toward 

Europe, emerging markets, and European corporate bonds. Asset allocation, IMMUNO 

capital preservation strategies, and convertibles complete the picture. Based on these 

core competencies, portfolio management can offer appropriate solutions in response 

to the latest investor needs.  

 Focusing on strengths is the common 
theme running through all our strategic 
 realignment activities. 

Jens Wilhelm   
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We understand
Focusing even more firmly on investors’ needs. 
Profiting from growth markets.
Involving partners in innovation processes.
Providing personal customer care in international markets.

Astrid Joost-van der Spek is Head of Interna-

tional Institutional Account Management at Union 

Investment. She and her team maintain close 

personal relations with institutional investors to 

 ascertain their investment requirements. Being 

clear about requirements enables the account 

managers to offer suitable investment solutions.
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Switzerland and 
 Germany in partnership Eigerstrasse is one of the main east-west 

thoroughfares running through the 
Monbijou district in the center of Bern, 

Switzerland. The area acquired its name  
in the 19th century from a small palace on 
the site. Nowadays, the architecture tends 
toward the more mundane. The large num-
ber of cold functional buildings enjoy little 
of the unassailable majesty projected by 
the source of the street’s name, the famous 
mountain on the main ridge in the Bernese 
Alps around 80 kilometers south of the 
Swiss federal capital. Behind the facade of 
the complex of buildings at number 57 you 
will also find none of the drama for which 
the north face of the Eiger is renowned. Quite 
the opposite in fact, because this is the 
home of Publica, the Swiss Federal Pension 
Fund. Publica is a mainstay of pension 
 provision insurance in Switzerland and is a 
byword for security and permanence.

The Swiss pension system is built around 
three pillars. The AHV insurance for retire-
ment and surviving dependants provides 
basic protection. Occupational pension 
funds form the second pillar, with funds pri-
vately organized by individuals making up 
the third pillar. The Publica pension fund is 

Publica, the Swiss Federal Pension Fund, has recently 
also been investing in euro-denominated corporate 
bonds. It obtains the necessary expertise from a 
number of sources including Union Investment. This 
partnership between Germany and Switzerland 
quickly paid off in 2012.

Astrid Joost-van der Spek of Union Investment (left) in conversation with Dr. Susanne Haury von Siebenthal, 
Head of Asset Management at Publica, the Swiss Federal Pension Fund. “From the very beginning, we got 
on very well with our partners at Union Investment,” emphasizes Dr. Haury.
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part of the second pillar and was originally  
a fund specifically for federal civil servants 
in Switzerland. Today, it is a collective in-
stitution that manages the assets of more 
than 20 individual pension funds. Currently, 
it is responsible for approximately 44,000 
pension beneficiaries and also some 59,000 
savers. The fund assets amount to a total 
of approximately CHF 35 billion.

Any suspicion that the subject matter in this 
case could turn out to be rather dry and 
inaccessible swiftly evaporates when you 
listen to Dr. Susanne Haury von Siebenthal, 
Head of Asset Management and Deputy 
Director of the pension fund. In the recent 
past, Dr. Haury has had to solve problems 
somewhat akin to squaring the circle. To 
achieve a funding ratio of 100 percent – 
the necessary balance between payments 
into the fund and payments out – the 
 pension fund had to generate returns of 
3 percent: “In a very testing environment  
of low interest rates, in which for example 
ten-year Swiss government bonds have  
a coupon of less than 1 percent, we had to 
look for alternatives that also satisfied our 
significant demand for the lowest possible 
risk, a necessary requirement for a pension 

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report

25



The collaboration between Union Investment and Publica proved to be extremely fruitful in 2012 
with Publica benefiting from strong returns of 7.94 percent. Corporate bonds in the portfolio managed 
by Union Investment accounted for a significant proportion of this success.

fund.” The challenging Publica formula for 
economic management is therefore to 
generate strong returns with low risk, both 
in the short and long terms. It is only in 
this way that Publica is able to pay out 
pension benefits earned in the past and at 
the same time accumulate the necessary 
funds for future payments. “We therefore 
also had to look to investments other than 
in traditional asset classes such as govern-
ment bonds,” Dr. Haury explains. During 
the course of 2010, this imperative led 
them to carry out an analysis of corporate 
bonds. As the investment department of 
Publica only manages assets itself if it has 

at least as much expertise as the best exter-
nal partners, it decided in this case to  
buy in the necessary expertise for this asset 
class from external service providers by 
 issuing invitations to tender.

Just under 40 companies submitted tenders 
to manage the portfolio covering corpo-
rate bonds in the euro zone. Dr. Haury de-
scribes the procedure: “We then asked the 
most suitable companies to provide a  
100-page detailed description of how they 
envisaged the portfolio would be struc-
tured.” A Publica team then visited the 
shortlisted companies at their own offices: 

 We were 
 certainly highly 
impressed with 
Union Investment’s 
substantial 
 expertise in 
 corporate bonds. 
Dr. Susanne Haury 
von Siebenthal
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“We wanted to know exactly who was 
producing the product and how. We spoke 
with the individuals involved and took a 
look at the processes.” Ultimately, two of 
the providers satisfied the significant 
 demand for “clear, transparent operations” 
and one of these providers was Union 
 Investment.

A question of expertise

Astrid Joost-van der Spek, Head of Interna-
tional Institutional Account Management 
at Union Investment, believes that Union 
Investment’s very well-developed expertise 
in corporate bonds was the main reason 
why the company’s tender was accepted: 
“Our particularly good reputation in risk 
management also played a part in this 
mandate: The index-linked tender requires 
appropriate risk control, in which oppor-
tunities are exploited within the tight 
tracking requirements.” She also believes 
that the selection was influenced without 
doubt by Union Investment’s structure as a 
cooperative enterprise and its emphasis  
on values such as permanence and profes-
sionalism. This is confirmed by Dr. Haury: 
“From the very beginning, we got on very 
well with our partners at Union Investment 
and we were certainly highly impressed 
with their expertise in corporate bonds.” 

The question remains as to how far port-
folio managers can influence the end result 
in the case of an index-linked product. 
Joost-van der Spek can offer an analogy 
straightaway: “The work we do can be 
compared with precision engineering – like 
the best Swiss watchmakers. We can 
 actively shape the portfolio with modest 
changes by ‘finely adjusting the screws’,  
in our case by increasing or decreasing the 
weighting of the individual components  
in the index.” The portfolio management 
team has detailed knowledge of the 
 companies that issue euro-denominated 

Publica

Publica is one of the largest pension 

funds in Switzerland with total assets 

of more than CHF 35 billion. It is 

structured as a collective institution 

acting as an umbrella for a range of 

separately organized and economically 

independent pension funds operated 

by different employers. For example, 

pension insurance is organized under 

the auspices of Publica for employees 

of the Swiss Federal Administration, 

Swiss Federal Institute of Technology 

(ETH), and Swissmedic, the Swiss 

Agency for Therapeutic Products. 

 Occupational pension funds form the 

second pillar of the Swiss pension 

system.

bonds: “We are only able to pursue an 
 investment confidently if we have really 
understood the business model and are 
sure of the competitiveness of the company 
concerned.”

Fruitful collaboration

It is fair to say that the collaboration be-
tween Union Investment and Publica 
worked extremely well in 2012. Across all 
asset classes, Publica generated a return  
of 7.94 percent in Swiss francs. “There is 
no way we could have predicted such 
 encouraging performance at the start of 
the year,” says Dr. Haury. She believes that 
corporate bonds accounted for a significant 
proportion of this return. In the closed 
pension funds, i.e. those that operate with 
a fixed capital and simply pay out pension 
benefits, Publica achieved overall returns of 
5.95 percent. However, the return for the 
open pension funds, i.e. funds that are still 
receiving contributions for future pensions, 
was a really impressive 8.21 percent. 

This very good example of fruitful German-
Swiss collaboration is actually quite under-
standable according to Astrid Joost-van der 
Spek: “As a native of the Netherlands, I  
can see the various characteristics of the two 
countries from an outsider’s perspective. 
When it comes down to it, the Germans and 
Swiss share many more similarities than 
they perhaps think. Both work reliably and 
with precision. As I see it, the differences 
tend to be more in terms of nuance.”

Dr. Susanne Haury von Siebenthal and 
Astrid Joost-van der Spek will continue to 
hold regular detailed discussions about  
the portfolio in the future. This process may 
even be stepped up somewhat because 
Publica has already expanded the overall 
portfolio of euro-denominated corporate 
bonds for 2013. Success brings people 
 together. 

 When it comes 
down to it, the 
Germans and 
Swiss share many 
more similarities 
than they perhaps 
think. Both work 
reliably and with 
precision.  

Astrid Joost-van der Spek
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Open to 
new 
 solutions 

Union Investment is breaking fresh ground in the devel-
opment of new services. Employees at partner banks 
have been involved in an open process for new ideas and 
suggestions. The number and quality of the suggestions 
has been surprisingly high. Initial projects have  already 
been successfully implemented.
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The runway at Bucharest airport in 
March 2003: 22 men in sports gear 
are kicking around a black and white 

ball – soccer league runners-up Național 
Bucureşti are holding a training session. 
The soccer pitch has been unusable because 
of persistent cold weather in Romania that 
has lasted for months. Team manager Walter 
Zenga has suddenly asked his  players to 
attend a training session at an unusual lo-
cation. Necessity is the mother of invention.

The need to act quickly and efficiently de-
spite increasing regulatory requirements and 
the associated increase in auditing effort 
also caused Britta Lund to think creatively 
in November 2012. She concluded that all 
the information required for a compliance 
check needed to be consolidated as far  
as possible and clearly presented in a small 
number of documents.

Lund has been working for VR Bank 
 Flensburg-Schleswig since 1996. She has 
been an appointed authorized officer with 
responsibility for data protection, IT security, 
and securities compliance since 2011. In 
order to satisfy the enhanced auditing re-
quirements, she had to work through an 
ever-increasing number of advisor records 
and PDF documents: “Under the require-
ments specified in the Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive (MiFID) we always 
have to carry out a precise check to establish 
whether customers have received compre-
hensive advice and whether they have only 

really been provided with products that 
match their respective investment profiles. 
For some time, I have been wondering 
whether intelligent IT solutions could be used 
to reduce the amount of effort involved,” 
she explains. The invitation from Union 
 Investment, which offers its solutions exclu-
sively through cooperative partner banks, 
arrived in front of Lund just at the right time: 
Union Investment was running an open 
process for ideas and suggestions with the 
aim of enabling partner banks to make 
better use of Union Investment’s compre-
hensive expertise.

Breaking new ground

“We have a firmly embedded innovation 
process for products,” says Frank Jacob, a 
segment development employee at Union 
Investment. “To complement these product 
solutions, we offer our partner banks pro-
fessional marketing and support services.” 
However, the market environment is chang-
ing rapidly. Services for partner banks are 
increasingly becoming more of a priority: 
“In 2012 we therefore went one step 
 further and initiated a pilot project (LiP) to 
develop and test an innovation manage-
ment process for services,” explains Jacob.

A particular feature of this project was that 
it was an open process. Following extensive 
preparatory work, the initial core module 
was a suggestions competition. Employees 
at partner banks could use a web platform 
to submit, evaluate, and comment on 
 suggestions. In a second stage, all employ-
ees in the Retail Clients segment were then 
able to assess and refine the suggestions. 
Finally, an innovation team at Union Invest-

Florian Grützner (right) is a data manager at Union Investment. 
Britta Lund is a compliance expert at VR Bank Flensburg-
Schleswig eG. At the bank in Schleswig, they discuss how Union 
Investment can provide innovative services to help partner banks 
satisfy increasing compliance requirements.
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ment viewed the suggestions, re-combined 
them, and carried out further development.

The involvement of the partner banks proved 
to be very fruitful. Lund is delighted “that 
local users were invited to  contribute ideas 
to the process.” Her request to Union 
 Investment was that all the information nec-
essary for a compliance check be brought 
together on the least possible number of 
Excel worksheets. She was able to explain 
the detailed requirements for the new 
 documents to Florian Grützner, the relevant 
data manager at Union Investment.

Achieving more together

Grützner was already aware of the nature 
of the problem. “At IT conferences, we had 
already discussed a lean solution for the 
regulatory requirements. However, the data 
managers involved often did not have 
 precisely defined target content at their dis-
posal.” In this regard, the users in the 
partner banks frequently have a more in-
depth knowledge of the problems and 
 solutions. Lund was happy to supply this 
knowledge. The collaboration between 
Lund, the compliance expert, and Grützner, 
the data specialist, provided the break-
through. Last November, Grützner was able 
to deliver the desired solution from the 
Union Investment data warehouse within 
two weeks. Three Excel worksheets are now 
sufficient to meet Lund’s particular require-
ments. However, Grützner believes that 
further simplification is still possible. A 
wider-scale IT project is therefore planned 
to adapt the data sources so that one 
standard Excel file could be used to audit 
compliance for all cooperative banks.

High participation level,  
positive feedback

Britta Lund and Florian Grützner have proved 
that it is worth using an open innovation 
process. This is also demonstrated by other 
results from the suggestions competition. 
First, the quantitative analysis: An impres-
sive 113 suggestions were submitted in 
this pilot project, which represents an out-
standing level of participation for a first-
time competition of this nature. Core themes 
that emerged from the suggestions related 
to compliance requirements, issues con-
cerning form use and form development, 
and matters concerning the computing 
center. However, in the opinion of Jacob, 
who developed the LiP project from the 
outset, the quality of the contributions was 
much more important than the actual 
quantity. The innovation concept has bene-
fited from five ideas that will be used as  
a basis to help improve the usability of 
Union Investment services. Jacob also re-
ports that “a further 30 ideas are still being 
reviewed as part of current projects to es-
tablish whether they can be implemented.”
The suggestions competition was well re-
ceived. This is highlighted by the survey 
carried out subsequently by Union Invest-
ment. Many of the partner banks agreed 
that “this kind of suggestions competition 
was well suited to Union Investment” and 
that “a suggestions competition of this 
nature engendered closer collaboration 
between the cooperative partner banks and 
Union Investment.” This is also confirmed 
by Jacob in his conclusion: “LiP has proven 
itself an effective method of finding inno-
vative solutions for the services we provide 
for partner banks.” 

 I’m delighted that local users were invited  
to contribute ideas to the competition. 
Britta Lund
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Union Investment is opening up the fast-growing market 
of renewable energies for institutional investors by 
offering its first special fund for institutional investors 
focusing on wind and solar energy. With the infrastruc-
ture fund, Union Investment is developing a new asset 
class for which each element in the internal value chain 
first had to be defined.

Energy boost 
for institutional 
investors
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As I see it, this is a situation in which 
everyone is a winner,” says Elmar 
Werner, Head of Product Develop-

ment in Portfolio Management segment 
development, putting it in a nutshell. “This 
project is good for investors, good for 
 Union Investment, and good for the environ-
ment.” Werner and his colleagues had a 
great deal to do before institutional clients 
were able to make use of this fund: “This 
project was completely new territory for me, 
but also particularly appealing as a result.”

The idea of offering investors an infrastruc-
ture fund focusing on renewable energies 
came from employees in the Institutional 
Clients segment. They were clear that this 
was a fast-growing market. Wind and solar 
power no longer represent niche areas and 
are increasingly replacing coal and nuclear. 
In 2012, wind power and solar energy 
 together fed a total of just under 74 billion 
kilowatt hours of electricity into the German 
grid, up by almost 18 percent on the pre-
vious year. This is the sort of growth rate that 
many other sectors can only dream about 
at the moment. And the growth is expected 
to continue – right across the continent: 
The European Union (EU) has set itself the 
target of increasing the proportion of energy 
consumption accounted for by renewables 
to 20 percent by 2020, thereby roughly 
doubling the proportion within ten years. The 

proportion of total electricity produced 
from renewable sources will then be signif-
icantly higher. This is the only way in which 
EU member states will manage to meet 
the increasing energy requirement, make 
themselves less vulnerable to rising fossil 
fuel prices, and at the same time reduce their 
CO2 emissions.

Experts estimate that this transformation 
in European energy supply will require 
capital investment of EUR 1 trillion over the 
next 20 years. Fat check books will there-
fore be needed. To date however, institu-
tional investors have not been able to invest 
in this growth industry with a sufficient 
degree of diversification. They have been 
searching in vain for special funds focusing 
on the industry but also geared to the par-
ticular needs of banks, insurance companies, 
or pension funds. Union Investment was 
 determined to fill this gap in the market.

A completely new product

The project was firmed up in August 2011 
following initial discussions with service 
providers involved, for example, in the de-
velopment of wind farms. A team led by 
Elmar Werner and the Head of Departmen-
tal Interface Support in the Infrastructure 
segment, Rüdiger Tröndle, was charged with 
the task of drawing up an initial outline 

plan. As Werner explains, “We analyzed the 
value chain, left no stone unturned, and 
first of all clarified any fundamental issues.” 
It quickly became clear that the fund 
 needed to be issued in Luxembourg and 
that the Hamburg site had to be part of 
the picture. Ultimately, in the broadest 
sense, a wind farm is real estate – and 
 Union Investment’s real estate specialists 
are based in Hamburg.

At the end of 2011, the project was taken 
forward in the form of subprojects. Among 
others, Sebastian Schäfer, product developer 
in Portfolio Management segment devel-
opment, worked on the product structure, 
fund manager Carsten Thiel on the pro-
cesses in Hamburg, and Maja Haas, Head 
of Head Office Services (Funds) in the 
 Retail Clients segment, on the regulatory 
and process aspects of the implementation 
in Luxembourg. One of the challenges  
for Haas was to work together with the 
Luxembourg office to ensure the prerequi-
sites were in place for processing com-
pletely new information. “The Luxembourg 
office specializes in processing securities 
products. We had to ensure that it could 
now also process the sales contracts for 
wind farms organized by Hamburg – from 
the decision by the Board of Directors 
through to inclusion in the fund,” explains 
Haas.
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Liaison with the client and sales units was 
carried out by the relevant product manag-
ers, Mirko Häring and Anja Markert, who 
both work in the Alternative Investments 
and Solutions unit within the Institutional 
Clients segment. Häring outlines the 
 challenges in the implementation phase 
for the fund: “We had to convince both 
sales units and investors that the renewable 
energies asset class, which is characterized 
mainly by attractive cash flows over the 
long term, could be combined with sustain-
able elements and at the same time that 
the product would also satisfy all the regu-
latory requirements.”

Minimizing risk

Following detailed research, the fund crea-
tors took a deliberate decision in favor of 
photovoltaics and wind power, but excluded 
other forms of renewable energy. “The 
general conditions and market sizes are only 
suitable in the case of wind and solar power,” 
explains Carsten Thiel, Head of Institutional 
Fund Management 2 in the Real Estate 
segment. He adds that is not yet possible to 
identify any economic benefit from long-
term investments in geothermal energy and 
that the market for biogas plants is simply 
too small.

In order to keep the risk under control, the 
fund creators have centered the portfolio 
on wind power, the leading technology  
in the renewables sector. Recently, it is not 
only the number of wind turbines that  
has increased, the output from individual 
 turbines has also risen. This has brought 
about further reductions in the costs of 
this technology per kilowatt hour and has 
made it even more attractive. In many 
 geographical areas, wind power is already 
so efficient that it can be operated profitably 
without any governmental subsidies such 
as special tariffs paid for electricity fed back 
into the national grid. The fund therefore 

focuses on larger interconnect-
ed onshore wind farms: “We are 
predominantly interested in wind 
farms rated at around 20 mega-
watts with turbines from leading 
manufacturers,” stresses Thiel. 

He is skeptical about offshore in-
stallations. There is still a shortage 
of economic data relating to existing 
installations and the risks are sub-
stantially greater, for example in terms 
of operation and connection to the 
grid. This does not fit the cautious in-
vestment strategy deliberately selected 
by Union Investment. 

It’s all in the mix

A well-diversified portfolio ought to spread 
investments across a number of locations 
and technologies. For this reason, the fund 
strategists have included photovolta-
ics, although there is much less 
emphasis on this technology 
compared with wind power. 
Solar power will account for 
a maximum of 30 percent 
of the fund volume. The 
latest and planned 
reductions in gov-
ernmental 
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subsidies for 
photovoltaic instal-

lations have not played any 
role in this restriction. Fund manager Thiel 
emphasizes that “first and foremost, we 
select locations in which solar power is al-
ready economic without subsidies or we 
concentrate on countries in which govern-
mental support has been fixed over the 
long term.” He adds: “The reductions in 
subsidies for future projects are in any 
case largely offset by the continuous drop 
in solar module prices and by the increased 
efficiency of these modules.”

Initially, the geographical focus of the 
portfolio is on projects in European ‘core 
countries’, primarily in Germany, France, 
and the United Kingdom. By 2015, the 
fund plans to have spread its investments 
over approximately 25 wind farms and up 
to five solar farms.

Sensible cooperation

The distribution of responsibilities between 
Union Investment and the project compa-
nies involved is clearly specified. The asset 
manager launches the fund, actively man-
ages it, and offers investors transparent 
reports. Fund managers evaluate how the 
capital is to be used and assess which 
wind and solar farms are suitable for the 
portfolio. The farms are actually held by 
project companies. Union Investment holds 
the majority of voting rights in each of 
these companies and appoints the chief 

execu-
tive officers in 

order to retain opera-
tional control over the companies. 

In this way, Union Investment ensures that 
it can manage and control all the business 
relationships in the companies – for example 
those relating to technical and commercial 
managers, insurance companies, and banks. 
Potential for added value is identified 
 during the course of day-to-day operations. 
Within the individual farms, “we optimize the 
existing infrastructure and review contracts, 
for example with insurance companies, to 
identify possible cost savings,” explains Thiel. 
He stresses: “We actively manage the 
 investments to protect the interests of our 
investors.”

“At the purchasing stage, we work in close 
collaboration with experienced project 
 developers. This enables us to find interest-
ing new projects,” says Thiel. If the best 
projects for an investment are to be identi-
fied, detailed knowledge of the market 
and the relevant players is required; success-
ful, established processes are also indis-
pensable, not to mention good access to the 
projects themselves. According to Thiel, 
“Relationships between investors and de-
velopers established over many years are 
hugely important in this regard.” 

Key tasks relating to the technical and legal 
review of projects are outsourced to service 
providers. When all is said and done, there 
are any number of wind farm projects. 
However, these projects are very complex 
and differ significantly in terms of location 
and choice of technology. In order to eval-
uate the projects, developers and end in-
vestors require a variety of expert reports 

in which 
the natural fea-

tures affecting a project can 
be analyzed. As hilly country or forested 

areas act as a brake on the wind, the level 
of wind at the height of the hubs on 
planned turbines must be assessed. Other 
reports are required, for example covering 
noise emissions, shadow-casting, and the 
protection of endangered species. Fund 
managers also use these reports to identify 
impact on potential returns and possible 
additional costs that may arise in the selec-
tion of projects for the portfolio. “The fund 
bypasses many of these risks arising in the 
approval, construction, and testing phases 
because it invests in wind farms that have 
already been completed and fully funded,” 
explains Thiel. 

Long-term investment projects

Carsten Thiel is striving to generate a flow of 
income from the fund that is stable over 
the long term and therefore can be reliably 
forecast. He plans to offer the prospect  
of lucrative returns with the lowest possible 
risk. Based on a return of approximately 
6-8 percent per year, the invested capital – 
at least EUR 2.5 million per investor – 
ought to have been repaid in twelve to 14 
years. The infrastructure projects in which 
the fund invests reflect an investment hori-
zon of at least 15 years. “The vast majority 
of the projects have an economic life of 
more than 20 years, so investors can keep 
their investment up to the end of this 
 period,” explains Thiel, adding, “With the 
new infrastructure fund, we are offering 
institutional clients a long-term option to 
benefit from the opportunities presented by 
the fast-growing renewable energies market. 
In the current environment of low interest 
rates, this means we can give institutional 
investors an ‘energy boost’ as far as pre-
dictable returns are concerned.” 
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We transform
Finding the right answers.
Dealing innovatively with stricter regulation.
Making things easier for customers.
Adding value over the long term.

Leif Schönstedt is Head of Sales Support, 

Risk Management, and Regulatory Law at Union 

Investment. Working at the interface between 

Sales and Legal & Public Affairs, he develops 

product concepts that both satisfy regulatory 

requirements such as Basel III and Solvency II and 

meet the needs of institutional clients. 
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Even more service support for institutional investors

The imminent introduction of Basel III, Solvency II, and other regulation 
was the core topic at the meeting of Union Investment’s senior 
 management held in Berlin in November 2012. The tighter regulation 
requires innovative approaches in the institutional business: Union 
 Investment’s new solution platform satisfies regulatory requirements 
and relieves the burden on clients.
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The start of the European Market Infra-
structure Regulation (EMIR), the 
 consequences of the sixth quantitative 

impact study (QIS 6), and the possible 
structure of the EU’s Capital Requirements 
Regulation (CRR I) – these and other regu-
lation issues were the topics addressed 
over a whole day when the smaller senior 
management group at Union Investment 
met in Berlin on November 20, 2012. The 
16 managers held discussions with in-house 
specialists to obtain an overview of EMIR, 
which was due to come into force a few 
weeks later, and to receive an update on the 
latest status regarding the implementation 
of Solvency II and Basel III. They took into 
account the fact that a paradigm shift is 
looming in the entire financial sector with 
legislators redefining their role and in-
creasing their intervention in existing busi-
ness models of all market players. It will 
only be possible for these players to oper-
ate successfully in the future if they have  
a detailed understanding of the interests 
being pursued by the legislators and the 
ideas that they are nurturing.

Far-reaching adjustments necessary

Fund management companies are not in 
the sights of banking or insurance company 
regulators. Rather, the regulations under 
Basel III, Solvency II, and the Directive on 
Institutions for Occupational Retirement 
Provision (IORP II) are intended to set new 
operating parameters for banks, insurance 
companies, and pension funds. The declared 
objective of these regulations is to introduce 
greater stability in financial markets, pre-
vent contagion between market players, and 
avoid the transfer of a financial crisis to 
the real economy. Nevertheless, in institu-
tional business, asset management service 
providers will also feel the full force of this 
tighter regulation imposed on clients.  
The new regulations will lead to changes 
throughout the funds business, including 
product development, marketing, trading 

platforms, and reporting. They will require 
capital investment in infrastructure and 
 reporting systems.

The starting point was the EMIR regulation 
which came into effect on August 16, 2012. 
This regulation aims to increase transpar-
ency in OTC derivatives trading, the largest 
and fastest-growing area of financial mar-
ket activity. This is to be achieved with cen-
tral counterparty platforms and a newly 
created transaction register. Union Invest-
ment initiated the development of appro-
priate interfaces and the conversion of 
processes back in 2011. The focus was on 
the needs of investors. They are faced with 
higher capital and liquidity requirements if 
a derivative is traded outside an official 

counterparty platform or there are gaps in 
the flow of information. The new system 
was running on time for the start of EMIR. 
Leif Schönstedt, Head of Sales Support, 
Risk Management and Regulatory Law at 
Union Investment, specifies Union Invest-
ment’s two critical advantages: “As a full-
service provider, we can completely satisfy 
any of our clients’ reporting requirements 
arising from EMIR and at the same time 
maintain flexibility in the use of OTC deriv-
atives in our funds.”

However, EMIR was just one of the issues 
addressed by his department over the past 
year at the interface between sales, product 
development, IT, and regulation. He com-
ments: “In 2012, the preparations for the 

The issue of regulation dominated the senior management meeting held in November 2012:  
The small senior management group discussed the increasing intervention by legislators in the 
 business models of all market players. The group’s conclusion for Union Investment was that  
even greater service support should be provided for institutional investors.
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The seven core services 
provided by a service 
asset management 
company at a glance

1. Regulatory reports

2. Further regulatory development

3. Risk overlay

4. Risk analysis

5. Derivatives

6. OTC settlement

7. Customized reports

new regulations reached the operational 
level at institutional investors. They now want 
to know exactly how returns, liquidity, and 
capital adequacy are going to change under 
the new conditions.” In view of these new 
requirements, the existing design of an 
 asset management company is proving to 
have its limitations. What is required is 
comprehensive expertise in banking and 
insurance company regulation as an inte-
gral component of asset management.

The solution for institutional investors: 
a service asset management company

Against this backdrop, Union Investment has 
over the past year refined the way it struc-
tures an asset management company and 
has created the service asset management 
company. These companies involve segment-
ed special funds with a comprehensive range 

of regulatory services. The opinion of the 
managers gathered in Berlin was that, in the 
future, services provided for clients would 
be considered just as important as perfor-
mance. Schönstedt explains: “It is no longer 
sufficient simply to manage funds on a for-
mal basis and report figures.” The service 
asset management company therefore fea-
tures seven core services.

Regulatory reporting plays a key role in 
these services. Union Investment will supply 
all the information that banks, insurance 
companies, and pension funds will need in 
the future for their regulatory reporting 
 requirements. These requirements differ in 
many ways from those in existing regula-
tions. For example, in the future, institutional 
investors will not only have to report the 
equities, bonds and even funds in their port-
folio, but also each individual security in-
cluded within a fund. In the case of funds of 
funds, this could rapidly amount to hun-
dreds or even thousands of individual expo-
sures. In such a scenario, institutional 
 investors will only retain a fund provider’s 
products in their portfolio if the fund pro-
vider concerned is able to guarantee total 
transparency. This is because institutional 
investors will have to comply with regulatory 
requirements such as avoiding concentra-
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tion risk and will therefore need information 
with a very high level of detail.

Union Investment is already gaining experi-
ence with regulatory reporting of this nature. 
The latest version of the German Minimum 
Requirements for Risk Management for 
Banks (MaRisk) – another set of regulations 
on the agenda for the senior management 
meeting – specifies that banks be aware 
of the underlying exposures in funds within 
their own portfolios and that they ade-
quately report the associated risks. As reg-
ulatory requirements are tightened, there 
is a risk of an additional demand on avail-
able capital, which would then affect in-
vestment strategy and have a critical impact 
on the performance of a fund. In the future 
therefore, there will always be a require-
ment to simultaneously optimize returns, use 
of capital, and risk structure. Schönstedt 
refers to this as the ‘magic triangle’ and adds, 
“One of the key challenges is to offer each 
client the most suitable strategy within this 
triangle.”

Keeping an eye on risk, return, and 
regulation at all times

The range of services provided by a service 
asset management company therefore 
 extends far beyond a comprehensive report-
ing system. For example, as a core service, 
Union Investment offers a complete risk 
analysis and uses its own models to satisfy 
regulatory and client-specific requirements. 
The implications of EMIR have also been 
factored into the design of a service asset 
management company so that the company 
can offer an optimum solution platform – 
regardless of whether the client is a bank, 
insurance company, or pension fund. The 
service asset management company brings 
together Union Investment’s expertise and 
is likely to be a critical factor in ensuring 
that Union Investment defends, if not con-
solidates, its top ranking for institutional 

investor satisfaction. Schönstedt is delighted 
that “thanks to our detailed preliminary 
work, we are already perceived by clients as 
partners with whom even complex regu-
latory issues can be discussed on an equal 
footing.” 

When developing the new platform, his 
team worked in close cooperation with the 
Legal & Public Affairs unit headed by  
Dr. Andreas Zubrod. The regulation experts 
are also able to enhance day-to-day activi-
ties because they are aware from their 
 various discussions of the latest twists and 
turns in legislative plans and the position 
of each decision-maker. The Union Investment 
experts in Schönstedt’s team also make their 
cumulative expertise available to all inter-
ested parties in the cooperative financial 
network. They regularly explain the latest 
developments to regional associations, fund 
managers, and client relationship manag-
ers, and are thereby embedding the concept 
of the service asset management company 
in the organization.

Close cooperation becoming  
a success factor

The view of the managers gathered in Berlin 
was that this is precisely the right approach. 
The closer the managers in institutional 
business cooperate, the better placed they 
will be to meet client needs. Clients expect 

not only the provision of the right asset 
classes at the right time with the most suit-
able risk/return structure, they also expect 
the right information needed to satisfy the 
regulatory requirements. Schönstedt is 
convinced that “whoever succeeds in man-
aging the balancing act between returns 
and regulation will be able to excel in insti-
tutional business in the future – and Union 
Investment will excel.” According to his 
observations, only a handful of fund provid-
ers are currently in a position to meet the 
new requirements.

Nevertheless, all those involved still face a 
great deal of work, as Schönstedt is well 
aware. “The requirements of institutional 
clients will change a little with every new 
law and every new regulation. Our task is 
to anticipate these changes and have suit-
able solutions ready to hand at an early 
stage.” The smaller senior management 
group will therefore continue to meet and 
discuss imminent legislative changes and 
the implications for Union Investment. And 
where better to hold such discussions than 
in the heart of the government district of 
Berlin at the Pariser Platz offices of DZ Bank? 
The meeting held there on November 20, 
2012 is likely to be just the beginning of a 
series of meetings at which the senior 
management team addresses the growing 
power of the new players in the financial 
markets: legislators. 

The detailed discussions about new regulatory requirements held at DZ Bank’s Pariser Platz offices  
in Berlin highlighted that interfaces within Union Investment would also have to be adjusted or newly 
created so that institutional clients could be offered the most suitable service solutions.
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Björn Jesch was appointed as Head of Portfolio 
Management in September 2012. In this interview, 
he explains how the segment realigned its strategic 
direction as part of Union Investment 2.0 and what 
role the new Investment-Committee will play. 

Union Investment reviewed all of its 
processes in 2012. What does this 
mean for portfolio management?
Our task is to deliver a performance that 
satisfies investors in terms of returns and 
risk. That has not changed. However, this 
task has become more challenging owing 
to the difficult market conditions. That 
is why we have been closely examining 
the following questions in recent months. 
How can we add value for our investors 
over the long term? What competencies 

“It is crucial that  
we add value”

does this require? Where do our biggest 
strengths lie and can we prove this? Pre
viously we covered almost the entire range 
of fund products, but we will strengthen 
our focus on our core competencies in the 
future.

What are those competencies?
Global, European, and German equities. 
As far as bonds are concerned, we are 
focusing on Europe and on corporate 
bonds. Capital preservation and con

vertibles are also on the list. Multiasset 
strategies are another competence – one 
that is particularly important. Such strate
gies are becoming increasingly signifi
cant in asset management. Demand for 
products focused only on individual asset 
classes will continue to decline in the 
future because more and more investors 
want to invest their money in such a way 
that they do not have to keep asking 
themselves whether their funds fit with 
the current market environment.

Are investors more discerning 
 nowadays?
Yes, and that is also very important. 
Investors have to think about how they 
want to protect their assets over the long 
term. Interest rates on safe investments 
are simply too low to do this, which 
means investors have to move out of 
their comfort zone if they want to add 
genuine value. But they do not want to 
make mistakes and assume too much 
risk. That is why many investors are look
ing for products that can both add value 
and protect against risk. 

But this wish for safety is nothing 
new.
In fact it is wellestablished, especially 
among German investors. Demand has 
increased as a result of the crises of 
recent years: Even the financial markets 
have become more unpredictable and 
susceptible to volatility. Short cycles, 
a lack of stable trends, and the way in 
which the different asset classes interact 
with one another has changed complete
ly. The effect for us in portfolio manage
ment is that we have to get to grips with 
entirely different external parameters. 
That is why it was so important that we 
gear our entire positioning, our teams, 
and our processes to these new require
ments.
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 We will strengthen our 
focus on our core compe-
tencies in the future. 
Björn Jesch 
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Should this new strategy have been 
adopted earlier?
It takes time to draw the right conclu
sions from such fundamental changes. 
After all, the decisions that we have 
now made are important and will shape 
the future of Union Investment. It was 
therefore essential to carry out thorough 
analyses and critically discuss our assess
ment with consultants who are skilled at 
judging what is happening in the market 
and among competitors. We achieved all 
of this over the last few months, which is 
why we are confident that we are head
ing in the right direction with our new 
strategy. 

What exactly has changed in 
portfolio management?
We have modified our entire structure by 
focusing on our core competencies. We 
have merged teams, for example the fund 
managers for emerging markets have 
been integrated into the global equity 
team. 
In addition, we have created a clearer 
structure. As far as bonds are concerned, 
there is now one unit that looks after 
all government bonds and one team 
assigned to corporate bonds. We have 
bundled our competencies, for example 
the specialists for risk management and 
alpha strategies will all be part of the 
same department in the future.

Does that mean the new structure  
is up and running?
Yes, we have made good progress. 
Around 80 percent of the measures 
needed for the new structure have been 
implemented. But there is still a lot to 
do. The changes do not only affect the 
organizational structure: We also have 
to put this new selfimage into practice 
in portfolio management.

You only joined Union Investment  
in September 2012. 
What was your role in the change 
process?
I was involved from a very early stage be
cause I discussed the future development 
of portfolio management in depth with 
Jens Wilhelm, the relevant member of 
the Board of Directors, in my first meet
ings with him. We shared our opinions, 
developed ideas, and set specific targets 
that we are now implementing together. 
So I can say today that I helped to shape 
this change.

What fresh impetus did you provide?
Two matters are very important to 
me. First, how do we create a culture 
that fosters courage to make changes, 
personal responsibility, and – to a certain 
extent – willingness to take risks? 
Managers play a key role here because 
it is only through them that employees 
can be actively involved in this process 
of change. Second, we are currently 
modifying the opinionforming process in 
portfolio management, for which we have 
set up an InvestmentCommittee in the 
last few months. I have found this to be a 
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particular portfolios in the most effec
tive manner. The approach for a global 
equity fund will be completely different 
from that for a corporate fund. This is 
precisely where the specific knowledge 
of the experts is required. To ensure op
timal  execution, we need a culture that 
acknowledges risk appetite. We want to 
place even more trust in the portfolio 
managers than we have done until now. 
 
How do you measure the success of 
the Investment-Committee?
We measure success on the basis of 
performance. And we measure the 
achievements of the committee mem
bers by comparing the outcomes of their 
decisions with those from a static basic 
allocation. This is a highly transparent 
process. Ultimately, it is crucial that we 
add value. Another criterion for success  
is how well the committee is received. 
This applies within portfolio manage
ment, but the way in which we make our 
decisions transparent to others is also 
important.

How do you want to achieve this?
By communicating our market opinion 
clearly. We will communicate our opinions 
and investment decisions via various 
channels. I believe this is an important 
issue, which is why we have also intro
duced a lot of new things here in recent 
weeks. 

How satisfied are you with what  
you have achieved?
We’re right on track, the Investment
Committee has been set up, and there is 
strong demand for our information. We 
can now prove from our daytoday work 
that this approach is enabling us to add 
value reliably. Ultimately, this is what our 
investors expect from us. 

Meeting of the InvestmentCommittee in February 2013. The chief investment officers 
from all portfolio management divisions define the overarching investment strategy.

very successful approach in recent years, 
which is why I wanted to establish one at 
Union Investment as well. 

What exactly does this Investment-
Committee do?
It is a monthly meeting of the chief 
investment officers from all divisions – 
equities, bonds, asset allocation, quanti
tative strategies, and capital preservation 
– at which they discuss current market 
trends. We try to use our experiences to 
outline the best possible solution. The 
first step is an analysis meeting, which 
provides us with an overview of the 
overall economic situation. Topics are 
then presented that we think will have 
a particular bearing on the markets in 
the future. Suggestions are made by 
the different expert teams. We discuss 
all of the topics as a group, and people 
are explicitly encouraged to put forward 
controversial opinions.

How do you reach specific decisions?
After the meeting, each CIO casts his or 
her vote in accordance with a defined 
procedure. We meet again for a second 

session the next day. The results are 
discussed until we reach a unanimous 
conclusion. This is summarized in a 
portfolio that precisely mirrors our market 
assessment for all asset classes. 

How is this then implemented in  
the individual funds?
The opinion that we discussed is first con
densed into specific market statements. 
This information is sent to all portfolio 
managers, along with the reasons why 
we are assuming more or less risk with 
our allocation and why individual asset 
classes are overweighted or underweight
ed. It is then the task of the individual 
managers to align their portfolios with 
this market opinion – within the scope of 
their investment guidelines and degree of 
latitude.

To what extent do portfolio 
managers still have a degree of 
latitude in these circumstances?
I want them to make far greater use 
of it than in the past. After all, it is the 
responsibility of the individual managers 
to implement the opinions in their own 
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The real estate segment has repositioned itself so 
that it can make even better use of potential for 
growth. Dr. Reinhard Kutscher and Dr. Christoph 
Schumacher explain how processes and structures 
have changed in the segment.

Fund management 
takes center stage

Dr. Reinhard Kutscher returns to 
Hamburg late on Friday afternoon. 
He is travelling a lot at the moment, 

meeting with various committees in order 
to plead for regulation of open-ended 
real estate funds that is in the interests 
of investors. Today, he was in Berlin for 
a meeting of business leaders at the 
German Property Federation (ZIA), which 
brings together representatives from all 
different areas of the real estate sector 
on a regular basis. “This is an important 
committee for us – not least because the 
vast economic significance of the real 
estate sector is brought to bear here,” 
says Dr. Kutscher, Chief Executive Officer 
of Union Investment Real Estate GmbH. 

Investments in real estate are currently 
very important elements of the strategies 
of both retail and institutional investors. 
Dr. Christoph Schumacher is the member 
of the Board of Managing Directors of 
sister company Union Investment Institu-

tional Property GmbH with responsibility 
for institutional real estate investments. 
Here, he and Dr. Kutscher discuss the 
potential for future growth in this asset 
class. “In an environment characterized 
by low interest rates, real estate satisfies 
the requirements of many investors: a 
tangible asset with a high level of stabil-
ity that protects against inflation risk and 
ensures a well diversified portfolio,” states 
Dr. Kutscher. Consequently, demand 
should continue to rise going forward. 

Positioning in new lines of business

An opinion shared by Dr. Schumacher: 
“Institutional investors, in particular, are 
still under-represented in real estate. But 
we’re seeing that many institutional 
investors – from banks and insurers to 
family offices – are increasing their real 
estate exposure.” As a result, demand for 
suitable investment concepts has di-
verged sharply. “Sectoral trends, in par-

ticular, are playing a major role. Shopping 
funds and hotel funds are very popular, 
as are concepts for infrastructure invest-
ments,” explains Dr. Schumacher. Moreo-
ver, stricter regulation – in the form of 
Basel III and Solvency II – has brought 
about a lasting change in institutional 
investors’ needs. “Demand for services 
provided by fund management companies 
reflects a new trend – and presents a 
huge opportunity for us to step up our 
activities in this line of business,” says 
Dr. Schumacher. 

Union Investment’s long-standing exper-
tise in the real estate business will be 
particularly advantageous here. “We are 
synonymous with excellent management 
quality as well as a high level of stability 
and continuity,” believes Dr. Kutscher. This 
is reiterated by international business 
partners. Union Investment is a leading 
provider for all large-scale transactions 
thanks to its strong presence in the 
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market. “And because we are reliable and 
highly solvent,” emphasizes Dr. Kutscher. 
Independent rating agencies also under-
line the high quality of the products. 
Scope, for example, recently crowned 
Union Investment as the best asset man-
ager for real estate. 

Starting from a strong position 

This shows that the foundations have 
been laid on which to unlock the poten-
tial for growth in the real estate business. 
And Union Investment was successful 
here in 2012. The real estate segment 
finished the year with record earnings of 
EUR 21.2 million and generated new 
business worth more than EUR 2 billion. 
However, Dr. Kutscher does not believe 
this is a reason for the company to rest 
on its laurels: “We know that there are 
more opportunities out there than we can 
exploit right now. We therefore have to 
evolve – in terms of our processes and 
structures as well as the strategic focus 
of our business model.” 

The real estate segment has worked hard 
in this respect over the past months. As 
part of the company-wide Union Invest-
ment 2.0 project, it critically examined 
its entire production process with the aim 
of making workflows faster, leaner, and 
more efficient. This required a fundamen-
tal strategic realignment. “Our back-
ground is in real estate and we used to 
focus too heavily on individual proper-
ties,” explains Dr. Kutscher. “Now, fund 
management takes center stage.” It is 
each team’s job to achieve the best 

possible results for its products – while 
considering the portfolio as whole, i.e. 
taking account of liquidity management, 
currency hedging, tax aspects, and sales-
related matters. 

Clear focus required

For this to succeed, the responsibilities 
had to be defined more clearly. “We split 
investment management and asset man-
agement. In other words, we have sepa-
rated the purchase and sale of property 
from portfolio management,” explains 
Dr. Kutscher. This improved the manage-
ment process, accelerated decision-mak-
ing, and enabled more systematic exploi-
tation of market opportunities. “That is 
exactly the kind of focus that we need,” 
says Dr. Kutscher, pointing to the results 
already achieved: The number of transac-
tions has risen from an average of 35 
purchases and sales per year to 47 – 
and the aim is to increase this number 
to 60 per year by 2016.

But it is not only greater agility that is 
proving advantageous. The sharper focus 
also enables the different specialists to 
work with each other far more effectively. 
Dr. Kutscher says: “Purchasing a property 
is a complex task and requires special 
expertise. You have to get through the 
necessary checking processes very quickly 
and in a well coordinated manner be-
cause the time frames are limited and the 
market won’t wait.” It is crucial to seize 
opportunities regularly, especially when it 
comes to coveted core real estate, be-
cause good properties inject quality into 

 We are synonymous with excellent 
management quality as well as a high 
level of stability and continuity. 
Dr. Reinhard Kutscher

the portfolios and are a key performance 
driver. 
Once a property is in the portfolio, it is 
the turn of very different specialists. 
“Our  asset management concentrates 
solely on managing the portfolio and 
finding tenants in order to secure regular 
income,” adds Dr. Kutscher. But it is 
important that the different processes 
mesh seamlessly with one another and 
that the interfaces work effectively. This 
includes integrating supporting units, 
such as legal, tax, long-term equity in-
vestment, and data management depart-
ments.

New process delivers

The redefined production chain in real 
estate management has attracted posi-
tive feedback, above all from institutional 
investors. “We keep in close contact with 
our investors,” says Dr. Schumacher, who 
has been in charge of institutional real 
estate business since March 2011. “Of 
course we have to offer high quality and 
solid returns. We can deliver a compelling 
performance if we, above all, satisfy the 
financial control, compliance, legal, and 
tax requirements. Customers want us to 
talk to them as equals.” The more fo-
cused positioning with clear responsibili-
ties is actually an advantage. Because 
tasks have been bundled effectively, 
Union Investment is better able to meet 
individual customer requirements. “The 
process is easier to manage and we can 
ensure a consistent level of quality,” 
believes Dr. Schumacher. The foundations 
are therefore in place to gain further 

Dr. Reinhard Kutscher (left) and Dr. Christoph Schumacher represent the new course 
being steered in the real estate segment. Their motto is “faster, leaner, more efficient” 

because this is the way to harness potential for growth even more effectively.
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ground in the fast-growing institutional 
client business. “Over the past two years, 
we’ve received binding capital commit-
ments from investors to the tune of EUR 
2.6 billion that we now need to invest 
wisely,” explains Dr. Schumacher. Above 
all, new trends such as themed funds and 
infrastructure funds are generating sig-
nificant interest. “We have set up our 
structures and processes to cater specifi-
cally to this demand,” he concludes.

The new, streamlined structure in the real 
estate business is equally beneficial to 
private investors. “We’re now fit for the 
future and can make optimum use of 
potential in the real estate market. This 
enables us live up to our quality promise: 
investor satisfaction and stable perfor-
mance,” explains Dr. Kutscher.

There is just one more issue that needs to 
be resolved in investors’ interests: the 
planned further regulation of open-ended 
real estate funds. “The signals currently 
coming out of Berlin are positive,” says 
Dr. Kutscher. He is confident that open-
ended real estate funds will be retained 
as a mass product for all investors. “The 
early signs are that the well-founded 
arguments for protecting these funds are 
being taken into account in the political 
decision-making process,” he says, look-
ing ahead. In his opinion, open-ended 
real estate funds in their current form are 
a secure and high-yield product for all 
investors – and should be part of any 
well structured investment strategy. 
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We add value
Providing orientation.
Reaching our own conclusions.
Retaining the tried-and-tested.
Identifying areas for profitable growth.

Gunther Kramert is the fund manager of the 

flagship UniGlobal fund at Union Investment. 

The success of UniGlobal is underpinned by the 

knowledge and experience of the global equity 

team. Its 20 specialists are familiar with their 

sectors and have been a well integrated team for 

many years. This is reflected in the performance 

of the flagship fund.
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Dieter Lehmann is in demand. As a 
member of the Executive Manage-
ment and Chief Investment Officer 

of the Volkswagen Foundation, he receives 
countless invitations to conferences but he 
accepts only a few of them. Nonetheless, 
Hannover-based Lehmann was on the road 
bright and early on November 14, 2012, 
on his way to the Rheingoldhalle in Mainz. 
Union Investment had invited him there 
to participate in a panel discussion on 
sustainability and risk management.

The discussion was part of Union Investment’s 
annual Risk Management Conference. First 
held in 2006, the event is now a well- 
established forum for institutional investors.
Lehmann describes the conference as a 
highlight – a term he does not use often. 
The conference covers a broad range of 
topics and boasts high-caliber speakers. In 
2012, they included renowned US econo-

mist Nouriel Roubini and Jörg Asmussen, 
who, as a member of the Executive Board at 
the ECB, helped draw up the plan to rescue 
the euro. “Only events with such distin-
guished speakers attract delegates with 
whom you can enter into dialog at a high 
level,” believes Lehmann.

Security takes priority

The event in Mainz was attended by 300 
institutional investors with assets under 
management totaling EUR 1.5 trillion. They 
were looking for answers to a question 
that is preoccupying all asset managers at 
the moment: How can they achieve satis-
factory returns, with a calculable risk, given 
the low interest rates? Risk is the natural 
enemy of institutional investors. This was 
underlined by the findings of the 2012 
risk management study, which questioned 
106 institutional investors from different 

sectors about their attitude to risk. Among 
the study’s participants, 83 percent said 
that security was a priority when making 
investment decisions. Avoiding loss was 
essential to 92 percent of participants – 
the highest proportion since 2006. Risk 
management expertise has also become 
a more important factor when choosing 
an asset manager. But which models have 
proved successful in practice? Professor 
Daniel Rösch and Professor Philipp Sibbertsen 
from the University of Hannover presented 
a range of approaches to conference 
delegates. “Unlike other events, the Risk 
Management Conference is not driven by 
sales. It gets to the heart of the matter,” 
emphasizes Lehmann. For example, the 
discussion covered not only the benefits 
but also the limitations of the models. 
“One size fits all doesn’t work,” the two 
academics explained. A risk model has to 
be right for both the forecasting period and  

Risk-free returns are a thing of the past. So how will institutional 
investors be able to achieve the necessary returns in the future? 
Union Investment’s Risk Management Conference aimed to provide 
guidance. Dieter Lehmann, who is in charge of investments at  
one of Germany’s biggest charitable foundations and attended the 
conference, provides an insight into what went on.

Security
with added value
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the asset class. The data basis for alterna-
tive investments is poor – a lot more data 
needs to be collated. Unforeseeable events 
known as black swans cannot be computed 
mathematically because calculations are 
only possible for events for which historical 
data is available. “Risk control based on 
risk models is useful, but investors also 
need to use common sense and, above all, 
their experience to verify how meaningful 
the models are and to understand the 
results fully.” Acquiring knowledge about 
the subject gives investors a head start: 
“You develop an eye not only for risk but 
also for investment opportunities,” said 
Professor Rösch. 

This will continue to be necessary in 2013. 
“The magical 4 percent returns that we 
need are as extinct as the dinosaurs,” said 
Alexander Schindler, who is responsible for 
institutional business at Union Investment 

and demonstrated passion and expertise 
as he hosted the event. Lehmann listened 
with interest to Jens Wilhelm’s talk on 
investment strategies for generating higher 
returns. Wilhelm, the member of the Board 
of Managing Directors at Union Investment 
in charge of investment strategies, called 
for a paradigm shift toward risk paper. “As-
set managers should take risks where they 
will pay off – equity markets, in particular, 
offer adequate risk premiums,” explained 
Wilhelm. So far, most institutional investors 
have been heading in another direction –  
as revealed by the risk management study. 
Equity exposures have been reduced in 
favor of the money market. Lehmann fol-
lowed the discussion attentively. He has 
had risk paper in his portfolio for a long 
time: 28 percent of the foundation’s capital 
of EUR 2.3 billion is invested in equities – 
across a diverse range of markets, sectors, 
and currencies. “As a foundation, we are a 

Around 300 institutional investors attended Union Investment’s Risk Management Conference in Mainz. 
One of them was Dieter Lehmann, who is responsible for investing the Volkswagen Foundation’s capital 
of EUR 2.3 billion.

rather unusual type of institutional investor 
because we are not subject to the strict  
regulatory requirements laid down by 
BaFin,” explains Lehmann, who takes a 
calm and measured, long-term approach 
to the markets. “It’s not nice to finish a 
year with losses. But, for us, the long-term 
results are more important.”

Neither a disadvantage nor a dogma

His long-term approach fitted in well with 
the sustainability theme. After a break 
for lunch, Lehmann was wired up before 
taking the stage with representatives from 
BMW, a Finnish pension fund, and Union 
Investment to talk about sustainability 
and risk management. The discussion was 
chaired by Susanne Bergius, sustainability 
columnist from Handelsblatt. Lehmann has 
recently restructured his holding of Euro-
pean equities according to sustainability  
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criteria. A member of the audience asked 
what percentage decrease in returns he 
would accept in order to have a green 
portfolio. “Zero percent!” came his prompt 
reply. “Our foremost obligation is to the 
foundation, and returns are needed so that 
it can fulfill its purpose.”

Sustainability does not have to mean lower 
returns, but it is not a dogma either. “It is 
not a suitable criterion for every invest-
ment decision,” was Lehmann’s persuasive 
argument. But if it is a good fit and the 
risk/return profile is right, then so much the 
better. “This type of exposure boosts the 
foundation’s image and gives me a good 
feeling as an investor because I can set an 
example.”  
Nevertheless, he argued that his hands 
should not be tied. “As an asset manager, 
I want to be in control of my investment 
decisions at all times,” referring to the 
lack of a definition for what is a sustain-
ability criterion. He said that each investor 
needed to develop his or her own criteria. 
This earned him a round of applause – his 
pragmatic attitude was well received by 
the audience.

Skepticism reigned in the auditorium, as 
the questions from conference delegates 
showed. However, the strong attend-
ance proved that the topic struck a chord 
with investors. “Companies that operate 
sustainably are more forward-looking and 
are therefore exposed to lower risks,” said 
Ingo Speich, fund manager and head of the 
sustainability team at Union Investment. 
Forward-looking companies are not taken 
completely by surprise by events such as 
Fukushima or the introduction of stricter 
environmental regulations, he explained. 
Reputational risk does not arise – unlike in 
the case of Apple, whose image is suffering 
owing to poor working conditions at its 
suppliers. The discussion participants all 
agreed that sustainability will become an 
increasingly important issue.

Lehmann faced the press after the panel discussion. He used the coffee breaks to talk to people such 
as the member of Union Investment’s Board of Managing Directors Alexander Schindler, his relation-
ship manager Sebastian Grund, and the sustainability experts Ingo Speich from Union Investment and 
Susanne Bergius from Handelsblatt.
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Volkswagen Foundation
The Volkswagen Foundation is one 

of the largest foundations in Europe, 

with capital of EUR 2.3 billion. It  

supports research projects in promising 

fields, whether carrying out basic 

research, developing technology, or 

sharing research findings. The founda-

tion particularly focuses on encouraging 

the next generation of researchers 

and on promoting interdisciplinary, 

international cooperation between 

researchers.

The Volkswagen Foundation is the 

largest private research sponsor in 

Germany. Since 1962, it has provided 

around EUR 4 billion in funding for 

more than 30,000 projects. Despite 

its name, the foundation is not part 

of Volkswagen AG. After the Second 

World War, the Federal Republic of 

Germany and the Federal State of 

Lower Saxony converted the car man-

ufacturer – then known as Volkswagen 

GmbH – from a private limited 

company into a stock corporation. The 

proceeds from this transaction formed 

the foundation’s capital.

Risk Management  
Conference
Attracting 300 institutional investors 

with assets under management totaling 

EUR 1.5 trillion, Union Investment’s Risk 

Management Conference has become 

a well-established forum for the sector 

in Germany. Asset managers are faced 

with a dilemma: Although risk budgets 

have dwindled, investors are being 

forced to invest in risk assets in order to 

achieve the necessary returns despite 

the low level of interest rates. 

Individually tailored risk and asset 

management models are one of 

Union Investment’s strengths. The fund 

management company combines active 

risk management and risk control with 

active management of opportunities. Its 

risk management expertise has earned 

Union Investment the highest degree of 

trust from investors. After all, efficient 

risk management provides investors 

with flexibility in their core business.

The wish for a change of perspective

After the discussion, Lehmann went in 
front of the camera, where he answered 
questions from journalists professionally 
(his statement can be viewed on Union 
Investment’s risk management TV). He 
used the coffee break to talk to people 
such as Alexander Schindler, a member of 
Union Investment’s Board of Managing 
Directors, whom he already knew from 
the Institutional Advisory Board, which 
is headed by Schindler, and Sebastian 
Grund, his relationship manager at Union 
Investment. He also continued the debate 
with sustainability experts Ingo Speich and 
Susanne Bergius once the panel discussion 
had finished. “Conversations between 
presentations can also be very fruitful  
because you meet experts with very differ-
ent areas of focus.”

The end of the event was drawing near, 
but there was one highlight still to come. 
The room fell silent as renowned US 
economist Nouriel Roubini took to the 
stage. “It’s not every day that you can see 
a top economist in the flesh,” said Leh-
mann, who generally does not think much 
of stardom. No expert, including Roubini,  

can provide the definitive solution, he added. 
“But any good presentation inspires 
you to look at problems from different 
perspectives.” With his pragmatic attitude, 
Lehmann was more interested in the 
speech by Jörg Asmussen on resolving the 
euro crisis. “He’s not a theorizer. Rather, 
his role at the ECB gives him the power to 
shape things.” In the final debate between 
the economists, it became clear that the  
stability of monetary value remains a 
priority for those who set Europe’s interest 
rates, even in times of crisis.

Following a few closing words from Alex-
ander Schindler, it was time for dinner at 
the Hyatt Hotel in Mainz. Lehmann shared 
a table with the conference’s speakers 
and also had the opportunity to chat at 
length with extreme mountaineer Andy 
Holzer, who was the after-dinner speaker. 
Blind since birth, Holzer has climbed six 
of the ‘Seven Summits’, the highest peaks 
on each of the seven continents. “It was 
incredibly inspirational to see how Holzer 
overcomes problems,” said an impressed 
Lehmann, explaining that, during a crisis, 
financial managers tend to simply hope for 
better times. “Holzer is an example of how 
you can also deal with risks creatively.” 
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A real classic 
When UniGlobal was launched on January 2, 1960 by Union Investment, 
which was just three years old at the time, it was still called ‘Atlantik Fonds’. 
This name had been chosen because it was Union Investment’s first fund to 
also invest overseas. Although this is nothing unusual today, it was a signifi-
cant innovation in the era of Germany’s economic miracle: International equity 
investments caused just as much of a sensation as rock ‘n’ roll, petticoats, and 
jeans. Since then, fund managers have worked hard to harness the strengths 
of the global economy for UniGlobal. The fund’s broad focus across regions 
and sectors ensures a good balance between risk and returns. UniGlobal 
is therefore one of Union Investment’s oldest funds and one of the most 
 important so far, with a fund value in excess of EUR 7.7 billion.

In tune with the times
UniGlobal never shows its age. It always invests where trends are formed: 
in the 200-plus most promising, most innovative, and most high-yielding 
companies in the world. These companies are identified by fund managers in 
an extensive process of analysis. “The companies we select must operate with 
a future-proof business model in a sector with good prospects,” explains fund 
manager Gunther Kramert. “They must also have strong leadership and their 
business processes must satisfy integrity standards.” The team of fund manag-
ers are also looking for companies with healthy balance sheets, including a 
low level of debt and manageable risks, such as those attaching to defined 
benefit obligations. If the stock is also available at an attractive price, then 
the fund managers make their move.

A well defined investment process makes investment decisions in portfolio management transparent and gives customers security. 

Execution

Risk control/performance analysis

Research

Portfolio construction Risk management

Portfolio management

The flagship

A team of experienced fund managers selects only highly promising companies for UniGlobal 
from across a wide variety of countries and sectors. This is what has made the fund so 
successful for more than 50 years. 
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Long-term quality test 
UniGlobal’s international mix of equities from blue chip companies and par-
ticularly attractive small and medium-sized enterprises has proved successful 
over both the short term and the long term. Whether in the current year, or 
over one, three, five, or ten years, UniGlobal has outperformed its benchmark: 
the MSCI World Index. That is why the fund not only emerged as a leader in 
the Lipper rating in 2012 but was also awarded five stars by the respected 
fund testers at Morningstar and Feri. 

A strong team 
The success of UniGlobal is due to the 
fund managers on the global equity team. 
Its 20 specialists are familiar with their 
sectors and have been a well integrated 
unit for many years. The team is headed 
up by Gunther Kramert, who took over 
the reins in October 2012. The 43-year-
old was already familiar with the fund, 
which is valued at more than EUR 7 billion, 
having contributed to the success of 
UniGlobal in recent years as co-manager. 
In this business, he believes it is important 
to be “curious about megatrends and 
open to new developments.” He has dem-
onstrated this since joining the portfolio 
management team at Union Investment 
in September 2007. The CEFA-certified 
 investment analyst has a total of 20 years’ 
experience in the capital markets. 

Responsibility as a matter of principle
“Broadly diversified, disciplined, and aimed at superior returns 
over the long term – this is our approach to investing the money 
with which our customers have entrusted us,” says fund manager 
Gunther Kramert, explaining the philosophy behind UniGlobal. 
Assessing opportunities and reducing risk does not only involve 
him working with his team to select companies according to strict 
criteria. The fund managers also use their influence to lobby for 
 better corporate governance when they attend investor meetings 
and annual general meetings. “We regularly seek out contact with 
CEOs and CFOs – and they with us,” reports Kramert. “By speaking 
to them in person, we obtain important first-hand information that 
we then always critically examine.”

An essential for investors in funds
Those investing in equities cannot ignore UniGlobal. It is always the 
top choice, whether as part of a savings plan, personal investment, 
or provision for old age. This opinion is also shared by investors. 
UniGlobal features in more than 1.7 million deposit accounts of 
Union Investment customers. One of the advantages of the fund is 
that “Good companies also manage to be profitable in more difficult 
economic conditions,” explains fund manager Gunther Kramert. The 
global focus of UniGlobal makes it an all-rounder for investors in 
equity funds: Because much of Europe is under pressure to consoli-
date at the moment, fund managers are tending to turn to equities 
from emerging markets. Purchasing power is on the rise there, and 
demographic change holds out the promise of sustained growth. 
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What lessons can investors learn 
from the downgrades in the euro 
zone in 2010/2011 and the counter-
vailing real changes in countries’ 
creditworthiness?

Dr. Vargas: First, that investing in the 
bonds of industrialized nations can no 
longer be seen as intrinsically risk-free. 
Second, Ireland is a case in point that the 
established country rating systems have 
failed. That is also one of the reasons why 
Union Investment has developed its own 
country rating system.

What added value do the Union 
Investment country ratings offer 
compared with established credit 
ratings?

Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch 
award triple A, B, and C ratings – but it is 
not always clear how these came about. 
It was important to us that we assess 
countries’ creditworthiness transparently 
so that we – and our investors – can 
use well-founded country ratings when 
 making investment decisions. 

A phoenix rising from the ashes of bankruptcy 

Besides providing transparency, we 
also ensure comparability between the 
individual country ratings. The three major 
rating agencies raise and lower their 
ratings on the basis of country-specific 
considerations, such as oil reserves in Arab 
countries, the economic significance of the 
United States, and membership of the euro 
zone. By contrast, we rate countries on the 
basis of a uniform set of key criteria. 

Last but not least, the rating agencies do 
not apply all of the criteria that we believe 
are necessary for a risk assessment.

What criteria do you think need to 
be included in a meaningful credit 
rating?

Our country rating is based on three 
pillars, the first one being fundamental 
research. We look at whether a country 
is financially able to meet its liabilities, 
how internationally competitive it is, and 
whether the ’business model’ is sustain-
able in the long term. This is where the po-
tential of our system comes to the fore. We 
do not lump all the peripheral countries 
together: Ireland’s competitiveness is very 

Amid all the discussions about enlarging the euro bailout fund, Ireland 
caused a sensation in the bond market in the summer of 2012. Having 
been downgraded to junk status in 2010, the Emerald Isle placed long-
term bonds on the market and is now one of the top performing coun-
tries. Economist Dr. Mauricio Vargas discusses the turbulent bond 
markets and the response from Union Investment.
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different to that of Greece, which is why 
we give Ireland a substantially better rat-
ing. This is also reflected in our assessment 
of Ireland’s willingness to pay, which forms 
the second pillar of our country rating. The 
ability of politicians and society to deal 
with a crisis situation plays a role here. 
We analyze which structural adjustments 
would be possible and how the country 
would go about making them. Information 
about this is provided by, for example, the 
corruption indices of Transparency Interna-
tional and the World Bank.
 
What hard economic data cannot tell us is 
how the population would react to painful 
changes.

How else can society’s attitude be 
gauged?

Using soft factors, as is the case with 
Ireland and Greece. The Irish population 
supports the change process, thereby pro-
viding the ideal starting point for resolving 
the crisis. In Greece, however, the situation 
is very different. Whole sections of the 
population are taking to the streets to 
protest against cuts that are now neces-

sary but largely caused by a small elite. 

And what is the third pillar?

A type of early warning system. Knowing 
the extent to which a country is at risk 
of a crisis is essential to our investment 
decisions. Established ratings provided 
in correct assessments, especially as 
far as forecasts were concerned, be-
cause they had not kept up with actual 
developments. Some individual euro 
zone countries, for example, ended up in 
crisis despite good fundamentals, while 

economic booms led to adverse trends in 
real estate markets that then impacted 
on the banking sector. The agencies did 
not adjust their ratings until after the 
countries had succumbed to the crisis. By 
contrast, we keep an eye on indications 
of such adverse trends and, as a result of 
conducting our own analyses, we make 
adjustments to the portfolio much more 
quickly when our country rating points 
to a change. After all, bankruptcy can 
emerge as quickly as a phoenix rises 
from the ashes – and vice versa. 

Economist Dr. Mauricio Vargas focuses on making countries’ creditworthiness transparent.
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We act responsibly
Giving something back.
Supporting processes of change.
Representing interests.
Showing conviction.

Dr. Joachim von Cornberg is Head of the 

General Legal and Compliance department at 

Union Investment. An attorney, he advises the 

Group’s HR division and the Board of Managing 

Directors on matters relating to HR law and 

company law. Of course his expertise also came 

to bear in the Union Investment 2.0 project.
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Laying the foundations 
for the future 
The Union Investment 2.0 project has readied the Company for funda-
mental changes in the asset management sector. Sonja Albers, Head 
of the Group HR division, and Dr. Joachim von Cornberg, Head of the 
General Legal and Compliance department, provide an insight into 
2012, a year in which the project featured heavily.
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Implementing changes in a company 
 requires expertise and sensitivity toward 
the people whose day-to-day work is 

affected by the changes. Sonja Albers, 
Head of the Group HR division, and 
Dr. Joachim von Cornberg, Head of the 
General Legal and Compliance depart-
ment, both possess these two qualities. 
They also both agree that “Union Invest-
ment 2.0 is not a cost-cutting project. 
Rather, it is about ensuring the Company 
is fit for the future,” explains Dr. von 
Cornberg. “Implementation of leaner, 
more coordinated processes as part of 
the project will also help to minimize 
costs.” The target is to reduce both  
operating costs and the number of jobs 
by 10 percent by 2015. “This won’t 
involve any sweeping cuts. We will be 
making the reductions specifically at 
those interfaces where the analyses of 
efficiency and effectiveness in the six 
segments identified a need for change,” 
states Albers. 

Project kick-off

Of course a project with targets like these 
required the involvement of HR from 
the outset. Preparations for the changes 
began in early 2012. “In my personal 
opinion, the biggest challenge of this 
project arose at the very beginning. We 
had to convey to employees that savings 
were vital – despite our profitability – in 
order to be ready for future changes. We 
needed to eliminate their fears about job 
losses, pay cuts, being transferred – as 
well as motivate them to support the 
important step represented by Union In-
vestment 2.0,” explains Albers. She adds 
that transparency and close collaboration 
with the Board of Managing Directors 
and  Corporate Communications were 
some of the essential building blocks 
because entering into personal dialog and 

helping managers to communicate with 
their teams were just as indispensable to 
 moving forward on a basis of trust.

The General Legal and Compliance 
department also provided support in this 
early project phase at the start of 2012: 
“We were brought on board straight 
away to assist with communicating the 
planning of the savings targets to the 
 employee representatives for the three 
sites, Frankfurt, Hamburg, and Luxem-
bourg,” confirms Dr. von Cornberg. 
 “Initially, we had more of an advi-
sory role.” The department had to clarify 
what the rights of the different employee 
representative bodies were, when they 
needed to be notified, and how they 
needed to be involved. It also had to 
 ensure that no findings were communi-
cated before agreement had been reached 
with the employee representatives. 

Negotiation phase

The analysis of efficiency and effective-
ness, which was completed at the start of 
June, ascertained what changes were to 
be made in the organizational structure 
and “which employees would have to be 
involved in other processes in the future, 
which would mean some of them being 
reassigned to different organizational 
units,” explains Albers. “This required 
meetings with managers, employees, and 
employee representatives as well as keep-
ing in close contact with colleagues from 
the Legal & Public Affairs division.” 

During this phase, the task of the team 
led by Dr. von Cornberg was to verify the 
rights and duties of the employer and 
prepare drafts of the necessary agree-
ments. At the same time, the Legal and 
HR units started negotiating with the 
employee representatives in Frankfurt, 
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Hamburg, and Luxembourg. “It was a 
real marathon of negotiations, with three 
meetings per week at three different sites 
in Germany and abroad,” says Dr. von 
Cornberg. Another of the project’s main 
challenges besides the scheduling was 
ensuring coordinated content. “Each site 
had different agreements in place that 
had been reached in previous years. As a 
result, different proposals had to be nego-
tiated with the employee representatives 
in Frankfurt, Hamburg, and Luxembourg.” 
One of the aims of the negotiations was 
to define which measures were to be 
included in the comprehensive reconcilia-
tion of interests required by German law 
and which were to be taken into account 
in the social plans, which set out the eco-
nomic consequences for those employees 
affected by the changes.

This was no easy task because, when 
changes affecting the workforce are at 
stake, there is a possibility of conflicting 
interests between the members of the 
employees’ councils, which represent the 
employees, and the HR division, which 
is acting on behalf of the Company. 
“Of course there were heated discus-
sions  during the negotiations, but they 
were very constructive,” confirms Albers. 
She says that the relations between the 
parties involved were characterized by 
openness, transparency, and trust.  

Dr. von Cornberg adds that this was very 
important so as “not to hinder construc-
tive dialog after the Union Investment 2.0 
project.” 

Mutual respect and positive collaboration 
also featured in the outcome of the nego-
tiations with the employee representatives 
in autumn 2012. The package of meas-
ures defined was successful: Last year 
alone, more than 100 employees applied 
to reduce their working hours under the 
jointly developed, subsidized part-time 
employment model. Albers is pleased with 
the result. “Five colleagues reducing their 

working hours to 80 percent is equivalent 
to losing one full-time position – but 
without an employee having to leave 
Union Investment.” After all, “the objec-
tive of Union Investment 2.0 is not to 
make employees redundant – it is about 
ensuring the Company’s future viability,” 
emphasizes Dr. von Cornberg.

Implementation of the project

The project got under way after comple-
tion of the negotiations in November 
2012 and is set to run until 2015. There 
is therefore sufficient time to reduce the 

 Union Investment 2.0 is not a cost-cut-
ting project. Instead, it is about ensuring 
the Company is fit for the future. 
Dr. Joachim von Cornberg

Sonja Albers and Dr. Joachim von Cornberg believe Union Investment 2.0 has proven its worth: 
Managers and employees from different units are showing that they are cooperative, professional, 
and flexible team players working toward a common goal.
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number of positions with the minimum 
possible social impact through natural 
 attrition and the agreed measures. “We 
will do everything we can to avoid com-
pulsory redundancies,” stresses Albers. 
“We have always pursued an HR policy 
geared to the long term instead of adopt-
ing a cyclical hire-and-fire mindset. This 
will not change.”

Nevertheless, neither Albers nor von Corn-
berg wants to sugarcoat the situation. 
“Ultimately, the targeted reductions will 
of course have to be made. That is why 
meetings to discuss severance are also 

being held. When an employee decides to 
have his or her own legal representation 
with them at these meetings, we also at-
tend,” reports Dr. von Cornberg. Working 
with the HR division, a solution is then 
reached that is acceptable to all parties.

Personal conclusions

Looking back, both Sonja Albers and 
Dr. Joachim von Cornberg agree that the 
Union Investment 2.0 project strength-
ened the dialog between all of the units 
involved. “I believe that projects are the 
best team-building activity,” says Albers. 

Working with other units, pursuing 
common objectives, and maintaining 
close contact with colleagues shows that 
managers and employees are cooperative, 
professional, and flexible team players. 
Over the next few years, the challenge 
for asset managers like Union Investment 
will be the changing parameters within 
which they have to operate. But Sonja 
Albers and Dr. Joachim von Cornberg are 
confident that this team is well equipped 
to meet the requirements and to ensure 
the Company remains successful in the 
long term.  

 We have always pursued an HR policy 
geared to the long term. This will not 
change. 
Sonja Albers

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report

65



Financial data is important to investors. But fund managers also want to know what 
is going on behind the numbers. That is why they set great store by keeping in contact 
with company representatives. One of these investor dialog meetings recently took 
place at Lufthansa.

On-site meeting for investors
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Thursday, February 8, 2 p.m. 
Michael Gierse and Ingo Speich, 
fund managers at Union Investment, 

have left their offices in central Frankfurt 
and are heading for the airport. Their 
destination is the Lufthansa Aviation 
Center. Andreas Hagenbring, Head of 
Investor Relations at the airline, is waiting 
for them in the reception of the modern 
office complex. The three men make their 
way to hall 6, where they are checked by 
a security team at the entrance. The con-
tents of their pockets are examined and 
their bodies are scanned for metal objects. 
“The technical servicing unit has to 
satisfy the highest security requirements,” 
explains Hagenbring. “No exceptions are 
made, even for senior management.”

On-site meeting at Lufthansa. “As inves-
tors, we like to see companies from 
close up in order to gain a more detailed 
understanding,” says Gierse, the analyst 
at Union Investment responsible for Luft-
hansa. Besides the financial data, he and 
his colleague Ingo Speich are looking at 
the technical servicing side of the business 
today and, above all, at the workflows. 
“Workplace safety provides an indication 
of whether the company has the right 
processes in place,” says Speich, who is 
responsible for sustainability in portfolio 
management.

He and Gierse show a keen interest as 
they follow Hagenbring through the hall. 
The technical servicing division gener-
ates an operating profit of EUR 250-350 
million in average years – in other words, 
more than most other airlines achieve 
with their regular flight operations. 
Gierse’s attention is caught by a Boeing 
747-400. “Is everything going to plan 
with renewing the fleet?” he asks. “It’s 
all on target,” replies Hagenbring, adding 
that the budget for capital expenditure 
up to 2015 is EUR 9 billion, of which 

On-site meeting for investors

EUR 6 billion is earmarked for new 
aircraft.

Working on behalf of investors

The tour lasts over an hour – time that 
the fund managers use to ask plenty of 
questions. Hagenbring patiently explains 
everything that the investors want to 
know about processes, engineering, and 
maintenance of the airplanes. Afterwards 
they return to the office building. Once in 
the conference room, Gierse and Speich 

address specific topics. “As a fund man-
agement company, we have an obligation 
to investors,” states Gierse. That also 
means forming an opinion – whether 
on the company’s funding, strategy, or 
dividend policy. Investors focus on the 
future viability of the business model. 
“This provides the basis for sustained 
growth in enterprise value and thereby in 
shareholder value,” explains Gierse.

There is a tradition at Union Investment of 
active engagement on behalf of investors. 
Speich gave his opinion at twelve annual 
general meetings last year, including that 
of Lufthansa. The fund managers also 
seek out direct contact with the compa-
nies in which they invest on a long-term 

 As investors, we  
like to see companies 
from close up in order 
to gain a more detailed 
understanding. 
Michael Gierse 
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basis. “Ultimately, a company’s policies 
are defined by people,” says Gierse. “The 
better you get to know them in person, 
the more you understand what ideas lie 
behind their decisions.” This also benefits 
Lufthansa. “We think it is very important 
to have sparring partners who assess 
things independently from their perspec-
tive and ask the right questions – and 
are happy to put them to senior manage-
ment,” says Hagenbring.

A credible company

A long-term investor in Lufthansa, Union 
Investment believes in the airline’s busi-
ness model. “It’s a good product, the 
balance sheet is healthy, and the man-
agement team is credible,” says Gierse. 
Nonetheless, there are points of criticism, 
and Union Investment does not shy away 
from raising them – such as the relatively 
old age of the Lufthansa fleet, which is far 
higher than the average for its younger 
competitors. “Older aircraft consume more 
kerosene, which not only increases costs 
but also the impact on the environment,” 
explains sustainability expert Speich. 
There is a need for action – Lufthansa’s 
senior management is aware of this and 
has approved a major program of capital 
expenditure to lower the age of the fleet.

Another topic discussed at the investor 
dialog is acquisitions. “I hope that the 
 focus remains on the integration of the 
many airlines and internal restructuring.” 
As an investor, Union Investment also 
pleads for greater concentration on core 
business. “An airline does not need to 
 operate its own catering or IT business,” 
believes the analyst. Hagenbring agrees 
that focusing on core business is impor-
tant but explains that Lufthansa wants 
to retain its diversified structure to some 
extent. “Our broad-based portfolio pro-
vides us with a profit cushion of EUR 300-

Fund managers Michael Gierse (left) and Ingo Speich (right) maintain close contact with companies  
in which Union Investment invests. On-site meetings – such as this one with Andreas Hagenbring, 
Head of Investor Relations at Lufthansa – help to provide a more detailed understanding of companies.

68



400 million each year and makes us less 
dependent on flight operations,” he ex-
plains. Dialog does not automatically lead 
to consensus, but it does provide an un-
derstanding of the other side’s arguments 
and presents an opportunity to discuss 
the environment. The fact is that all Euro-
pean airlines need to restructure: 2012 
saw market capacity grow at a slower rate 
than demand for the first time. “This is a 
totally new phenomenon,” says Hagen-
bring. Whereas airplanes used to fly at 
less than full capacity, the focus nowadays 
is on cost-efficiency. Many airlines have 
reduced their capacities. 

Lufthansa, Germany’s number one air-
line, also wants to substantially boost its 
profitability. This goes down well with 
the fund managers from Union Invest-
ment. For years, their criticism has been 
that, on balance, profit has been too low 
compared with revenue and that budget 
airlines such as Ryanair achieve far higher 
margins. Lufthansa’s senior management 

 A focus on sustain-
ability only works in 
the long term from a 
position of economic 
strength. 
Ingo Speich

is also aware of this problem and is work-
ing on it. By 2015, Lufthansa also expects 
to achieve margins of 7-8 percent. The 
stock markets are rewarding Lufthansa’s 
strategy. On a twelve-month basis, the air-
line has in fact been the strongest equity 
on the DAX – with a gain of almost 45 
percent.

Focus on sustainability

Short-term profits are welcome, but long-
term increases in value are better. Both 
Union Investment and Lufthansa attach 
a great deal of importance to sustain-
ability. “Forward-looking companies are 
less risky,” states the sustainability expert. 
“But a focus on sustainability only works 
in the long term from a position of eco-
nomic strength.” Lufthansa is one of just 
three airlines worldwide with an invest-
ment grade credit rating. To make sure 
this remains the case, Union Investment 
pleaded that no profits be distributed to 
shareholders when it attended Lufthansa’s 

2012 annual general meeting. This is 
an unusual demand for an investor to 
make. “We think it is more important to 
strengthen the capital base,” explains 
Gierse. The dividend issue featured again 
on the agenda this year as a result of 
Union Investment’s demand. “It was the 
subject of fierce debate on the Executive 
Board,” says Hagenbring a few weeks 
later. Increasing the level of capital is one 
thing, but at the expense of a dividend 
payout? He believes credibility is at risk 
among investors: After all, Lufthansa is 
the only European airline with a dividend 
policy.

When Lufthansa reports a few weeks later 
that it is not paying a dividend for 2012 
after all, the fund managers from Union 
Investment feel vindicated. Although 
the share price falls by almost 6 percent 
within one day, they are not worried. 
“Lufthansa has laid the foundations 
for creating value over the long term,” 
 concludes Gierse. 
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Union Investment employees 
have been contributing to the 
common good for many years. 
The advancement of the mit-
Menschen initiative opened 
up new opportunities for them 
in 2012 – and has given them 
more individual responsibility. 

In brief
Carbon footprint 
measured
 
In 2012, Union Investment calculated its 
total CO2 emissions for all German sites 
for the first time: Emissions amounted 
to 10,089 tonnes of CO2 in 2009 (base 
year). Experts divide a carbon footprint 
like this into three components, known 
as scopes. Union Investment measured 
its carbon footprint in all three scopes. 
The calculation helps in the selection of 
suitable and efficient action steps for 
reducing and offsetting the Company’s 
carbon footprint. Since April 2010, for 
 example, Union Investment employees 
have been taking carbon-neutral busi-
ness trips by choosing Deutsche Bahn’s 
Umwelt-Plus train travel option. In this 
program, Deutsche Bahn undertakes to 
feed the equivalent amount of green 
electricity into its rail network’s electricity 
grid for each kilometer traveled. 
Since January 2011, Union Investment 
has obtained its electricity solely from 
hydroelectric power plants as part 
of the GreenUp model of its supplier 
Mainova. Its business mail is also sent 
on a climate-neutral basis: Letters have 
been sent using Deutsche Post’s GoGreen 
environmental program since July 2011, 
while packages have been sent via 
the ThinkGreen-Service from logistics 
provider GLS since February 2012. Since 
their introduction, these measures have 
helped to reduce Union Investment’s 
carbon footprint by around a third or 
3,414 tonnes.

In November 2012, Union Investment 
was crowned best asset manager for its 
real estate management and sustainable 
investments. Independent rating company 
Scope bestowed its eponymous award 
on Union Investment in the ‘best asset 
management real estate’ category. The 
panel of judges selected Union Invest-
ment in recognition of its “very high level 
of market and transaction expertise”. 
They also praised the “highly stable per-
formance and liquidity of the open-ended 
real-estate funds”, adding that the asset 
management company has been “a pio-
neer of sustainability strategy for many 
years”. 
At the end of November, respected 
analysts Feri EuroRating Services des-
ignated Union Investment as the best 
asset manager in the German-speaking 
countries for sustainable investments. 
Beforehand, fund analysts at Feri had 
examined the quality of asset managers 
in a two-stage process. In the first step, 
they identified the funds with the best 
returns over the previous twelve months. 
They then assessed the quality of the 
investment process and the manage-
ment performance of the best five asset 
managers. Union Investment came out 
top in the ‘socially responsible investing’ 
category. “Sustainable investments and 
investments in open-ended real-estate 
funds are becoming increasingly impor-
tant to our customers. That is why we 

Numerous awards for  
portfolio management

have chosen to significantly build up our 
expertise in these areas over the past few 
years. The awards from Scope and Feri 
are proof positive that we have further 
boosted our competitiveness,” says Jens 
Wilhelm, member of the Board of Manag-
ing Directors of Union Investment with 
responsibility for portfolio management 
for securities and real estate. 

Best Asset
Management
Real Estate

Winner
2012
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Support is required in many different plac-
es. The Frankfurt branch of child protection 
association Deutscher Kinderschutzbund is 
looking for volunteers interested in taking 
on responsibility for a child. A group of 
students in Trier needs help with organ-
izing its breakfasts for homeless people. 
Teestube Jona, a drop-in center near the 
central train station in Frankfurt, wants to 
expand the services it offers to people in 
difficult situations. These are just three of 
the projects in the volunteering database 
on Union Investment’s intranet, which 
provides information for employees who 
want to contribute to a good cause in their 
spare time. 
Employees’ involvement in this type of 
voluntary community work forms part of 
the Company’s sustainability strategy and 
has now become something of a tradition. 
The mitMenschen initiative was launched 
in 2006 – Union Investment’s anniversary 
year – as a result of the desire to give 
something back to society. Since then, 
753 employees from all hierarchy levels 
have undertaken around 9,600 hours of 
voluntary work at 59 organizations and in 
100 projects in Frankfurt, Hamburg, and 
Luxembourg during their free time. This en-
gagement has benefited more than 1,200 
socially disadvantaged children, young 

Proactive role for employees
people, adults, and people with disabilities. 
“It was a great effort,” emphasizes Mar-
garita Ahrweiler, Senior Communications 
Manager at Union Investment, who is 
responsible for the mitMenschen initiative. 
“On designated Saturdays, employees 
have volunteered in a variety of projects, 
including renovating kindergartens, re-
decorating classrooms, and creating school 
gardens – putting their heart, soul, and 
energy into a good cause. Each and every 
participant has contributed to the success 
of mitMenschen. We want to continue this 
success story with the new concept.”
The new, more flexible concept creates 
new opportunities for employee volunteer-
ing. Previously, Corporate Communications 
planned the project work on the desig-
nated Saturdays centrally. Now, employees 
can organize activities themselves – all 
year round, wherever and whenever they 
want, and to suit their preferences. Long-
term commitments, such as mentoring, 
now allow employees to give up their 
free time for projects during the week as 
well. “The new concept gets to the core 
of mitMenschen by giving them greater 
individual responsibility and the freedom 
to choose how they get involved. They can 
suggest projects themselves and manage 
them independently,” explains Ahrweiler.

Brand of the  
century

Publishing company Deutsche Standards 
awarded Union Investment its brand prize 
in November 2012. An illustrious panel of 
judges – all of them distinguished brand 
experts – selected Union Investment on 
the basis of its efforts relating to branding 
and brand marketing. Around 300 brands 
received the accolade in recognition of 
their unique selling proposition and repre-
sentation of their particular product group. 
They included adidas, Braun, Lufthansa, 
and Haribo. The publisher explains the 
stories behind these leading brands in its 
book Brands of the Century – Beacons in 
a Sea of Brands, which is available globally 
in English, German, and Mandarin. 
Dr. Joachim Böhler, Head of Brand Marketing 
at Union Investment, accepted the prize  
on behalf of the Company at a gala in 
Berlin. “Brand development and a strong 
brand identity can create lasting customer 
loyalty,” he explains. “To ensure disciplined 
brand marketing, we coordinate the brand 
activities of all customer segments with 
each other.” 
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Group Management Report of  
Union Asset Management Holding AG  
for the Financial Year from  
January 1 to December 31, 2012

Note

This management report should be read in the context 
of the audited financial data and disclosures elsewhere 
in this annual report. 

The management report also includes forward-looking 
statements that are based on current planning, assump-
tions, and estimates rather than on historical facts.  
In all cases, the forward-looking statements apply at 
the time the statements are made and Union Asset 
Management Holding AG (UMH AG) gives no under-
taking that it will update the statements if new infor-
mation becomes available. Forward-looking statements 
are always subject to risk and uncertainty. We therefore 
explicitly stress that actual events may differ signifi-
cantly from those forecast as a consequence of a number 
of factors. Factors that appear to be material from the 
current perspective are described under ’Risk Report: 
Opportunities and Risks’ and in other sections of this 
report.
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Source: Datastream, performance between January 1, 2012 and December 31, 2012

ECB measures drive up equity markets
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Liquidity overhang
ECB long-term tenders and bond 
purchases, increased economic 
momentum, Greek bond swap

Sovereign debt crisis
Spain misses debt target, rating 
agencies downgrade PT/IRL/IT/GR/
ES, Spanish banks under pressure, 
disappointing leading indicators

’Draghi Put’
Prospect of unlimited bond 
purchases by ECB and QE3 or Fed, 
political progress in the sovereign 
debt crisis

Disappointing profits
Poor reporting season,  
mixed economic data

’Fiscal cliff’
Hope for political 
consensus in the 
USA

+11.4%

Business performance

A  Economic conditions and 
 industry trends

I. Capital markets

On balance, 2012 was a positive year for almost all as-
set classes. The negative effects of the European sov-
ereign debt crisis, weak growth in the global economy, 
unrest in the Middle East, and debate surrounding the 
‘fiscal cliff’ in the United States led to strong volatility 
in the markets that, at times, was sudden. However, 
the prospects for political solutions in Europe and the 
United States and, above all, the action taken by 
 central banks did give a boost to prices several times 
during the course of the year. 

Taking center stage was the European Central Bank 
(ECB). Following unlimited three-year tenders at the start 
of the year, the ECB announced ‘outright monetary 
transactions’ in the summer – a new bond buying pro-
gram tied to the EFSF and ESM bailout arrangements. 
The ECB is now the lender of last resort not only for 
banks but also for countries, a role it has assumed in 
order to save the euro. It will also have a pivotal func-
tion in any future European banking supervisory body. 
Whereas economic data in September and October 

painted a rather mixed picture, leading indicators for 
the United States, China, and the euro zone at the end 
of the year pointed toward an improving economy. 

Over the course of the year, the growth achieved by 
most equity and bond markets worldwide was in double 
figures – although there was significant volatility in 
some cases. By contrast, commodities declined by almost 
3 percent over the year, above all due to slower growth 
in China and other emerging markets as well as down-
ward pressure on oil and gas prices resulting from  
the expansion of unconventional extraction methods in 
North America.

Source: Datastream, performance between January 1, 2012 and December 31, 2012
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Although the capital markets rewarded the progress 
made in saving the euro with sharp price rises, they 
will continue to keep a close eye on the European sov-
ereign debt crisis in the euro zone over the coming 
months. The course that is now being followed is a clear 
acknowledgment by politicians of their responsibility 
and shows that they have reached crucial decisions in 
support of closer European integration. Nevertheless, 
there is still a long way to go and further setbacks 
cannot be ruled out. In the meantime, the ECB is acting 
as a liquidity guarantor both for the banks and for 
countries and making sure that the euro zone countries 
that have been rocked by the crisis can refinance their 
debts. 

Besides the European sovereign debt crisis, another 
key factor that will influence the capital markets is the 
growth of the global economy in 2013. We expect 
growth to accelerate to 3.5 percent worldwide, fueled 
above all by China stepping up economic activity and 
the euro zone emerging from recession. The United 
States will maintain its stable growth trajectory, provid-
ed political consensus is reached on the debt ceiling – 
as was the case with the fiscal cliff.

Against the current backdrop of low interest rates, the 
main challenges for investors lie in striking a balance 
between the wish for secure investments and adequate 
returns. German government bonds, Pfandbriefe, and 
high-quality corporate bonds continue to be a sought-
after safe haven, and their returns remain low. Additional 
returns are available from, in particular, high-yield 
bonds and emerging market bonds. The latter benefit 
from the fact that emerging markets often have lower 
debt levels and better growth prospects than industri-
alized countries. 

Despite some residual risks, favorable conditions for 
the equity and commodity markets are emerging on the 
back of improved economic performance combined 
with dwindling aversion to risk as a result of the progress 
made in resolving the European sovereign debt crisis. 
In the current market environment, the focus is on select-
ing the equities of established companies that have 
sound balance sheet structures and pay high dividends. 
They possess comfortable liquidity reserves and 
 generate high profit margins. That is why there was a 
preference for profitable companies that offer their 
shareholders substantial dividends. Among commodi-
ties, cyclically sensitive industrial metals are expected 
to benefit. Although the oil price continues to be 
propped up by the uncertain situation in the Middle East, 
it appears that the price of gold is being nudged  
down by the emerging discussion about scaling back 
the central banks’ expansionary monetary policy.

Growth and inflation forecasts
Year-on-year percentage changes

GDP Inflation

Germany

■  2012
■  2013

Euro zone USA Japan Germany Euro zone USA Japan

Source: Union Investment, as at January 10, 2012
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II. Real estate markets

The difficult economic climate made its mark in the 
 international real estate markets in 2012. Many com-
panies, especially those in Europe, postponed their 
 expansion plans, which tended to depress demand for 
space. This was particularly noticeable in southern and 
eastern Europe, where vacancy rates rose significantly 
over the course of 2012. Rentals and vacancy rates 
 remained relatively stable in the core European markets. 
The situation in Asian real estate markets was mixed. 
Early signs of a market recovery were evident in central 
areas of Tokyo. The US office markets bucked the 
 general trend, with vacancy rates declining and rental 
price rises picking up pace. 

The volume of transactions on the global investment 
markets for commercial real estate proved stable in 
2012. As at December 31, 2012, the transaction volume 
had reached EUR 333 billion, above all due to a strong 
fourth quarter. This total was up by almost 9 percent 
compared with December 31, 2011. Although investors 
remained hesitant in the first half of 2012 owing to 
fears about national debt and global economic growth, 
the growth in the global volume of transactions during 
the fourth quarter shows that the real estate investment 
markets have returned to robust growth. 

However, the weaker global economic outlook and 
some persisting uncertainty resulting from the European 
sovereign debt crisis will continue to impact negatively 

on rental prices in many markets over the coming 
quarters. Rates of return are frequently hovering around 
the cyclical minimum. The outlook for US real estate 
markets is positive. Asian office markets will also show 
increasing signs of recovery in the quarters to come. 

Given the existing market risk, investors are continuing 
to focus on property with secure cash flows over  
the long term, although competition for such property 
is likely to heat up.

III. Inflows and fund assets 

1. Situation in the mutual funds sector

The year under review was dominated by the European 
sovereign debt crisis and efforts to find sustainable, 
long-term solutions, by economic worries, and by the 
central banks’ monetary policies aimed at supporting 
the capital markets. Over the course of the year, the 
German DAX index rose by approximately 29 percent. 
Ten-year German Bund yields continued their down-
ward trend from 2011, falling by 52 basis points year 
on year. In this environment, the German fund 
 management industry reported total net inflows of 
EUR 21.7 billion from securities mutual funds in 
20121). Fixed-income funds (EUR 31.9 billion) and mixed 
funds (EUR 2.3 billion) were the main beneficiaries. 
Mutual fund investors sold equity funds (outflows of 

Global markets: decoupling of market cycles

Office real estate ’clock’ – Q4 2011

Note
The ‘clock’ shows the position, according to Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL), of office markets within the rental price cycle.
Local markets may move in different directions and at different speeds.
Positions are not necessarily representative of the investment market.

Office real estate ‘clock’ – Q4 2012
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EUR 4.6 billion), capital preservation funds (outflows 
of EUR 4.6 billion), and money market funds (outflows 
of EUR 3.1 billion). 

The other asset classes within securities mutual funds 
together accounted for further net outflows of 
EUR 0.2 billion. Open-ended real estate funds gener-
ated net inflows of EUR 2.9 billion.2) 

The assets under management in securities mutual 
funds at the end of November 2012 amounted to 
EUR 648 billion, which represented a significant year-
on-year increase (December 31, 2011: EUR 566 billion). 
The total volume under management in open-ended 
real estate funds (mutual funds) at the end of 2012 was 
EUR 82 billion (December 31, 2011: EUR 85 billion).

2. Situation in the special funds sector

In 2012, German investment firms attracted net 
 inflows of EUR 55.6 billion into the special funds un-
der their management (special real estate funds  
and securities funds in total), which was higher than 
in 2011 (EUR 33.7 billion). Despite market uncer-
tainty regarding the future of monetary union, the as-
sets  under management in special funds had reached 
EUR 964.6 billion at the end of November 2012, a 
significant increase on the figure at the end of 2011 
(EUR 827.1 billion) and a new record level.3) 

3. Situation in the real estate funds sector

Market conditions for German open-ended real estate 
funds also remained challenging during 2012. Of the 
total of 16 open-ended real estate funds (of which nine 
are for retail investors) that suspended redemption of 
fund units, all retail investor funds and four insti tutional 
investor funds with a total fund value of approximately 
EUR 20.7 billion are now being liquidated (equates to a 
sector market share of around 24 percent). The other 
three institutional investor funds that have suspended 
the redemption of fund units must announce during the 
course of 2013 whether they will reopen or not. 

The adjustments in the market for open-ended real es-
tate funds have therefore now reached a new high-
point. Nevertheless, the sector still generated total net 
inflows of approximately EUR 3.0 billion in 2012.4) This 
is proof positive of investors’ fundamental confidence 
in this asset class. 

1) Unless stated otherwise: figures current as at the end of 2012. 
2) Source: BVI investment statistics 12/2012.
3) Source: BVI investment statistics 12/2012.
4) Source: BVI investment statistics 12/2012.
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B  Business performance 
 in detail
 
I Performance summary 

1.  Fund management business and  
assets under management

In 2012, the number of products run by UMH AG 
 subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates either directly 
or under fund management mandates was 998, the 
same level as in 2011. The volume of assets under 
management rose from EUR 170.3 billion as at Decem-
ber 31, 2011 to EUR 190.5 billion at the end of 2012, 
which represented a year-on-year increase of 
EUR 20.2 billion. This rise was attributable in equal 
measure to encouraging net inflows and the positive 
performance of international capital markets.

The breakdown of the growth in assets under manage-
ment in 2012 was as follows:

•  Assets in mutual funds rose by EUR 11.8 billion to 
EUR 114.8 billion.

•  Assets in special funds rose by EUR 5.5 billion to 
EUR 58.8 billion.

•  Assets in other types of business (advisory mandates 
and asset management) minus accounts managed 
by third parties amounted to EUR 16.9 billion, which 
constituted another year-on-year increase (Decem-
ber 31, 2011: EUR 13.9 billion).

2.  Performance of  
Union Investment Group funds 1)

The uptrend in the capital markets last year was re-
flected in the figures for managed funds. On a volume-
weighted basis, active management also enabled 90.6 
percent of mutual funds to outperform their particular 
benchmark.

Managed equity funds gained an average of 17.2 per-
cent, which was 0.8 percentage points higher than the 
benchmarks. In the equity funds segment, there were 
sharp rises in the value of funds focusing on Germany 
(gain of 28.3 percent) and the euro zone (gain of 20.4 
percent), which benefited from the improved pros-
pects for resolving the European sovereign debt crisis, 
especially in the second half of 2012. 

The flagship UniDeutschland and UniEuroAktien prod-
ucts appreciated by 29.5 percent and 21.8 percent 
 respectively, with the latter outperforming its benchmark 
by 2.8 percentage points. Increasing in value by 
23.4 percent and 26.5 percent respectively, the two 
small and mid cap funds UniDeutschland XS and 
UniMid&SmallCaps: Europa also both exceeded their 
benchmarks significantly (by 4.7 and 3.8 percentage 
points respectively). The gains registered by global and 
emerging market equity funds were also in double 
 figures. For example, the unit price of the global flagship 
fund UniGlobal went up by 13.5 percent in 2012, 
thereby outperforming its benchmark by 0.8 percentage 
points. The UniEM Global A fund gained 15.9 percent 
over the course of 2012.

The improved situation in the euro zone was also the 
main factor in the uptrend in fixed-income funds, 
which rose by 8.9 percent on average. Although the 
drop in returns on euro zone government bonds 
caused the funds to gain 6.1 percent, corporate bond 
funds drew extra benefit from narrowing spreads  
and went up by an average of 13 percent. The relevant 
benchmarks were outperformed by 1.6 and 3.2 percent 
points respectively. 

In absolute terms, the highest performance values 
were achieved by funds such as UniEuroAspirant A 
(gain of 22.8 percent) and UniEuroRenta HighYield 
(gain of 22.1 percent), whose investment focus gave 
them particularly strong exposure to the afore-
mentioned areas. The flagship corporate bond fund – 
UniEuroRenta Corporates A – also appreciated by 
17.8 percent, beating its benchmark by 4.8 percent-
age points. The performance of UniEuroRenta Emerg-
ingMarkets was also impressive with a gain of  
17 percent. The flagship product for euro zone bonds, 
UniEuroRenta, generated a gain of 6.7 percent despite 
its defensive nature. 

Although money market rates were at a low level, the 
money market funds and money market-linked funds 
continued to perform well with returns of between 1.3 
and 4.2 percent. The strength of this performance  
is highlighted by a comparison with their respective 
benchmarks, which the funds outperformed by a mar-
gin of between 0.7 and four percentage points, the 
latter achieved by the UniMoneyMarket: Euro A fund.
 
Many mixed mandates registered increases in double 
figures. The value of these mandates rose by an aver-
age of 11 percent, which was 1.5 percentage points 

1) All the performance figures below are stated gross, i.e. on a cost-adjusted basis, and relate to the year 2012.

83

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report Group Management Report



higher than the relevant benchmarks. Asymmetric, 
 dynamic capital preservation products closed the year 
up 5.6 percent on average, while guarantee funds 
were up by an average of 5.8 percent. 

The high-volume UniRak and GenoEuroClassic funds 
gained 17.6 percent and 10.1 percent in value respec-
tively, thereby considerably outperforming their bench-
marks. Funds in the PrivatFonds range appreciated by 
between 2.9 percent and 13.7 percent, depending  
on their concept. The unit prices of products in the 
 UniStrategie range grew by between 6.2 percent and 
17.5 percent.

Real estate funds for retail investors

The open-ended real estate mutual funds managed by 
Union Investment for retail investors had generated 
annual returns of 2.6 percent (UniImmo: Deutschland), 
2.4 percent (UniImmo: Europa), and 2.4 percent 
 (UniImmo: Global) as at December 31, 2012. The two 
long-standing funds, UniImmo: Deutschland and 
 UniImmo: Europa, remained stable over the course of 
the year. UniImmo: Global improved substantially, 
 especially as its performance has not been weighed 
down by write-downs on Japanese real estate since 
February 2012.

Given general trends in the sector, it is assumed that 
performance in the two long-standing funds will also 
remain largely flat over the next few months.

Real estate funds for institutional investors

Business with institutional real estate investors conti-
nued to expand in 2012. Contributions to performance 
from the managed special funds DEFO-Immobilien-
fonds 1, UII Shopping Nr. 1, and DIFA-Fonds Nr. 3 
were in line with the planning. The institutional mutual 
fund, UniInstitutional European Real Estate, had 
 gained 2.71 percent by December 31, 2012, with the 
dividend yield remaining above 4 percent as it had in 
previous years.

The special real estate funds Residential Value and 
BAEV Immobilienfonds I, which were issued in 2011 
as fund management service mandates, have been  
at the continued investment stage since 2012.

In April 2012, the SDK Immoselect and SDL Immoselect 
funds were issued as additional pooling vehicles for  
an insurance group. An institutional fund management 
service mandate was acquired for a major insurance 
group. October 2012 saw the introduction of a mutual 
fund for institutional investors, UniInstitutional German 
Real Estate. Also that month, a further individual 
 mandate (UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 1) was 
added to the product portfolio as part of a special 
fund solution for a German corporate bank.

Union Investment entered into the infrastructure 
 segment in 2012. The new infrastructure special fund 
is managed through a Luxembourg SICAF-SIF vehicle. 
The objective of the fund is to invest in renewable 
energies, in particular European wind farms.

3.  Awards, rankings, and ratings 

Capital, one of Germany’s leading business magazines, 
once again awarded its highest rating of five stars to 
Union Investment in 2013. Union Investment took first 
place and has now become the only asset manage-
ment company ever to receive this award eleven times 
in succession. Only three other companies received  
the highest rating beside Union Investment. The criteria 
for the award include fund quality, fund management, 
product range, and customer service. In 2012, Union 
Investment was designated as the best asset manage-
ment company at the Scope Investment Awards and  
as the best asset manager in the ‘Socially Responsible 
Investing’ category of the Feri EuroRating Awards.

Performance Active
return

Money market funds/money 
market-linked funds
UniReserve: Euro A
UnionGeldmarktFonds

+4.2%
+1.4%

+4.0%
+1.2%

Equity funds
UniAsiaPacific A
UniDeutschland XS
UniEuroAktien
UniGlobal
UniValueFonds: Europa A

23.4%
23.4%
21.8%
13.5%
21.4%

3.2%
4.7%
2.8%
0.8%
5.4%

Fixed-income funds
UniEuroAspirant A
UniEuroKapital Corporates A
UniEuroRenta
UniEuroRenta Corporates A

22.8%
14.0%

6.7%
17.8%

2.2%
7.1%
0.8%
4.8%

Mixed and multi-asset funds 
PrivatFonds: Kontrolliert pro
UniRak
UniStrategie: Offensiv

13.7%
17.6%
17.5%

2.5%
2.9%
2.3%

Source: Union Investment, one-year performance between January 1, 2012  
and December 31, 2012

Impressive performance by mutual funds
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Union Investment continued to hold a top position 
(number four) in the quarterly rankings of fund 
 management companies published by Feri EuroRating 
Services. 

Union Investment’s competitive strength has also been 
confirmed by the Morningstar ratings agency. As at 
December 31, 2012, Union Investment was ranked 
 second among all its main German competitors in the 
analyses covering one, three, and five years. The pro-
portion of funds in the upper half of each peer group 
was 47.3 percent over a one-year period while, in  
the longer-term analyses, the proportion was 50 percent 
and 47.9 percent respectively. 

4.  Union Investment Group inflows and as-
sets under management 

The Union Investment Group had total assets under 
management of EUR 190.5 billion as at December 31, 
2012 (December 31, 2011: EUR 170.3 billion). These 
assets were distributed among both retail and institu-
tional clients.

4.1. Retail investors – changes in inflows and 
assets under management 

All funds under the Union Investment brand are offered 
to retail clients exclusively via our partner banks in the 
cooperative financial network. It is our policy to reject 
the repeated inquiries we receive from internet banks 
for distribution agreements and not to use the services 
of independent brokers. This distinguishes Union 
 Investment from most of its competitors. 

Historically, this strategy of clearly focusing on the 
 cooperative financial network formed the basis for the 
exceptional level of success enjoyed by the Union 
 Investment Group in the marketplace. The close form 
of collaboration practiced within the cooperative 
 financial network again proved to be particularly valu-
able in 2012. 

Gross inflows from retail investors grew from EUR 
15.6 billion in 2011 to EUR 19.5 billion in 2012. Over 
the year under review, this business reported total  
net inflows of EUR 1.1 billion, having reported net 
outflows in the two previous years (2011: net outflows 
of EUR 3.6 billion).

The level of net inflows in the open-ended real estate 
fund and fixed-income fund asset classes was especially 

Fund management 
company 

Number of 
funds with 

top ranking

Total  
number  

of ranked 
funds

Top ranking 
proportion

1. Threadneedle 32 51 62.7%

2. Schroders 26 48 54.2%

3. Investec 13 26 50.0%

4. Union Investment 38 78 48.7%

5. Fidelity 26 54 48.1%

6. Deka 37 80 46.3%

7. FranklinTempleton 22 49 44.9%

8. Credit Suisse AM 21 47 44.7%

9. Lyxor 11 25 44.0%

10. Blackrock 45 103 43.7%

A total of 43 companies were evaluated by Feri EuroRating Services.  
Only the best ten companies are published each time. 
Source: Feri EuroRating Services AG, as at December 31, 2012

Assets under management and net inflows in 
the Retail Clients segment
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satisfactory. However, net outflows were registered, in 
particular, for the capital preservation fund category.

The volume of assets under management in business 
with retail clients rose to EUR 85.7 billion as at 
 December 31, 2012 (end of 2011: EUR 80.8 billion).

According to the fund management statistics of 
 Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management 
e.V. (BVI) [Federal Association of German Fund 
 Management Companies], the Union Investment Group’s 
share 6) of the managed mutual funds market was 
19.5 percent at the end of 2012 (December 31, 2011: 
18.2 percent).

4.2.  UnionDepot savings plans for retail clients 

Having suffered a year-on-year decline in the previous 
year, the number of all UnionDepot savings plans grew 
from 3,302 million at the end of 2011 to a total of 
3,453 million as at December 31, 2012. This includes 
UniProfiRente, the government-subsidized (‘Riester’) 
pension plan product, for which there was a net decrease 
of approximately 15,000 in the number of plans over 
the year under review. It also includes conventional sa-
vings plans, the number of which increased by around 
45,000 net. In addition, the number of contracts under 
the employer-funded capital-formation scheme advan-
ced by approximately 120,000 in total. 

4.3.  Institutional investors – changes in  
inflows and assets under management

The volume of assets under management in business 
with institutional investors went up by EUR 15.3 billion 

to EUR 104.8 billion as at December 31, 2012 (end of 
2011: EUR 89.5 billion). The assets under management 
in special funds for institutional investors increased  
to EUR 54.3 billion (end of 2011: EUR 49.1 billion). 
The volume of assets under management in other types 
of business for institutional clients (mutual funds, ad-
visory mandates, and institutional asset management) 
increased by EUR 10.0 billion to EUR 50.5 billion. In 
2012, institutional business reported total net inflows 
of EUR 8.8 billion (2011: net inflows of EUR 2.1 billion).

According to BVI fund management statistics, the 
 Union Investment Group’s market share of total assets 
in special funds at the end of 2012 was 11 percent 
(December 31, 2011: 11.7 percent). The Group there-
fore remained the second-largest manager of special 
funds in Germany.

5. Custody accounts business and  
fund brokerage

As at December 31, 2012, the Union Investment Group 
managed more than 4.2 million client custody accounts 
with portfolios of the Group’s own and third-party 
 investment funds. Despite the challenging market con-
ditions arising as a result of the European sovereign 
debt crisis, Union Investment was able to limit portfolio 
contraction. The total volume of assets under manage-
ment in custody accounts amounted to EUR 67.9 billi-6) Source: BVI investment statistics 12/2012.
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on as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011: 
EUR 62.4 billion).

Managed custody accounts with third-party investment 
funds (investment funds from fund management 
 companies outside the Group) numbered approximately 
153,000 as at December 31, 2012 compared with 
140,000 such accounts as at December 31, 2011. The 
volume of assets invested in third-party funds amounted 
to EUR 2.1 billion at the end of 2012 (December 31, 
2011: EUR 1.7 billion).

Government-subsidized (‘Riester’) pension plan products 
have become established as a key component of private 
pension provision in Germany. Union Investment con-
tinues to be the leader in the overall Riester market with 
its UniProfiRente product (approximately 1.9 million 
contracts). Finanztest magazine (issue 12/2012) conti-
nues to recommend UniProfiRente as a Riester savings 
products as well as the supplementary product 
 UniProfiRente Select.

Union Investment Service Bank AG handled a total of 
around 43.2 million customer transactions in 2012, 
which can be broken down as follows:
•  28.8 million relating to savings plans, withdrawal 

plans, employer-funded capital-formation schemes, 
and similar,

•  12.3 million relating to income distribution/ 
reinvestment and custody account fees,

•  1.9 million relating to online-enabled transactions, and
•  0.2 million relating to offline-only special postings 

that are carried out manually.

End investors and banks carried out 1.6 million tran-
sactions using the online service. OCR technology was 
used to process around 237,000 transactions. Automated 
processing accounts for 98.8 percent of the transactions 
processed, which is the optimum level from a business 
perspective.

The fund brokerage business processed a total of around 
0.8 million client orders with a volume of approximately 
EUR 23.2 billion in the year under review. The volume 
of assets held in safe custody for clients amounted to 
EUR 20.1 billion as at December 31, 2012. Of these 
assets, a volume of EUR 9.2 billion was held for coope-
rative partner banks and EUR 10.9 billion for instituti-
onal clients. The volume of fees and commissions paid 
out from trail commission in 2012 amounted to ap-
proximately EUR 46 million.

At the end of 2012, the fund brokerage business invol-
ved 184 active relationships with cooperative banks; 

the number of other institutional clients involved had 
risen from 97 to 107.

II.   Business environment

The dominant features of 2012 were the European so-
vereign debt crisis and fundamental changes in the 
 finance sector in the wake of the global financial crisis. 
New regulatory requirements in Germany and imple-
mentation of EU legislation also had a considerable 
impact on existing products, caused costs to rise conti-
nuously, and reduced flexibility. 

Nervousness continued to prevail in the financial and 
capital markets as there were no changes in the for-
tunes of some southern European countries. Against 
this background, the European Central Bank cut its 
key lending rate to 0.75 percent at the start of July 
2012, which was the lowest level since the introduction 
of the euro. To bring calm to the financial markets,  
the ECB was also forced to announce an unlimited pro-
gram to buy government bonds aimed at, in the event 
of new issues, reducing spreads on the government 
bonds of crisis-hit countries in the euro zone, which 
were expected to be high.

Union Investment continued to make an active and 
 valuable contribution at both national and international 
levels by helping with the advancement of the market 
framework for investment funds. At national level, its 
input was through the committees of the BVI and the 
Bundesverband der Deutschen Volksbanken und 
 Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR) [National Association of 
German Cooperative Banks]. At European level, Union 
Investment was heavily involved in a wide variety of 
working groups set up by the European Fund and Asset 
Management Association (EFAMA), the European um-
brella organization for the fund management sector. It 
also entered into dialog with other European regula-
tors and shared information with regional and European 
political representatives. 

�•��EU�Alternative�Investment�Fund�Managers�
Directive (AIFMD)

On December 12, 2012, the German government appro-
ved a draft version of legislation to implement Directive 
2011/61/EU on the managers of alternative investment 
funds (Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive 
Implementation Act (AIFM-UmsG)). This Act provides 
for the development of a Capital Investment Code 
(KAGB), which would create a cohesive set of standards 
for investment funds and their managers. The KAGB 
regulates both the managers of UCITS funds, which are 
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governed by the provisions of Directive 2009/65/EC, and 
the managers of alternative investment funds (AIFs) and 
open-ended and closed-end investment funds. The cur-
rent German Investment Act (InvG) will be superseded 
by the KAGB when it comes into force on July 22, 2013. 

The KAGB implements the AIFM Directive 2011/61/EU, 
integrates the provisions to implement the UCITS 
 Directive 2009/65/EC, and adopts provisions required 
to implement the EU regulation on venture capital 
funds and the EU regulation on European social entre-
preneurship funds. 

Managers of AIFs, such as mixed funds and special funds, 
will have to apply for approval as an AIF fund manage-
ment company before they can manage such funds. 
The deadline for applications is July 21, 2014. This date 
is also the cut-off for complying with the requirements 
of the KAGB. The requirements include rules governing 
the organization of the company and risk management. 
They also include new obligations to maintain trans-
parency for regulators and investors. Implementation of 
these requirements will be one of the Company’s main 
areas of activity in 2013. 

�•��New�regulations�under�the�German�Investor�
Protection and Functionality Improvement Act 
(AnsFuG) 

The German Investor Protection and Functionality Im-
provement Act (AnsFuG) was published in the German 
Federal Law Gazette on April 7, 2011. The objective  
of the AnsFuG is to improve the functioning of the ca-
pital markets, thereby restoring confidence in their 
 integrity. New regulations on open-ended real estate 
funds form one of the key areas covered by this act. 
The contractual conditions of such funds had to be 
amended to reflect the new act by January 1, 2013.
The main changes for real estate funds resulting from 
AnsFuG were as follows:

From January 1, 2013, it will continue to be possible 
to redeem units with a value of up to EUR 30,000 per 
calendar half-year (threshold) per fund and per inves-
tor at any time. This results in a maximum threshold 
per calendar year of EUR 60,000. Redemptions where 
the value of the units exceeds the threshold are also 
possible from the aforementioned date, but are subject 
to a minimum holding period and a redemption notice 
period. In such cases, units can be redeemed at the 
end of a minimum 24-month holding period and subject 
to twelve months’ notice (redemption notice period). 
The notice of redemption is irrevocable. Investors who 
acquired the units before the changed contractual 

conditions came into force (January 1, 2013) are 
deemed to have already complied with the minimum 
holding period.

A committee of experts will value the real estate every 
quarter in the future, amending the regular valuation 
cycle from annually to quarterly.

The permitted level of gearing will be reduced from 
50 percent to a maximum of 30 percent with effect 
from January 1, 2015.

Given the longer period of capital tie-up resulting from 
the new minimum holding period and redemption notice 
period, at least 50 percent of ordinary income will 
have to be distributed in the future, taking account of 
funds required for future renovations.

If, after twelve or 24 months after redemption of units 
has been suspended, there are insufficient liquid funds 
to satisfy all of the investors’ redemption requests, 
 assets can be sold even if the proceeds of the sale are 
10 percent or 20 percent below their market value.  
If liquid funds are still insufficient after 30 months, re-
demption of units has been suspended, or the fund 
management company suspends redemption of units 
for the third time within five years, the company’s  
right to manage the fund expires.

When a fund management company receives notice 
that its right to manage the fund will expire, it is entitled 
and obliged, in consultation with the custodian bank, 
to sell all of the real estate in this special fund at appro-
priate conditions or with the consent of the investors. 
If the resulting proceeds are not needed to ensure pro-
per ongoing management of the real estate and provi-
ded these proceeds do not need to be retained in the 
fund due to guarantee commitments arising out of the 
sale transactions or due to expected dispute costs,  
a half-yearly downpayment must be paid to investors.

•��Single�Euro�Payments�Area�

The advancement and implementation of the Lisbon 
Agenda – a program approved at a special summit of 
European heads of state and government held in the 
 Portuguese capital – allows for the establishment of a 
Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA), within which all pay-
ments are treated as domestic payments. The require-
ments of SEPA therefore govern three payment types: SEPA 
credit transfers, SEPA direct debits, and SEPA credit cards.

The SEPA payment types relevant to the business model 
of Union Investment Service Bank AG (USB) are credit 
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transfers and direct debits, which were introduced in the 
European payments market in January 2008 and 
 November 2009 respectively. Owing to the slow take-
up of SEPA payment transactions in the euro payments 
area, EU Regulation No. 260/2012 came into force on 
March 31, 2012 to specify the technical rules and 
business requirements for euro-denominated credit 
transfers and direct debits and to amend Regulation 
(EC) No. 924/2009 (hereinafter referred to as ‘SEPA 
Regulation’). Under the SEPA Regulation, national  
credit transfer and direct debit transactions will, from 
February 1, 2014, be replaced with SEPA transactions 
governed by standardized rules applicable across Eu-
rope. A transition period will apply between February 1, 
2014 and February 1, 2016 in which national lawma-
kers will be able to allow certain optional rules. With 
the SEPA Accompanying Act, German lawmakers have 
made use of the transitional rules permitted by the 
SEPA Regulation and, for example, provided for excep-
tions regarding electronic direct debits.

So that USB can continue to efficiently process payments 
for its business processes and services in the familiar 
form in accordance with the SEPA rules, USB has begun 
the SEPA implementation phase, having concluded its 
preliminary inhouse SEPA study. At the same time, USB 
is actively contributing to the SEPA implementation 
process on an ongoing basis through DZ BANK AG 
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank and the relevant 
institutions (BVI, BVR, Deutsche Bundesbank, and the 
European Commission).

•��Tax�requirements

Germany introduced a flat-rate withholding tax effective 
January 1, 2009. In the period since then, modifica-
tions and adjustments have been made to the flat-rate 
withholding tax system in various laws and detailed 
interpretative decisions issued by the German finance 
ministry. Subsequent to the implementation of the 
UCITS Directive by means of the UCITS IV Implementa-
tion Act, fundamental reforms effective 2012 have also 
been applied to the system for deducting withholding 
tax on capital yields, including in respect of mutual 
funds. Since then, the deduction of this withholding tax 
has been the responsibility of the last depositary in 
Germany that makes relevant payouts. In the case of 
special funds, since 2012 the fund has deducted the 
withholding tax from all income, whether distributions 
or reinvestments, and the fund management company 
has prepared the tax certificates.

In February 2012, a working group set up by the Ger-
man tax authorities submitted a draft for the reorgani-

zation of taxation on invested assets. Although it was 
welcomed in principle by the finance ministers of the 
federal states, no further action is currently being taken. 
The findings of an expert report about the impact on 
capital markets and pension schemes will be published 
first.

In the United States, the Foreign Account Tax Compli-
ance Act of 2009 (FATCA) was passed on March 18, 
2010 as part of the Hiring Incentives to Restore Em-
ployment Act (HIRE). As a result, a new section has 
been added to US tax legislation. This section deals, 
among other things, with tax-related disclosure requi-
rements and, under certain circumstances, the pay-
ment of a 30 percent withholding tax in respect of US 
persons who invest either in or via non-US vehicles. 
FATCA will be implemented as part of a bilateral in-
tergovernmental agreement (IGA) between the United 
States and Germany. The new rules come into force  
in 2014.

III. Research and development 

1. Retail clients

•�Product�innovation�

In 2012, product policy in business with retail clients 
was again driven by investors’ risk aversion, the  
aims and wishes of customers and members of the 
local cooperative banks, and the resulting require-
ments in relation to pension provision and wealth 
accumulation.

•�Guarantee�funds�and�capital� 
preservation funds

Given the continuation of the European sovereign 
debt crisis, investors continued to be highly risk averse. 
This was illustrated once again by the demand for 
 types of investment based on capital preserva tion. 
Product design continued to reflect the tough market 
conditions consisting of low interest rates and per-
sistent heightened volatility. A combination of readily 
marketable investment themes such as German equi-
ties, commodities, renewable energies, and innovative 
concepts such as a guarantee fund combining multiple 
asset classes once again proved to be ideally suited  
to investors’ needs. Subscriptions for the nine newly 
launched guarantee funds totaled approximately  
EUR 1.064 billion. Union Investment remains the market 
leader in capital preservation funds with total  mutual 
fund assets of EUR 14.5 billion under ma nagement.
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•�Other�fund�launches

The product range was expanded with the launch of 
the global equity fund UniGlobal II and the mixed fund 
UniRak Nachhaltig. The latter takes account of ethical, 
social, and environmental criteria in the selection of 
 issuers. Both products are used as part of UniProfiRente 
Select along with other funds. Moreover, UniRak 
Nachhaltig has been integrated as a suitable fund for 
UniNachWuchs, a new fund-linked savings plan for 
children and young people that combines sustainability 
aspects with the need to provide for children financially.

•�Fund�asset�management

The PrivatFonds range continues to generate a steady 
stream of inflows, which totaled EUR 414 million in 
2012. As at December 31, 2012, the total fund value 
for PrivatFonds products amounted to approximately 
EUR 1.8 billion.

•�Personal�pension�products�

Personal pension products are an important factor in 
Union Investment’s success.

Government-subsidized (‘Riester’) pension plan products 
have become established as a key component of private 
pension provision in Germany. Riester fund-linked 
 savings plans are seen as an adequate way of accumu-
lating a nest egg for retirement. Union Investment 
maintained its leadership of the market for subsidized, 
fund-linked Riester contracts with a market share of 
62.6 percent in 2012 based on its UniProfiRente Riester 
fund-linked savings plan. Union Investment managed 
around 1.9 million UniProfiRente contracts at the end 
of 2012. The total assets under management in Riester 
pension plan products amounted to EUR 7.7 billion. 

A new umbrella campaign for Riester pension plan 
products was launched in autumn 2012 with the aim 
of winning new customers for the products. Union 
 Investment offers suitable Riester solutions for all cus-
tomers with its products UniProfiRente and UniProfi-
Rente Select (launched in October 2012). UniProfiRente 
Select aims to persuade new target groups to take  
out a Riester pension, in particular customers who are 
about to retire and want to increase their provision  
for old age, customers looking for a safe investment 
with guaranteed returns, and customers who want  
to be able to adjust the funds in the opportunity com-
ponent at any time.

2. Institutional clients

Union Investment’s Institutional Clients segment enjo-
yed a highly successful year in 2012. Its net inflows 
(including advisory and institutional asset management 
mandates) came to EUR 8.8 billion (compared with 
just over EUR 2.1 billion in 2011). It won a total of  
41 new clients during the reporting year, 35 of which 
came from outside the cooperative sector. The 
net  inflows generated by new clients amounted to 
EUR 2.3 billion. 

Given the significant reduction in risk budgets, the 
risk-controlled achievement of the minimum required 
rates of return in a fundamentally transformed invest-
ment environment constituted the key challenge for 
 institutional investors. This had an impact on asset 
 allocation. As an alternative to government bonds, which 
had previously been dominant, Pfandbriefe and 
 covered bonds were particularly in demand, as were 
emerging market bonds and corporate bonds. In addi-
tion, institutional investors increasingly turned to  
real estate. They also became bolder about alternative 
investments, with a particular focus on infrastructure 
investments in the area of renewable energies.

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 
(Quoniam), which is a member of the Union Investment 
Group, delivered an impressive performance in Germany 
and other European countries in 2012. Its customer 
base was strengthened by nine new clients and additi-
onal assets under management totaling EUR 1.2 billion. 
Quoniam operates as a specialist in quantitative in-
vestment strategies across all asset classes. It currently 
manages assets of EUR 17.5 billion in over 125 insti-
tutional portfolios. As a leading provider of quantitative 
asset management in Germany, it is the country’s most 
successful firm to be set up in this market segment 
over the past ten years.

Union Investment TFI S.A., Warsaw, which also forms 
part of the Union Investment Group, faced a challen-
ging year in 2012 overall. The company is the eleventh 
largest fund management company in Poland with a 
market share (based on assets under management) of 
4.6 percent. 

BEA Union Investment Management Limited,  
Hong Kong, a joint venture set up together with  
The Bank of East Asia Limited, Hong Kong, maintained 
its successful trajectory with net inflows in excess of 
EUR 329 million. Assets under management rose by 
25 percent.
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3. Outlook for 2013

•�Retail�clients

Marketing activities in 2013 will focus on pension pro-
ducts, real estate funds, capital preservation funds, 
 savings plans, and the PrivatFonds funds for high-net-
worth individuals. The pro:fund information system  
will support these activities with capital market data. 
 Given clients’ continuing aversion to risk, guarantee 
funds will continue to play an important role in 2013. 
Our current planning assumptions anticipate that 
 there will be four tranches, each with two funds. A total 
of 19 mutual funds that are marketed centrally will  
be liquidated with effect from June 28, 2013 in order 
to streamline the product range. 

•�Institutional�clients

Investment conditions in 2013 will continue to be do-
minated by low interest rates, low risk budgets on the 
part of institutional investors, and increasing regulatory 
pressure. Active management of opportunities will 
therefore be a critical component of portfolio manage-
ment. This will require diversification across the widest 
possible range of asset classes, regions, and sectors. 
Union Investment supports institutional investors by 
providing them with exactly the solutions they need in 
the present capital markets environment. In particular, 
suitable solutions were offered for prudent, risk-adjusted 
investments in equities. Union Investment will continue 
to consolidate its role as a leading provider of sustai-
nable products in 2013.

One of the basic principles of a state-of-the-art risk 
management system is that it should include a rigorous 
process for permanent critical scrutiny of risk models. 
To this end, Union Investment seeks to share informa-
tion with academic researchers and, as a platform for 
this dialog, will be organizing its eighth risk management 
conference in November.

IV.  Report of the Board of  
Managing Directors on relationships 
with affiliated companies

With regard to the legal transactions and measures listed 
in the report on relationships with affiliated companies, 
the Company received appropriate consideration in 
 respect of each legal transaction based on the circum-
stances of which the Board of Managing Directors was 
aware at the time the legal transaction was carried out 
or the measure was taken. The Company was not dis-
advantaged as a result of measures being taken.

The Company did not refrain, on the order of or in the 
interest of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossen-
schaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main (DZ BANK AG), or one 
of its affiliated companies, from measures that might 
have been advantageous to the Company based on the 
circumstances of which the Board of Managing Directors 
was aware. 

C Financial performance

In the year under review, net interest income after 
 allowances for losses on loans and receivables 
increased by EUR 4.2 million year on year to EUR 15.8 
million. This increase was predominantly attributable 
to income from long-term equity investments at Union 
Investment Real Estate GmbH, which it received from 
its French subsidiary Union Investment Real Estate 
France S.A.S. 

Net fee and commission income rose by EUR 39.9 
million year on year to EUR 864.0 million in 2012. The 
main factor in this rise was the growth in the average 
volume of assets under management, which meant 
that directly volume-related income was significantly 
higher than in 2011. 

Other gains and losses on the valuation of financial 
 instruments amounted to gains of EUR 16.5 million in 
2012 compared with losses of EUR 9.2 million in 2011. 
The far better performance seen in the capital markets 
compared with the previous year led to an increase in 
the fair values of investments. 

The profit/loss from companies accounted for using 
the equity method amounted to a loss of EUR 0.8 
million, a smaller loss than the previous year’s figure.  
This line item reflects the Union Investment Group’s 
share of the profit or loss in R+V Pensionsfonds 
 Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden, compertis Beratungs-
gesellschaft für betriebliches Vorsorgemanagement 
mbH, Wiesbaden, BEA Union Investment Management 
Limited, and Nalinus GmbH, Frankfurt am Main.  
The smaller loss than in 2011 was largely attributable 
to a better performance at BEA Union Investment 
 Management Limited.

Administrative expenses fell by EUR 4.6 million  
from EUR 585.1 million in 2011 to EUR 580.5 million 
in 2012.

Staff expenses for the reporting year amounted to 
EUR 284.1 million (2011: EUR 272.0 million). The 
 year-on-year increase of EUR 12.1 million was largely 
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attributable to the growth in headcount in 2011/2012, 
average salary increases in 2012, and higher expenses 
for the partial retirement scheme and old-age pensions.

Other administrative expenses declined by  
EUR 16.9 million from EUR 298.7 million in 2011  
to EUR 281.8 million in 2012. This decrease was 
 primarily attributable to lower costs for marketing  
and IT infrastructure.

Depreciation and amortization expense remained 
 virtually unchanged at EUR 14.6 million in 2012 
(2011: EUR 14.4 million).

Other net operating income decreased by 
EUR 36.0 million year on year, resulting in a net 
 expense of EUR 8.4 million in the reporting  
period. The change was accounted for, in particular,  
by provisions for the restructuring costs expected  
as a result of a project to ensure Union Investment 
 remains fit for purpose in the future, reduced  
income from repricing of provisions, and recognition  
of a provision for general tax audit risks.

Income taxes amounted to EUR 86.0 million in the 
year under review, up by EUR 17.6 million compared 
with 2011. The increase in income taxes was due,  
on the one hand, to a higher profit before taxes and, 
on the other, to off-balance-sheet tax adjustments.

The overall impact of the changes described  
above was an improvement of EUR 23.3 million  
in net profit, bringing it to EUR 220.6 million  
(2011: EUR 197.3 million). 

2012 2011 Change

EUR million EUR million EUR million

Interest

Interest income from loans, money market business, and fixed-income 
securities

1.2 2.7 -1.5

Current income from variable-yield securities 16.9 11.4 5.5

Interest expenses 2.3 2.5 -0.2

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net interest income after allowances for losses on loans and 
receivables

15.8 11.6 4.2

Fees and commissions

Fee and commission income 1,270.8 1,223.8 47.0

Fee and commission expenses 406.8 399.7 7.1

Net fee and commission income 864.0 824.1 39.9

Gains and losses on investments 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 16.5 -9.2 25.7

Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the equity method -0.8 -3.3 2.5

Administrative expenses

Staff expenses 284.1 272.0 12.1

Other administrative expenses 281.8 298.7 -16.9

Depreciation and amortization expense 14.6 14.4 0.2

Administrative expenses 580.5 585.1 -4.6

Other net operating income -8.4 27.6 -36.0

Profit before taxes 306.6 265.7 40.9

Income taxes 86.0 68.4 17.6

Net profit  220.6 197.3 23.3

Attributable to:

  Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 217.7 193.7 24.0

  Non-controlling interests 2.9 3.6 -0.7
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D Financial position 

I. Overview of financial position

The following table shows a summary of the individual 
items on the consolidated balance sheet by financial 
category:

Assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR million Percent EUR million Percent EUR million

Loans to and receivables from

banks 482.8 33.5 265.1 19.7 217.7

customers 57.0 4.0 40.9 3.0 16.1

Investments 589.9 41.0 746.8 55.4 -156.9

Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method 63.7 4.4 66.5 4.9 -2.8

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 108.6 7.5 99.6 7.4 9.0

Income tax assets 28.8 2.0 11.4 0.8 17.4

Residual assets 84.1 5.8 93.5 6.9 -9.4

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 25.0 1.8 24.9 1.9 0.1

Total assets 1,439.9 100.0 1,348.7 100.0 91.2

Liabilities and equity Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR million Percent EUR million Percent EUR million

Liabilities to 

banks 22.9 1.6 32.7 2.4 -9.8

customers 0.1 0.0 0.7 0.1 -0.6

Provisions 179.6 12.5 116.9 8.7 62.7

Income tax liabilities 64.8 4.5 85.3 6.3 -20.5

Residual liabilities 445.7 30.9 415.0 30.7 30.7

Equity 726.8 50.5 698.1 51.8 28.7

Total liabilities and equity 1,439.9 100.0 1,348.7 100.0 91.2

Total assets increased slightly year on year to 
EUR 1,439.9 million. In accordance with the standards 
for the presentation of balance sheet information in 
the financial services sector, the volumes of the Union 
Investment Group’s investment funds and assets in 
other types of asset management format are not repor-
ted on the balance sheet. 

The key asset items on the consolidated balance  
sheet are investments and current bank balances. 
Investments consist almost exclusively of investments  
in investment funds managed by fund management 
companies in the Union Investment Group. The func-
tion and breakdown of these investments is explained 
in the ‘Funding and liquidity protection’ section. 

Of the total decrease in the carrying amount of 
shares in companies accounted for using the equity 
method, EUR 3.1 million was attributable to by Nali-
nus GmbH, Frankfurt am Main. The carrying amounts 
of shares in other companies accounted for using the 
equity method increased. 

Additions to property, plant and equipment amoun-
ted to EUR 2.1 million, while the depreciation 
expense came to EUR 3.4 million. Taking into account 
other changes, the net carrying amount reduced by 
EUR 1.4 million from EUR 52.2 million at the end of 
2011 to EUR 50.8 million as at December 31, 2012. 

Additions to intangible assets amounted to 
EUR 21.6 million in the year under review, which 
was partially offset by an amortization expense of 
EUR 11.4 million. Taking into account other chan-
ges, the net carrying amount increased by EUR 10.4 
million from EUR 47.4 million at the end of 2011 to 
EUR 57.8 million as at December 31, 2012.

Other assets included receivables of EUR 60.1 
million due from fund assets (December 31, 2011: 
EUR 56.8 million). This amount primarily comprised 
 unbilled management fee receivables for the month  
of December.
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The drop in liabilities to banks of EUR 9.8 million 
from EUR 32.7 million to EUR 22.9 million was largely 
 attributable to lower fee and commission liabilities in 
connection with fund unit trading.

The year-on-year increase of EUR 62.7 million in 
provisions from EUR 116.9 million to EUR 179.6 
million was for the most part accounted for by a rise 
of EUR 36.9 million in provisions for defined benefit 
 obligations, a rise of EUR 17.0 million in provisions  
for employee termination benefits, and a rise of 
EUR 4.1 million in provisions for other long-term 
employee benefits. Other provisions increased by 
EUR 4.8 million.

The equity ratio went up by 1.3 percentage points  
year on year to 50.5 percent (December 31, 2011: 
51.8 percent).

II.  Non-financial Indicators

1. Employees

The Union Investment Group’s workforce is critical  
to its performance, future profitability, and competi-
tiveness. The Union Investment Group pursues an 
 innovative, needs-oriented professional development 
strategy in order to provide the best possible frame-
work in which it can nurture the capabilities and com-
mitment of its employees in line with their responsibi-
lities and potential. Some EUR 2.1 million (2011: 
EUR 3.0 million) was invested in professional develop-
ment activities in total in 2012.

Target-driven people management and the use of per-
formance-related remuneration help to ensure that 
employees at all levels learn to think and act from a 
business perspective. Employee motivation and com-
mitment to this target-based approach are also en-
couraged by variable remuneration components based 
on individual performance targets.

As at December 31, 2012, UMH AG had 229 emplo-
yees (December 31, 2011: 273 employees) with an 
average age of 40.8 (December 31, 2011: 40.1) and 
an average period of service of 8.9 years (December 
31, 2011: 7.5 years). At the end of the year under 
 review, the Union Investment Group employed 2,450 
people (2011: 2,443 people). Across the Group as  
a whole, the average age of employees was 40.3 
 (December 31, 2011: 40.2) and the average period of 
service 9.0 years (December 31, 2011: 8.5 years).

In view of the current and forecast economic condi-
tions, the Union Investment Group decided on a wide 
range of efficiency measures as part of a project to 
 ensure it remains fit for purpose in the future. These 
measures will have various effects at UMH AG and in 
the Union Investment Group as a whole, including  
job losses to be implemented by 2015, extensive re-
structuring, and employee transfers.

2.  Other non-financial indicators:  
brand performance

There was a slight improvement in the majority of the 
traditional parameter values used to measure brand 
performance in 2012. Prompted recognition of the 
Union Investment brand throughout Germany rose 
from 58.1 percent in December 2011 to 60 percent in 
December 2012. Prompted advertising recall increased 
from 26.5 percent in December 2011 to 28.2 percent 
in December 2012. Willingness to buy Union invest-
ment funds fell from 18.2 percent at the end of 2011 to 
14.7 percent in December 2012, bringing it to roughly 
the average level for the past two years. 

In a comparison with the performance of competitor 
brands, the picture established over the last few years 
remained largely unchanged: Union Investment remained 
well ahead of competitors in terms of the strength of 
its brand. This brand therefore constitutes a valuable 
asset for the Union Investment Group over the long term. 

3. Statement of cash flows 

The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to deter-
mine and present the cash flows generated or used by 
the Union Investment Group in its operating activities, 
investing activities, and financing activities in the year 
under review.

Statement of cash flows 2012 2011

EUR million EUR million

Cash flows from operating 
activities

1.7 381.8

Cash flows from investing 
activities

164.2 -201.9

Cash flows from financing 
activities

-165.9 -179.9

= Net change in cash and  
cash equivalents 

0.0 0.0

+ Cash and cash equivalents  
at the beginning of the year

0.1 0.1

= Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year

0.1 0.1
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A statement of cash flows is not particularly meaning-
ful as far as investment companies are concerned. The 
Union Investment Group’s statement of cash flows 
does not replace financial or liquidity planning, nor is 
it used as a management tool.

For a definition of cash and cash equivalents please 
refer to the statement of cash flows disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements, which include a 
 detailed presentation of the statement of cash flows 
shown here in a condensed version. 

The cash flows from operating activities were 
determined using the indirect method and provide 
information on the cash flows from the results of the 
main activities recognized in the income statement 
and from changes in balance sheet items from the 
Union Investment Group’s business activities that are 
not attributable to investing or financing activities. 
These cash flows  demonstrate the Union Investment 
Group’s ability to generate cash from its operating 
activities and from  
its own resources in order to meet its obligations, 
maintain its operations, pay dividends, and support 
 capital expenditure without having to resort to exter-
nal sources of funding.

The main features of the cash flows from investing 
 activities in the year under review were cash receipts 
of EUR 730.7 million from the disposal of investments 
and cash payments of EUR 542.8 to acquire invest-
ments. In addition, cash payments of EUR 21.6 million 
were attributable to software projects and payments 
of EUR 2.1 million related to capital expenditure on 
other property, plant and equipment. On the other side 
of the equation, cash flows included cash receipts of 
EUR 0.2 million from the disposal of intangible assets.

In accordance with the definition in IAS 7.17, cash 
flows from financing activities comprised cash flows 
arising from transactions with equity holders and 
other shareholders in consolidated subsidiaries, from 
other capital, and from the drawdown and repayment 
of loans and other borrowings. Of the total cash  
flows from financing activities in the year under review, 
EUR 150.2 million was attributable to the dividend 
payments by UMH AG for the 2011 financial year, 
EUR 3.3 million to distributions by subsidiaries of 
UMH AG in favor of non-controlling interests, and 
EUR 12.4 million to other changes in consolidated 
equity.

III.  Funding and liquidity protection

Principles and objectives of  
financial management

All cash and cash equivalents available in the Group’s 
own bank accounts and investment accounts are 
termed ‘financial resources’. We pursue a conservative 
investment strategy.

Cash flows are continuously analyzed and monitored 
as part of a rolling liquidity planning process so that 
prompt action can be taken to counter any liquidity 
problems that may be identified. Liquidity manage-
ment begins with the management of cash flows from 
the Group’s operating business. This is supported by 
tactical liquidity management, which focuses specifi-
cally on the selection of investment alternatives. Stress 
tests are regularly carried out as a further element in 
the strategy in order to assess the impact of changes 
in interest rates on the Group’s cash positions.

Financial resources are classified in various 
categories according to the following criteria.

Short-term investments for liquidity management 
purposes (‘liquidity’): If financial resources are expec-
ted to be invested for less than three years, they are 
allocated to the ‘liquidity’ category. Investments for 
liquidity management purposes include cash accounts, 
time deposits, money market and money-market-
linked funds, and fixed-income funds. 

Initial funding (‘funding’): Investment funds are 
initially funded on the basis of each fund profile with 
funds transferred from the issuing company’s short-term 
investments used for liquidity management. Initial 
 funding is repaid as soon as possible to the short-term 
investments used for liquidity management. In addition, 
temporary investments in funds used to protect the 
 liquidity of these funds are allocated to the ‘funding’ 
category.

Investment in pension plans and employee reten-
tion programs (‘employee investments’): All cash 
invested by employees of the Union Investment Group 
as part of pension plans and employee retention 
programs is allocated to this investment category. 

Longer-term capital investments (‘strategic in-
vestments’): Strategic investments are investments 
in funds or securities that are selected on the basis 
of risk/reward criteria and are expected to be held 
for at least three years as part of long-term liquidity 
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planning. The expected term of the investment is de-
termined before the Group enters into the transaction 
concerned.

The four categories of financial resources are subject 
to constant risk monitoring and are broken down as 
follows:

‘Funding’ includes an amount of EUR 50.0 million 
(2011: EUR 230.0 million) related to investments in 
funds to protect fund liquidity.

The table below shows the total balance of cash and 
cash equivalents.

DZ BANK AG has provided UMH AG with a credit 
line of EUR 850.0 million, which was granted under 
a framework loan agreement and is available until 
further notice. This credit line has been provided to 
facilitate possible temporary funding should UMH AG 
need to purchase fund units. The current credit line 
has not been fully utilized. 

Given the financial resources at its disposal and the 
credit lines available at present, we expect to be in a 
position to service our currently budgeted liabilities 
and investment obligations from our cash and cash 
equivalents at any time.

IV. Dividend

As in previous years, a very substantial proportion of 
the earnings generated by UMH AG will be distributed 
to its shareholders. It is planned to propose a dividend 
of EUR 5.17 per share to the Annual General Meeting 
to be held on May 13, 2013, which is unchanged on 
the dividend proposed at the 2012 AGM. This would 
equate to a total dividend payment of EUR 150.2 mil-
lion once again. The Supervisory Board of UMH AG 
approved the proposed appropriation of profit at its 
meeting held on February 27, 2013.

E Events after the balance  
sheet date 

There were no events of particular significance after 
the end of the financial year.

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR 
million

Percent EUR 
million

Percent EUR million 

Securities 608.0 58.6 765.1 78.5 -157.1

Bank balances 429.9 41.4 209.2 21.5 220.7

Total balance 
of cash and 
cash 
equivalents

1,037.9 100.0 974.3 100.0 63.6
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Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR 
million

Percent EUR 
million

Percent EUR million 

Liquidity 183.0 30.1 172.6 22.5 10.4

Funding 134.0 22.0 310.5 40.6 -176.5

Employee 
investments

59.5 9.8 48.8 6.4 10.7

Strategic 
investments

231.5 38.1 233.2 30.5 -1.7

Total 
securities

608.0 100.0 765.1 100.0 -157.1



F  Risk report

I.  Opportunities and risks

1.  Proven systems for identifying and 
 managing opportunities and risks

The Union Investment Group is an asset manager and 
its performance is therefore influenced to a large de-
gree by trends in real estate markets and capital mar-
kets. These markets continued to be heavily influenced 
by the European sovereign debt crisis. Nonetheless, all 
of the key capital market segments delivered a highly 
positive performance last year. Even in this ambivalent 
environment, the Union Investment Group holds firm 
to its value-driven policy, the long-term objective of 
which is to generate a sustained increase in enterpri-
se value taking into account a balance of risks and 
rewards. The Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG 
therefore attaches great importance to the highly skilled 
management of opportunities and risks. 

Internal management systems are designed so that 
opportunities and risks can be identified as early as 
possible, monitored on a regular basis, and actively 
managed. This allows the Group to exploit business 
opportunities taking into account profitability and  
the Group’s capacity to assume risk. To achieve these 
objectives, the balanced scorecard and risk manage-
ment systems have been combined in practice.

The Union Investment Group offers asset management 
solutions for retail clients and institutional investors. Op-
portunities arise from the skillful management of existing 
products and from the development of new products 
and solutions that are closely tailored to clients’ needs 
and factor in the potential risks and rewards  involved.

The active management of the risks inherent in products 
and investment fund assets is of crucial importance in 
asset management. Union Investment has established 
a reputation as a risk manager and uses various invest-
ment styles, capital preservation concepts, and profes-
sional risk management methods that take account of 
investors’ risk appetite. 

Fund-linked solutions for retirement pensions form 
one of Union Investment’s key product groups for 
 retail clients. This product group has enabled Union 
 Investment to maintain its excellent market position 
and will continue to yield lucrative opportunities in  
the light of demographic trends in Germany and the 
inadequate coverage provided by statutory pension 
 insurance. 

The UMH Group is exploiting the international growth 
potential available by investing in certain markets, such 
as Hong Kong and Poland. 

The systematic exploitation of these opportunities is a 
critical factor in safeguarding the Union Investment 
Group’s competitive position – and, consequently, its 
profitability – over the long term. 

However, its operating performance is influenced not 
only by the aforementioned opportunities but also by 
various types of risk.

Operational risk: is the risk of losses that may arise 
as a consequence of inadequate or defective internal 
procedures and systems, human error or external 
events. In comparison with other risks, operational risk 
is extremely important because the Union Investment 
Group’s business activities focus on the provision of 
services for third parties and not on the assumption of 
risk for the Group’s own account.

Market risk is the risk of losses on financial instru-
ments arising from changes in market prices or in the 
parameters that influence prices (interest rates, share 
prices, fund prices, etc.) and the risk of losses arising 
from adverse changes in market liquidity. Market 
risk results from the own-account investments of the 
 companies in the Union Investment Group and from 
contractually agreed obligations to make up capital 
shortfalls to investors in guarantee products.

Business risk comprises the risk of losses arising from 
earnings volatility which, for a given business strate-
gy, is caused in the short term (up to one year)  
by a change in external conditions or parameters 
(for example, the economic or product environment, 
 customer behavior, competitive situation). Reputational 
risk also comes under the heading of business risk. 
Earnings volatility can be caused by changes in assets 
under management triggered by negative returns on 
investment fund assets or from outflows of investors’ 
funds. 

Reputational risk means the risk of losses from events 
that damage the confidence of customers, distributors, 
shareholders, the labor market, or the general public 
in Union Investment or in the products and services 
it offers. Measurement of business risk incorporates 
 reputational risk.

Equity risk can arise from long-term equity invest-
ments in entities in cases where the risk attaching, for 
example, to a minority shareholding has not been 
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s eparately and accurately measured. This type of risk  
is of minor importance compared with the aggregate 
risk involved.

Liquidity risk is the loss that can arise if insufficient 
funds are available to meet payment obligations on 
the due date (liquidity risk in the narrower sense) 
or if a requirement for funding can only be satisfied 
on  unfavorable terms (funding risk). Active planning 
and control of liquidity aims to ensure that the Union 
 Investment Group and its companies can meet their 
payment obligations at all times. To this end, they  utilize 
the resources available within the DZ BANK Group. 
 Liquidity items largely relate to the Union Investment 
Group companies’ investment of their own funds. 

2. Risk management system

The Union Investment Group operates a risk manage-
ment system (RMS) to address the aforementioned 
risks. The RMS is a continuous process that incorporates 
all organizational measures and procedures for iden-
tifying, measuring, monitoring, and managing risk. The 
RMS is organized in compliance with regulatory requi-
rements in such a way that the companies in the 
 Union Investment Group are able to meet their regula-
tory risk management obligations independently, and  
it also provides a groupwide system for fully integrated 
risk management. 

The Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG bears 
overall responsibility for the risk management of the 
Union Investment Group as a whole. However, risk 
management is then devolved locally to the company 
directors and process owners who are responsible for 
the management of risk in the individual business 
 processes throughout the Group. The groupwide risk 
strategy categorizes the material types of risk identi-
fied, defines the fundamental risk measurement 
 methods used, and provides detailed guidance on how 
to deal with the risk concerned. The risk strategies 
used by the Union Investment Group companies are 
consistent with the groupwide strategy. 

The Risk Management Committee (RMC) is the central 
risk committee in the Union Investment Group. The 
RMC met eleven times as scheduled during the year 
under review. The Risk Manager and the central risk 
management unit are charged by the Board of 
 Managing Directors with ensuring the integrity of the 
groupwide RMS. Appropriate risk measurement and 
management procedures have been devised for all the 
material risk types and risk concentrations identified. 

Quarterly risk reports on UMH AG and the main 
 companies in the Union Investment Group are prepa-
red for their senior management teams and super-
visory boards as part of the regular reporting cycle. 

The internal audit department reviews the integrity 
and effectiveness of the RMS on an annual basis.

The Union Investment Group forms an integral part of 
the risk management system in the DZ BANK Group.

3. Risk measurement and management

The objectives of the risk measurement and manage-
ment processes in the Union Investment Group are to 
identify changes in risk at an early stage and mitigate 
their impact or to actively avoid them before they arise. 
If risks are assumed, they should have the potential to 
generate a commensurate financial return.

In order to ensure that the Union Investment Group 
and its companies continue to survive as going con-
cerns, their ability to bear risk is regularly monitored as 
part of the economic risk and capital management 
system. The material types of risk are limited in ac-
cordance with the risk strategy and the aggregate risk 
cover available and are backed by risk capital. This in-
volves limiting the maximum risk permitted by the risk 
appetite in the form of upper loss limits in such a way 
that the survival of the Union Investment Group and 
its companies as going concerns is not put at risk. This 
process incorporates the effects of diversification bet-
ween the different risk types. Independent experts use 
industry standards and methods to calculate the risk 
capital required and monitor the upper loss limits. 
 Union Investment carries out regular stress tests in re-
spect of the main types of risk. 

Data on risk indicators is regularly collected and aggre-
gated into 22 risks as part of the groupwide early-
warning system. If predefined tolerance limits are ex-
ceeded, the system triggers an early warning that 
prompts those responsible for risk management to 
conduct a causal analysis and implement risk mitigation 
measures. The early warnings generated by the system 
therefore guarantee that corrective action will be initi-
ated in good time. The early warning system primarily 
covers operational risk and business risk but also in-
cludes risks that can arise from outsourced functions 
and reputational risk. In addition, the Union Investment 
Group has an ad-hoc reporting system for the early 
identification of exceptional risk situations that require 
immediate action.
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Further tools are added to the early-warning system 
specifically for assessing operational risk. A self-assess-
ment process is carried out at regular intervals. Any 
potential risks identified during self-assessment are 
used, among other things, to update the risk map and 
risk inventory as well as to review the early-warning 
system. The loss database is used to systematically 
capture and document the losses arising from operati-
onal risk as well as to analyze the causes of these 
 losses. Operational risk is quantified using the Standar-
dized Approach as specified by the German Solvency 
Regulation (SolvV). 

The risk of contravening legal or contractually agreed 
investment guidelines and of other interaction between 
fund assets and companies in the Group is mitigated 
by continuously monitoring the risk level of fund assets.

Potential HR risks are mitigated by HR activities that 
are consistent with the Group’s business objectives, 
 including the requirement for strict separation of ma-
nagement and control functions to limit the risk of 
 financial crime. All staff are required to comply with 
the statutory regulations and to take responsibility for 
data confidentiality.

Process risks – particularly those relating to standard 
processes and high-volume business – are regularly 
monitored in the form of risk indicators. The early war-
nings generated by the indicator system trigger action 
for preventing errors and enhancing efficiency.

The Group IT security policy sets out the general para-
meters for IT security. The main objective of this policy is 
to ensure availability of data, applications and services 
as well as data integrity and confidentiality at a defined 
level of security. 

Outsourcing IT systems operations to specialist service 
providers reduces technology risks. The Union Investment 
Group limits potential risks arising from outsourcing 
by carefully selecting and managing its service providers 
and by using clearly defined service level agreements 
and IT security standards. Any significant outsourced 
operations are integrated into the RMS.

The risk of business disruptions, loss of major external 
service providers, or other critical situations – e.g. due 
to external factors – is covered by a comprehensive 
crisis management system and disaster recovery plan. 

Comprehensive legal checks are carried out in 
 connection with product launches and contractual 
 negotiations to reduce legal risks. 

Market risk arising in connection with own-account in-
vestments by companies in the Group is monitored 
and managed by a planning committee using a value-
at-risk approach that incorporates a loss-limitation 
strategy. On December 28, 2012 (the last trading day 
of 2012), the value-at-risk based on a confidence level 
of 99 percent and a holding period of one trading day 
amounted to EUR 1.5 million (December 30, 2011: 
EUR 2.1 million). The Group generally pursues a conser-
vative, long-term strategy for its own-account invest-
ments. The monies are primarily invested in the Group’s 
own investment funds. In turn, these funds are subject 
to regular liquidity and risk monitoring. There is no 
 active trading, although any specific opportunities pre-
sented by the capital markets are exploited.

Market risk attaching to contractually agreed obligations 
to make up capital shortfalls to investors in guarantee 
products is also regularly monitored and managed. 
Risks are quantified using suitable models and statistical 
methods depending on the structure of the product 
concerned. As at the balance sheet date, Union Invest-
ment Privatfonds GmbH was subject to a capital 
 requirement (total amount set aside including recog-
nized allowances for losses and loans on receivables) 
for UniProfiRente, the government-subsidized 
 (‘Riester’) pension plan product, of EUR 2.3 million 
(December 31, 2011: EUR 1.2 million). The guarantee 
funds of Union Investment Luxembourg S.A. resulted 
in a capital requirement obligation for the Group in 
accordance with SolvV of EUR 0.3 million as at the 
balance sheet date (December 31, 2011: EUR 0.4 mil-
lion). The earnings volatility that underlies business 
risk is essentially caused by negative returns on invest-
ment fund assets or from outflows of investors’ funds. 
The main factors that influence assets under manage-
ment and earnings are integral elements of strategic 
planning and management.

The principles of liquidity management are described 
in section D III ‘Funding and liquidity protection’ of the 
report on business performance.

4. Risk position in the year under review

Union Investment was faced with an ambivalent 
environment last year. On the one hand, all of the key 
capital market segments delivered a highly positive 
performance, which was reflected in the returns 
achieved for investors and the growth in assets under 
management. However, the situation appears very 
fragile owing to the economic imbalances that exist 
worldwide. In particular, the European sovereign debt 
crisis has still not been resolved, although politicians 
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are making an effort to ensure it does not escalate 
further.

Furthermore, there are many new and amended regu-
latory requirements. A great deal of work was required 
to implement them, and they impacted on asset 
managers’ business models, sometimes significantly.

Despite this challenging climate, Union Investment 
products have benefited from the positive trends seen 
recently. All of the key asset classes performed posi-
tively. These trends and the encouragingly high level of 
net inflows boosted operating profit.

Events in 2012 did not have a material impact on the 
guarantee products launched by Union Investment. 
The guarantee commitment will be honored for all funds.

The Union Investment Group adopts a conservative 
approach to its own-account investing activities. None 
of the companies in the Group undertakes trading 
activities specifically in pursuit of short-term gain. 
The heightened market volatility and action taken to 
safeguard fund liquidity also led to corresponding 
fluctuations in the value-at-risk, the approach taken to 
measure market risk.

There were no operational risks worthy of mention. In-
dividual high-risk trends were mitigated by specific 
corrective action taken as part of the risk management 
process.

The Union Investment Group’s ability to bear risk was 
not impaired at any time. Throughout the reporting 
year the Union Investment Group remained within the 
upper loss limit specified for its business.

At no point in 2012 was the survival of the Union 
 Investment Group or its companies as going concerns 
at risk. As dictated by prudent business practice, provi-
sions were recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements to cover business and tax risks. The solvency 
of the Union Investment Group was never in jeopardy 
at any point in the year under review.

The risk management system is fit for the purpose  
of identifying at an early stage any risks to the Union 
Investment Group’s survival as a going concern.
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II.  Outlook 

Looking ahead, Union Investment expects conditions 
in the capital markets to be characterized by the ‘new 
equilibrium’, with shorter cycles, heightened volatility, 
and a lower level of returns overall. The assessment 
for 2013 is more cautiously optimistic than for subse-
quent years. Leading indicators in the real economy 
point to robust growth for a few years followed by a 
slowdown. Developments in the European sovereign 
debt crisis will influence the capital markets conside-
rably. However, political reactions to the crisis and 
their consequences for asset managers are difficult to 
predict. Politicians appear to want to do all in their 
 power to prevent the crisis from escalating further.

Moreover, asset managers – and the rest of the financial 
services sector – find themselves in a regulatory en-
vironment characterized by, on the one hand, a much 
higher pace of change than in the past and, on the 
other, rules that are becoming ever stricter, resulting in 
rising costs and a tendency toward fewer business 
 opportunities. 

Against this challenging backdrop, as the competence 
center for asset management in the cooperative finan-
cial network UMH AG and the entire Union Investment 
Group will, over the current year and beyond, continue 
on the long-term growth trajectory they have set them-
selves and position themselves successfully in the 
 market for institutional and retail investors alike.

At the time this report was prepared, there were no 
known risks to the survival of either UMH AG or the 
Union Investment Group as a going concern. There are 
no indications that would lead the Group to expect  
a sustained deterioration in its risk position. 

Union Investment expects to consolide its business at 
a high level in 2013 following its positive performance 
in 2012. As the competence center for asset manage-
ment in the cooperative financial network, the Union 
Investment Group will, over the current year and bey-
ond, continue on the long-term growth trajectory it has 
set itself and position itself successfully in the market 
for institutional and retail investors alike.

Frankfurt am Main, March 4, 2013

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke 
Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Schindler 
Member of the Board of 
Managing Directors

Ulrich Köhne  
Member of the Board of 
Managing Directors 

Jens Wilhelm
Member of the Board of 
Managing Directors
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board and Chairman’s Committee

In 2012, the Supervisory Board and its Chairman’s 
Committee monitored the management activities of 
the Board of Managing Directors in compliance with 
the applicable legal provisions and the Articles of 
Association, and decided on items of business that 
required their consent.

To carry out its responsibilities and in compliance 
with the applicable legal provisions, the Supervisory 
Board formed a Chairman’s Committee that served, 
in particular, as the Human Resources Committee and 
Audit Committee and prepared decisions for approval 
by the Supervisory Board. The Chairman’s Committee 
met twice during the course of 2012. The Supervisory 
Board was regularly kept informed of its activities.

The former German Labor Minister Walter Riester, who 
had been a member of the Supervisory Board since 
October 1, 2009, stepped down from this post upon 
completion of his term of office at the end of the Annual 
General Meeting of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
on May 25, 2012. The Supervisory Board would like to 
thank Mr. Riester for his contribution to the Supervisory 
Board and for his efforts in relation to government-
subsidized personal pensions. The Annual General 
Meeting elected Mr. Andreas Theis, Member of the 
Board of Managing Directors of Volksbank Bitburg eG, 
to replace Mr. Riester on the Supervisory Board. All of 
the other shareholder representatives on the Supervisory 

Board were re-elected by the Annual General Meeting 
on May 25, 2012 upon completion of their term of 
 office. The employee representatives on the Supervisory 
Board had already been re-elected by the workforce 
upon completion of their term of office.

At its constitutive meeting held directly after the 
 Annual General Meeting on May 25, 2012, the 
 Supervisory Board re-elected Mr. Wolfgang Kirsch 
(DZ BANK AG) as Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
Mr. Karl-Heinz Moll (WGZ BANK AG) as Deputy 
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Mr. Wolfgang 
Kirsch, Mr. Karl-Heinz Moll, Mr. Jürgen Burhop 
(Bremische Volksbank eG), and Mr. Roland Müller 
(employee representative on the Supervisory Board) 
as members of the Supervisory Board Chairman’s 
Committee, Mr. Wolfgang Kirsch as Chairman of the 
Chairman’s Committee, and Mr. Karl-Heinz Moll as 
Deputy Chairman of the Chairman’s Committee.

Cooperation with the Board of  
Managing Directors

The Board of Managing Directors provided the Supervisory 
Board with regular, timely and comprehensive written 
and oral reports on the position and performance of 
the Company and the Group and on general business 
developments. The Board of Managing Directors also 
regularly informed the Supervisory Board about ongoing 
operations and future business policy including the 
corporate strategy and organizational structures of the 
Union Investment Group.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the Company’s and 
the Group’s risk position as well as the development of 
systems and procedures used to manage operational, 
market and credit/guarantee risks, and examined other 
material risks specific to fund management business.

Supervisory Board meetings

The Supervisory Board held five meetings in the year 
under review. At these meetings, and via regular 
reports (principally quarterly reports), the Supervisory 
Board was regularly and comprehensively informed 
about the current position of the Company and the 
Group, primarily with regard to general business 
performance, important individual transactions, and 
any personnel developments. The Supervisory Board 
was informed comprehensively and promptly of the 
work carried out by the Chairman’s Committee. The 
Supervisory Board also approved material long-term 
equity investment decisions and business action plans.
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Other key issues covered in the Supervisory Board 
meetings included the ’Union Investment 2.0’ project, 
which was launched in January 2012 to refine the 
business model and secure the future of the Union 
Investment Group despite an increasingly challenging 
market environment, budgeting, and the potential 
impact of the European sovereign debt crisis on the 
Union Investment Group’s business.

Between its meetings, the Supervisory Board was 
 informed by the Board of Managing Directors in writing 
about important events such as personnel matters.  
In urgent cases the Supervisory Board approved signif-
icant transactions between meetings by adopting 
 resolutions via voting in writing.

Outside the meetings, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, who also chairs the Chairman’s Committee, held 
regular discussions with the Chief Executive Officer 
regarding important decisions and specific individual 
transactions.

Cooperation with the independent auditors

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Eschborn, Frankfurt am Main, was elected as the 
independent auditor by the Annual General Meeting 
held on May 25, 2012 and subsequently instructed  
by the Supervisory Board to carry out the audit.

In its capacity as the independent auditor, Ernst & Young 
GmbH confirmed that the separate financial statements 
for the Company and the consolidated financial state-
ments – including the bookkeeping system – as well as 
the management report for the Company and the group 
management report for the 2012 financial year together 
with the report on relationships with affiliated compa-
nies prepared and submitted by the Board of Managing 
Directors complied with the applicable legal provisions. 
The auditors issued an unqualified opinion for each of 
these items. In connection with the audit of the report 
submitted by the Board of Managing Directors on rela-
tionships with affiliated companies, Ernst & Young GmbH 
confirmed that after due audit and assessment “1. the 
actual disclosures in the report are accurate, 2. the con-
sideration paid by the Company for the transactions 
listed in the report was not inappropriately high, and 3. 
as regards the activities listed in the report, there are 
no circumstances that would support an assessment 
materially different from that arrived at by the Board of 
Managing Directors.”

The audit reports were submitted to the members of the 
Supervisory Board, who discussed them in detail. The 
Supervisory Board agrees with the findings of the audit.

Adoption of the financial statements

The Supervisory Board has reviewed in detail the sepa-
rate financial statements, the management report, the 
report of the Board of Managing Directors on relation-
ships with affiliated companies, and the proposal for 
the appropriation of profit, as has the Chairman’s 
Committee of the Supervisory Board (Audit Committee) 
under the chairmanship of Wolfgang Kirsch, which held 
detailed discussions on these submissions in the pres-
ence of the independent auditors for the purposes of 
preparing the final review by the Supervisory Board. 
No reservations were expressed. The Supervisory Board 
has also reviewed in detail the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report and, 
here too, held detailed discussions on these submissions 
in the presence of the independent auditors. No reser-
vations were expressed here either.

The Supervisory Board also acknowledged and ap-
proved the findings of the audit of the separate finan-
cial statements, the consolidated financial statements, 
the management report for the Company, the group 
management report, and the report on relationships 
with affiliated companies conducted by the independent 
auditors.

In a resolution adopted on February 27, 2013 the 
 Supervisory Board approved the separate financial state-
ments prepared by the Board of Managing Directors; 
these financial statements were thereby formally 
adopted. The Supervisory Board also agreed with the 
proposed appropriation of profit. In a resolution 
adopted today, the Supervisory Board approved the 
consolidated financial statements prepared and sub-
mitted by the Board of Managing Directors.

Following the concluding findings of the review con-
ducted by the Supervisory Board, no reservations 
were expressed regarding the concluding statement 
by the Board of Managing Directors in the report on 
relationships with affiliated companies.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board of 
Managing Directors and all employees for their valuable 
contribution in 2012.

Frankfurt am Main, March 15, 2013

Union Asset Management Holding AG, 
Frankfurt am Main

Wolfgang Kirsch
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements 
of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
for the Financial Year from January 1 to 
December 31, 2012 

Consolidated income statement for the financial year  
from January 1 to December 31, 2012

UMH Group Note 2012 2011

EUR’000 EUR’000

Net interest income [25] 15,778 11,653

Interest income and current income 18,038 14,143

Interest expenses -2,260 -2,490

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables [26] -11 -38

Net interest income after allowances for losses on loans and 
receivables

15,767 11,615

Net fee and commission income [27] 863,972 824,034

Fee and commission income 1,270,749 1,223,773

Fee and commission expenses -406,777 -399,739

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments [28] 16,495 -9,226

Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the equity method [29] -792 -3,345

Administrative expenses [30] -580,459 -585,074

Other net operating income [31] -8,389 27,624

Profit before taxes 306,594 265,628

Income taxes [22], [32] -85,947 -68,355

Net profit 220,647 197,273

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 217,724 193,710

Non-controlling interests 2,923 3,563
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UMH Group Note 2012 2011

EUR’000 EUR’000

Net profit 220,647 197,273

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets [33], [50] 121 –

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign subsidiaries [33], [50] 1,792 -2,402

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans [33], [50] -38,567 -2,434

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and  
associates accounted for using the equity method

[33], [50] -465 856

Other comprehensive income/loss before taxes -37,119 -3,980

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 
income/loss

[33] 12,138 458

Other comprehensive income/loss -24,981 -3,522

Total comprehensive income/loss 195,666 193,751

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 193,183 190,212

Non-controlling interests 2,483 3,539

Statement of comprehensive income for the financial year  
from January 1 to December 31, 2012
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Consolidated balance sheet  
as at December 31, 2012

Assets Note Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

EUR’000 EUR’000

Cash and cash equivalents [9], [34] 63 43

Loans to and receivables from banks [10], [35] 482,833 265,077

Loans to and receivables from customers [10], [36] 57,024 40,881

Investments [12], [37] 589,889 746,787

Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method [13], [38] 63,742 66,514

Property, plant and equipment [14], [39] 50,770 52,156

Intangible assets [15], [40] 57,837 47,402

Income tax assets [22], [41] 28,760 11,365

Other assets [42] 83,995 93,622

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale [16], [43] 25,023 24,853

Total assets 1,439,936 1,348,700

Liabilities and equity Note Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

EUR’000 EUR’000

Liabilities to banks [17], [44] 22,858 32,746

Liabilities to customers [17], [45] 90 712

Derivatives (negative fair values) [18], [46] 6,121 3,633

Provisions [19], [20], [47] 179,627 116,942

Income tax liabilities [22], [48] 64,823 85,295

Other liabilities [49] 439,626 411,253

Equity [50] 726,791 698,119

Subscribed capital 87,130 87,130

Capital reserves 18,617 18,617

Retained earnings 395,842 390,704

Revaluation reserve 112 –

Currency translation reserve 740 -633

Unappropriated earnings 217,724 193,710

Non-controlling interests 6,626 8,591

Total liabilities and equity 1,439,936 1,348,700
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Statement of changes in equity for the financial year  
from January 1 to December 31, 2012

UMH Group Note Sub-
scribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Revalua-
tion 

reserve

Currency  
transla-

tion 
reserve

Unappro-
priated 

earnings

Equity 
before  

non-
control-

ling  
interests

Non-
control-

ling 
interests

Total 
equity

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Jan. 1, 2011 87,130 18,617 308,675 – 975 258,180 673,577 8,198 681,775

Net profit – – – – – 193,710 193,710 3,563 197,273

Other comprehensive 
income/loss

[50] – – -1,890 – -1,608 – -3,498 -24 -3,522

Total comprehensive 
income/loss

– – -1,890 – -1,608 193,710 190,212 3,539 193,751

Dividend paid [50] – – -174,261 – – – -174,261 -3,146 -177,407

Appropriation to retained 
earnings

– – 258,180 – – -258,180 – – –

Dec. 31, 2011 87,130 18,617 390,704 – -633 193,710 689,528 8,591 698,119

Jan. 1, 2012 87,130 18,617 390,704 – -633 193,710 689,528 8,591 698,119

Net profit – – – – – 217,724 217,724 2,923 220,647

Other comprehensive 
income/loss

[50] – – -26,026 112 1,373 – -24,541 -440 -24,981

Total comprehensive 
income/loss

– – -26,026 112 1,373 217,724 193,183 2,483 195,666

Changes in scope of 
consolidation

[3] – – -12,391 – – – -12,391 -1,156 -13,547

Dividend paid [50] – – -150,155 – – – -150,155 -3,292 -153,447

Appropriation to retained 
earnings

– – 193,710 – – -193,710 – – –

Dec. 31, 2012 87,130 18,617 395,842 112 740 217,724 720,165 6,626 726,791
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Statement of cash flows for the financial year  
from January 1 to December 31, 2012

UMH Group 2012 2011

EUR’000 EUR’000

Net profit 220,647 197,273

Non-cash items included in net profit and reconciliation to cash flows from operating 
activities

Depreciation, amortization, impairment losses, and reversal of impairment losses on assets,  
and measurement changes on financial assets and liabilities

-1,577 24,271

Non-cash changes in provisions and accruals 348,501 318,451

Other non-cash income and expenses 36,315 54,605

Gains and losses on the disposal of assets and liabilities 40 -422

Other adjustments (net) -15,321 -8,435

Subtotal 588,605 585,743

Cash changes in assets and liabilities arising from operating activities

Loans to and receivables from banks -217,755 166,750

Loans to and receivables from customers -16,153 17,149

Other assets 9,628 14,257

Liabilities to banks -9,888 -16,465

Liabilities to customers -622 354

Derivatives (negative fair values) 0 –

Other liabilities -297,051 -301,093

Interest and dividends received 19,553 14,917

Interest paid -1,927 -2,363

Income taxes paid -72,710 -97,458

Cash flows from operating activities 1,680 381,791

Proceeds from the disposal of:

Investments 730,692 333,960

Property, plant and equipment 10 262

Payments for the acquisition of:

Investments -542,812 -503,207

Property, plant and equipment -2,144 -7,407

Intangible assets -21,552 -25,501

Cash flows from investing activities 164,194 -201,893

Dividend payments to the shareholders of UMH AG and other shareholders -153,447 -177,407

Changes in cash from other capital -12,407 -2,500

Cash flows from financing activities -165,854 -179,907

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 43 52

Cash flows from operating activities 1,680 381,791

Cash flows from investing activities 164,194 -201,893

Cash flows from financing activities -165,854 -179,907

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 63 43
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Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement equate to the cash and cash equivalents balance sheet 
item, which comprises cash on hand and balances held with central banks together with debt instruments from 
public-sector entities and bills of exchange eligible for refinancing by central banks if the residual maturity is  
less than three months and the amounts concerned are deemed to be the retention of liquidity. Receivables from 
banks that are repayable on demand are not included; these items are classified under operating activities.

The statement of cash flows shows a breakdown of, and changes in, cash and cash equivalents during the 
 financial year. It is broken down into operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities. 

Cash flows from operating activities comprise cash transactions (cash inflows and outflows) in connection with 
loans to and receivables from banks and customers, other assets, liabilities to banks and customers, and other 
liabilities. Interest and dividend payments, together with current income tax payments, are also classified under 
cash flows from operating activities. 

Cash flows from investing activities show cash transactions related to investments, property, plant and equipment, 
and intangible assets. This item also includes the effects from changes in the scope of consolidation. 

Cash flows from financing activities comprise proceeds from capital increases, proceeds from the drawdown of 
loans, payments for the redemption of loans, dividend payments, and changes in cash related to other capital. 

A statement of cash flows is not particularly meaningful as far as investment companies are concerned. The 
statement of cash flows for the UMH Group does not replace liquidity and financial planning, nor is it used as  
a management tool.
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Notes to the consolidated 
 financial statements
General disclosures

[1] Basis of consolidated accounting

Union Asset Management Holding AG (UMH AG) is 
the holding company of the Union Investment Group 
and a subsidiary of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-
Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main (DZ BANK). 
The primary purpose of UMH AG’s subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and associates is to issue and sell investment 
funds, hold these funds in safe custody, and provide 
associated services. The Union Investment Group is also 
the competence center for asset management within 
the cooperative financial network. 

The registered office of UMH AG is situated at Wiesen-
hüttenstrasse 10, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. 
The Company was entered in the commercial register 
of the Frankfurt am Main local court on June 16, 1999 
under reference number HRB 47289. The shares in 
UMH AG are not publicly traded. 

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG are 
included in the consolidated financial statements of 
DZ BANK which in turn prepares the consolidated finan-
cial statements covering the greatest number of enti-
ties included in the overall group and is entered in the 
commercial register of the Frankfurt am Main local 
court under reference number HRB 45651.

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG 
comprise the consolidated income statement, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity, the 
statement of cash flows, and the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements. They consolidate the sepa-
rate financial statements of UMH AG and its subsidiar-
ies (hereafter also referred to as the ‘UMH Group’ or 
‘Union Investment Group’). The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared to the balance sheet 
date of UMH AG (December 31, 2012). The balance 
sheet dates for the subsidiaries included in the consol-
idation are also December 31, 2012.

In accordance with standard international practice, the 
consolidated income statement and balance sheet are 
presented in a condensed and clearly structured format 
in compliance with the requirements of IAS 1. Balance 
sheet line items are shown in order of liquidity. More 
detailed information is provided in the additional dis-

closures set out in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
 prepared in euros (EUR). Unless stated otherwise,  
the amounts are presented in thousands of euros 
(EUR thousand, EUR’000) to ensure that the consoli-
dated financial statements are clear and compre-
hensible. Due to rounding, discrepancies may occur 
between sums of the component items and totals 
shown in tables. 

All items in the consolidated financial statements are 
recognized and measured on the assumption that the 
business will continue as a going concern. Income  
and expenses are recognized under the accrual method, 
i.e. they are recognized in the period to which they 
 relate from a financial perspective. 

With the exception of the contractual maturity analysis 
(Note [55]) as required by IFRS 7.39, the disclosures 
on the nature and extent of risks arising from financial 
instruments (IFRS 7.31-42) are included in the risk 
 report within the group management report.

[2] Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report for the financial year from January 
1 to December 31, 2012 have been prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU), 
and the additional requirements of German commer-
cial law pursuant to section 315a (1) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with section 
315a (3) HGB.

The financial statements of the companies consolidated 
in the UMH Group have been prepared using uniform 
accounting policies.

Changes in accounting policies

•  First-time application in 2012 of changes in IFRS

The amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets have been 
applied for the first time in the consolidated financial 
statements of UMH. This amendment, specifically  
the introduction of IFRS 7.42A to 42H (replacing IFRS 
7.13), results in substantial enhancements to financial 
reporting disclosures regarding the derecognition of 
 financial assets. The disclosures on transferred financial 
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assets that are not derecognized in their entirety are 
extended to include a summary of the fair values of 
the assets and associated liabilities as well as additional 
qualitative disclosures on the transactions. The amend-
ment to IFRS 7 now also provides for qualitative and 
quantitative disclosures on financial assets that have 
been derecognized in their entirety but that are still 
subject to a continuing involvement. Prior-year figures 
have not been disclosed. The amendment to IFRS 7 
does not have any impact on the financial position or 
financial performance of the UMH Group. 

•  Changes in IFRS endorsed by the EU but  
not yet applied

The UMH Group has decided against voluntary early 
adoption of the following new, revised or amended 
 financial reporting standards and the following new  
or amended interpretations that have been endorsed  
by the EU:
- IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements,
- IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements,
-  IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,
- IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement,
- IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements,
-  IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and  

Joint Ventures,
-  Amendments to IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of 

 International Financial Reporting Standards – Severe 
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for 
 First-Time Adopters,

-  Amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: 
 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets  
and Financial Liabilities,

-  Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of  
Financial Statements – Presentation of Items  
of Other Comprehensive Income,

-  Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes –  
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets,

-  Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits,
-  Amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: 

Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
 Financial Liabilities, and

-  IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase 
of a Surface Mine.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, 
IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 12 – Disclo-
sure of Interests in Other Entities relate to consoli-
dated financial statements and supersede the corre-
sponding provisions in IAS 27 – Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, IAS 31 – Interests in 
Joint Ventures, SIC-12 – Consolidation – Special Purpose 

Entities, and SIC-13 – Jointly Controlled Entities – 
Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. Hencefor-
ward, IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements only 
 includes provisions governing single-entity financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. The UMH Group 
will apply the three standards, together with the 
amended versions of IAS 27 and IAS 28, from the 
2014 financial year onward. IFRS 10 is the core stand-
ard for preparing consolidated financial statements 
and establishes a uniform principle of control applica-
ble to all entities, including special-purpose entities. 
This is not expected to lead to any material changes in 
the scope of consolidation in the UMH Group. The 
UMH Group is currently carrying out a detailed analysis 
of the impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
IFRS 11 removes the current option to apply propor-
tionate consolidation for joint ventures, which must be 
accounted for in consolidated financial statements 
solely by using the equity method in the future. The 
change resulting from IFRS 11 has no impact on the 
UMH Group because joint ventures are already ac-
counted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method. All disclosure requirements 
relating to subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates, and 
unconsolidated structured entities are summarized in 
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. As a 
result of IFRS 12, the UMH Group is likely to have to 
enhance its disclosures in the notes. The Group is cur-
rently assessing the detailed impact of the disclosure 
requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ar-
rangements, associates, and unconsolidated structured 
entities compared with the existing requirements.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement comprises provi-
sions to ensure that fair value is determined on a uni-
form basis across all IFRSs. The individual standards 
define when fair value is to be measured. Comprehen-
sive quantitative and qualitative disclosure require-
ments have also been introduced regarding fair value 
measurement. The UMH Group is applying the amend-
ment to IFRS 13 prospectively from the 2013 financial 
year onward. This will lead to additional disclosures 
 relating to the hierarchy levels for assets and liabilities 
not recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. Fair 
value hierarchy disclosures for non-financial assets will 
also be included in UMH’s consolidated financial 
statements owing to the difference in the scope of 
IFRS 13 compared with that of IFRS 7.

The amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities are designed to eliminate existing discrepan-
cies by supplementing the application guidelines. The 
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existing fundamental provisions for offsetting financial 
instruments remain unchanged. These amendments 
will lead to additional disclosures covering gross 
amounts, non-netted amounts, and net amounts for 
 financial instruments subject to legally enforceable 
global offsetting agreements or similar arrangements. 
The amendments will be applied in the UMH consoli-
dated financial statements retrospectively from the 
2013 financial year.

The other comprehensive income reported by the UMH 
Group for the period will be shown more specifically 
as a result of the amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation 
of Financial Statements – Presentation of Items of 
Other Comprehensive Income. From the 2013 financial 
year, any components of other comprehensive income 
that may potentially be reclassified to profit or loss  
in future periods in the UMH Group must be reported 
separately in the statement of comprehensive income 
from components that will not be reclassified.

The amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits lead 
to various changes in the accounting treatment of 
 defined benefit obligations. The amendments remove 
the options available regarding the recognition of 
 actuarial gains and losses. Any remeasurements of the 
net assets or net obligations in connection with a 
 defined benefit plan will be recognized in other com-
prehensive income. The net interest income and 
 expenses in connection with the defined benefit net 
obligations and assets, as well as the service cost,  
will be recognized in the income statement. Net inter-
est income and expenses are calculated by applying 
the discount rate to the net obligation and the net as-
sets. As a result of the change in the definition of 
 severance payments, top-up amounts committed as 
part of partial retirement scheme agreements will  
be reported in the future as other long-term or short-
term employee benefits. The UMH Group will apply  
the amendments from the 2013 financial year onward. 
The main impact will be a significant increase in 
 disclosures relating to the key characteristics of the 
pension plans, including the associated risks and  
the management of these risks. The UMH Group al-
ready recognizes actuarial gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income, so there will be no impact 
from the amendments to IAS 19 in this regard. The 
 effects on the provisions for the partial retirement 
scheme and on the earnings of the UMH Group are 
immaterial.

The amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: 
Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities set out specific application guidelines for 
offsetting financial instruments, although the existing 
fundamental provisions for offsetting financial instru-
ments remain unchanged. The amendments will be 
applied by the UMH Group retrospectively from the 
2014 financial year. There is no impact on the financial 
position or financial performance. 

The other aforementioned revised or amended finan-
cial reporting standards and the new interpretation 
 referred to above have no material impact on UMH’s 
consolidated financial statements.

•  Changes in IFRS that have not been endorsed  
by the EU

The following new or revised accounting standards, 
amended accounting standards, IFRS improvements, 
and new or amended interpretations that have  
been issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) have not yet been endorsed by the EU:

- IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments,
- Amendments to IFRS 1 – Government Loans,
- Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Mandatory  
 Effective Date and Transition Disclosures,
- Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle,
-  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 – 

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrange-
ments and Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 
Transition Guidance,

-  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – 
 Investment Entities.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments constitutes the first part 
(phase I) of a wide-ranging project to replace IAS 39 – 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
in its entirety. On November 12, 2009, the IASB issued 
amended requirements for the classification of finan-
cial assets. On October 28, 2010, it completed the first 
phase by issuing and publishing additions to IFRS 9 
covering requirements for the accounting treatment of 
financial liabilities. IFRS 9 currently includes require-
ments covering the classification and measurement of 
all items falling within the scope of IAS 39. At the 
 moment, the measurement requirements remain in-
complete. As a result of IFRS 9, financial assets need 
to be reclassified. Both the business models of the 
portfolios and the characteristics of the contracted cash 
flows for the individual financial assets must be taken 
into account for the purposes of the reclassification. 
Unlike IAS 39, IFRS 9 specifies that, as regards financial 
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit  
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or loss, any changes in such liabilities resulting from a 
change in credit risk must be recognized in other 
 comprehensive income. The other requirements relat-
ing to financial liabilities have been largely carried 
over from IAS 39 unchanged. The impact of IFRS 9 on 
future consolidated financial statements is being in-
vestigated. It will only be possible to complete these 
investigations when phase II Amortized Cost and 
 Impairment of Financial Assets and phase III Hedge 
Accounting have been published.

The transitional provisions governing the switch from 
IAS 39 to IFRS 9 have changed as a result of amend-
ments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Mandatory Effective Date 
and Transition Disclosures. These amendments have 
postponed the date for mandatory first-time adoption 
from January 1, 2013 to January 1, 2015. Adoption 
must be retrospective. Earlier adoption is permitted. 
Another change as a result of the amendments is that 
there is no longer a requirement to report restated 
 prior-year figures. For companies that apply IFRS 9 for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, 
there will be an additional requirement under IFRS 7 
to include disclosures in the notes describing the 
 effects of the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The tim-
ing of the UMH Group’s initial adoption of IFRS 9 
 depends on when the standard becomes part of EU 
law. As at the date on which these consolidated finan-
cial statements are published, no date has yet been 
planned for adoption by the EU.

The purpose of the amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11, 
and IFRS 12 – Consolidated Financial Statements, 
Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities: Transition Guidance is to provide a detailed 
explanation of the transitional provisions originally set 
out in IFRS 10. The amendments also include exemp-
tions from the transitional provisions in IFRS 10, 
IFRS 11, and IFRS 12. The amendments must be applied 
to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 
2013. UMH is currently carrying out a detailed assess-
ment of the impact of the Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 – Consolidated Financial State-
ments, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests 
in Other Entities: Transition Guidance on its consoli-
dated financial statements.

The other aforementioned changes and improvements 
to IFRSs have no material impact on UMH’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

The initial application dates for amendments issued  
by IFRS are subject to the proviso that the amendments 
must first be incorporated into EU law.

•  First-time application in 2012 of  
changes to the HGB

German Accounting Standard (GAS) 17 – Reporting 
on the Remuneration of Members of Governing Bodies 
defines in more detail the legal requirements con-
cerning reporting on the remuneration of the members 
of governing bodies of groups of companies. These 
 requirements also apply to parent companies that pre-
pare consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS. The standard sets out the rules governing 
non-share-based payments, the conditions under which 
such payments are deemed to have been made, and  
in which financial year they must be disclosed. Disclo-
sures relating to non-share-based payments that 
 depend on whether certain conditions are met in the 
future have been required since the 2012 financial 
year. However, they are not relevant to the UMH Group.

•  Voluntary changes in accounting policies

There were no voluntary changes to accounting 
 policies in the year under review.

[3]  Scope of consolidation

In addition to UMH AG as the parent company, the 
UMH consolidated financial statements include 15 
subsidiaries (2011: 15) in which UMH AG directly or 
indirectly holds more than 50 percent of the shares  
or voting rights. Eleven of these subsidiaries (2011: 
eleven) have their registered office in Germany, while 
four (2011: four) are headquartered in other countries. 
Five subsidiaries (2011: four) that are not material  
to an understanding of the financial position and finan-
cial performance of the UMH Group have not been 
consolidated and are reported as investments in sub-
sidiaries under investments. The consolidated financial 
statements of UMH AG do not include any subgroups 
that prepare their own subgroup financial statements.

One new subsidiary was established during the year 
under review. This subsidiary is not material to an 
 understanding of the financial position and financial 
performance of the UMH Group and is not included  
in the scope of consolidation but is reported as an in-
vestment in subsidiaries under investments.

In the year under review, one investment fund  
(2011: one) was included in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IAS 27 and SIC-12.

One international joint venture (2011: one) is accounted 
for under the equity method.
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Three associates (2011: three) – all of which are in 
Germany (2011: three) – are accounted for using the 
equity method. 

The most recently available annual financial state-
ments in each case are used as the basis for reporting 
associates accounted for using the equity method.  
Any known material effects in the year under review 
are covered in a reconciliation statement.

Twenty-five investment funds (2011: nine) over which 
UMH AG can exercise control and that are not material 
to an understanding of the financial position and 
 financial performance of the UMH Group have not been 
consolidated and are reported under investments.

UMH AG acquired 12 percent of non-voting shares  
in Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt  
am Main (Quoniam), from a director of Quoniam in 
December 2012. Shares worth EUR 1.1 million 
 (corresponding to the pro-rata carrying amount of 
Quoniam’s net assets) were acquired. The difference  
of EUR 12.4 million between this amount and the 
 purchase consideration of EUR 13.5 million has been 
recognized directly in retained earnings.

Six investment funds (December 31, 2011: three) over 
which UMH AG can exercise control were held for sale 
as at the balance sheet date. 

A complete list of the subsidiaries, joint ventures, 
 associates, and investment funds included in the 
 consolidated financial statements can be found in  
the list of shareholdings (Note [60]).

[4] Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries and investment funds are consolidated 
using the acquisition method. This method requires all 
the subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities to be recognized 
at their fair value at the acquisition date or at the date 
on which control is acquired.

Any difference between the acquisition cost and the fair 
value of the assets and liabilities is recognized as 
goodwill under intangible assets. The carrying amount 
of goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a 
year or more frequently if there is any indication of 
possible impairment. If goodwill is found to be impaired, 
an impairment loss is recognized.

Any negative goodwill is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss.

Intragroup assets and liabilities, as well as intragroup 
income and expenses, are eliminated in full. Intragroup 
profits or losses resulting from transactions within  
the group are eliminated unless the amounts concerned 
are immaterial.

In the case of joint ventures, a decision is taken on a 
case-by-case basis on the date of acquisition as to 
whether the joint venture is to be included in the con-
solidated financial statements using the proportionate 
consolidation method in accordance with IAS 31.30  
or alternatively whether it is to be accounted for using 
the equity method as permitted by IAS 31.38.

Associates are accounted for under the equity method 
and are reported as shares in companies accounted 
for using the equity method. The acquisition cost of 
these long-term equity investments and any goodwill 
are determined at the time the investments are initial-
ly included in the consolidated financial statements. 
The rules applied in this case are the same as those 
applied to subsidiaries.

The carrying amount of equity is adjusted over time 
based on the joint venture’s and associates’ financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with local accounting standards and reconciled to IFRS.

Occasionally, the UMH Group has holdings of funding 
provided for a number of investment funds, as a result 
of which the Group is in a position to exercise control 
over the fund concerned. These holdings are consoli-
dated unless they satisfy the criteria specified in IFRS 5 
and can be reported under non-current assets and 
 disposal groups classified as held for sale.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associ-
ates that are of no material significance and are there-
fore not consolidated, as well as equities and other 
shareholdings, are recognized under investments at 
fair value or, if a fair value cannot be reliably determined, 
at cost.

[5] Estimates

It is necessary to make assumptions and estimates in 
accordance with the relevant financial reporting stand-
ards in order to determine the carrying amounts of 
 assets, liabilities, income, and expenses recognized in 
these consolidated financial statements. These assump-
tions and estimates are based on historical experience, 
planning, and expectations or forecasts regarding 
 future events.  

114



Assumptions and estimates are used primarily in 
 determining the fair value of financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities and in identifying any impairment of 
 financial assets. In addition, estimates have a significant 
impact on determining the level of provisions for em-
ployee benefits and other provisions as well as on rec-
ognizing and measuring income tax assets and income 
tax liabilities.

Fair values of financial assets and  
financial liabilities

If there are no prices available for certain financial 
 instruments from active markets, the fair values of 
such financial assets and financial liabilities have to  
be determined on the basis of estimates, resulting  
in some uncertainty. Uncertainties associated with 
 estimates arise primarily if fair values are determined 
using valuation techniques involving significant valua-
tion parameters that are not observable in the market. 
This affects both financial instruments measured at 
fair value and financial instruments measured at amor-
tized cost whose fair values are disclosed in the notes.

Impairment of financial assets

When an impairment test is carried out for financial 
assets in the category of ‘loans and receivables’, it is 
necessary to determine estimated future cash flows 
from interest payments and the repayment of principal 
as well as from any recovery of collateral. This requires 
estimates and assumptions, which in turn give rise  
to some uncertainty.

 Provisions for employee benefits and  
other provisions

Uncertainty associated with estimates in connection 
with provisions for employee benefits arises primarily 
from the measurement of defined benefit obligations, 
on which actuarial assumptions have a material effect. 
Actuarial assumptions are based on a large number  
of long-term, forward-looking factors, such as salary 
increases, annuity trends, and average life expectancy.

Actual cash outflows in the future related to items  
for which other provisions have been recognized may 
differ from the forecast utilization of the provisions.
 
Income tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on  
the basis of estimates of future taxable income in tax-

able entities. In particular, these estimates have an 
 effect on any assessment of the extent to which it will 
be possible to make use of deferred tax assets in  
the future. The calculation of current tax assets and 
 liabilities for the purposes of preparing HGB financial 
statements involves estimates of details relevant to 
 income tax.

[6] Financial instruments

All financial assets and financial liabilities, including all 
derivatives, are reported on the face of the balance 
sheet in accordance with IAS 39. All financial instru-
ments are measured at fair value on initial recognition. 
The amounts initially recognized for financial assets 
and financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss include transaction costs directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition of the assets or liabilities 
concerned. The subsequent measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities depends on the IAS 39 
category in which they are classified on acquisition.

Categories of financial instruments

•  Financial assets or financial liabilities at  
fair value through profit or loss

Within this category a distinction is made between 
 financial instruments held for trading and financial 
 instruments that are irrevocably designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss on acquisition.

The UMH Group has no financial assets or liabilities  
in its portfolio that the Group has purchased or en-
tered into with the intention of generating a gain from 
short-term fluctuations in prices or from the trading 
margin. No financial assets form part of any portfolio 
that has been used to generate short-term profit- 
taking in the recent past. The only items reported in 
the held-for-trading category within the UMH Group 
are therefore derivative financial liabilities.

Items in the ‘designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss’ subcategory arise from application of the fair 
value option as specified in IAS 39. Fair value is used 
as the basis for determining both the risks and returns 
from own-account investments, and these figures  
are then reported to the Board of Managing Directors. 
Application of the fair value option to these own- 
account investments helps harmonize both the finan-
cial management and the presentation of the UMH 
Group’s financial position and financial performance.

115

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements 



•  Held-to-maturity investments

The Union Investment Group has not classified any 
 financial instruments to the held-to-maturity category.

•  Loans and receivables

All non-derivative financial instruments that have fixed 
or determinable payments and that are not quoted in 
an active market are classified as loans and receivables. 
The basic requirement is that these financial instru-
ments must not be classified initially as ‘financial assets 
or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ or as 
‘available for sale’. Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortized cost.

The Union Investment Group classifies all its trade 
 receivables as well as loans to and receivables from 
banks and customers in this category.

•  Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise all non- 
derivative financial instruments that have not already 
been assigned to one of the other categories. Available-
for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair 
 value, with any changes in fair value reported in the 
revaluation reserve via other comprehensive income/
loss, although impairment losses arising as a result of  
a drop in credit rating and any realized gains or losses 
are recognized in the income statement. Reversals of 
impairment losses on debt instruments are recognized 
in the income statement; reversals of impairment 
 losses on equity instruments are recognized in other 
comprehensive income/loss. Available-for-sale securities 
are reported under investments.

•  Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities comprise financial liabilities 
and debt certificates including bonds unless they have 
been designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
These liabilities are recognized at amortized cost.

The Union Investment Group classifies all its trade 
payables as well as liabilities to banks and customers 
in this category.

Initial recognition and derecognition  
of financial assets and liabilities

Derivatives are initially recognized on the trade date. 
Regular way purchases and sales of non-derivative 

 financial assets are recognized and derecognized using 
settlement date accounting. Changes in fair value 
 between the trade date and settlement date are recog-
nized in accordance with the category of the financial 
instrument.

Financial assets are derecognized when the contrac-
tual rights derived from them expire or are transferred 
to parties outside the Group such that substantially  
all the risks and rewards or control of the assets are 
transferred to the receiving party. Financial liabilities 
are derecognized when they have been fully repaid.

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment 
losses on financial assets

Financial assets not measured as at fair value through 
profit or loss must be tested at each balance sheet 
date to establish whether there is any objective evidence 
that these assets are impaired. 

In the case of debt instruments, important objective 
evidence includes financial difficulties on the part of 
the issuer or debtor, delay or default on interest 
p ayments or repayments of principal, failure to comply 
with ancillary contractually agreed arrangements or  
the contractually agreed provision of collateral, a sig-
nificant downgrading in credit rating or issue of a 
 default rating.

Significant objective evidence of impairment in the 
case of equity instruments includes a lasting deteriora-
tion in financial performance, sustained losses or con-
sumption of equity, substantial changes with adverse 
consequences for the issuer’s technological, market, 
economic or legal environment, and/or a considerable 
or enduring reduction in fair value associated with 
such changes.

As regards securities, the disappearance of an active 
market for a financial asset owing to financial difficul-
ties on the part of the issuer may constitute evidence 
of impairment.

•  Available-for-sale financial assets

If there is a negative revaluation reserve as at the bal-
ance sheet date for individual financial assets in the 
‘available-for-sale financial assets’ category, an impair-
ment test is carried out to establish whether there is 
any objective evidence, as detailed above, that the assets 
concerned are impaired. In this case the cumulative 
negative amount in the revaluation reserve must be 
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reclassified to profit or loss. Impairment losses related 
to equity instruments measured at cost are deducted 
directly from the carrying amounts of the financial assets 
concerned and recognized in profit or loss.

In the case of debt instruments, if the reasons for a 
previously recognized impairment loss no longer apply 
and this can be attributed to an event that occurred 
after the impairment was identified, any such impairment 
loss must be reversed. The reversal of impairment 
 losses in respect of equity instruments measured at fair 
value in the ‘available-for-sale financial assets’ category 
is not permitted. Any subsequent increases in fair 
 value are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
Impairment losses may not be reversed for equity 
 instruments measured at cost.

Classes of financial instruments

The classes of financial instruments correspond to the 
line items on the balance sheet. The only exception  
is the ‘investments’ line item, which is subdivided into 
the classes ‘investments measured at fair value’ and 
‘investments measured at amortized cost’; please refer 
to Note [51].

[7] Financial instruments at fair value

Fair value is deemed to be the price at which a financial 
instrument can be traded between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction that is not 
a forced sale. The fair value of financial instruments  
is determined on the basis of market prices or observ-
able market data at the balance sheet date or by using 
recognized valuation models. Investment fund units 
are measured at the redemption price. If securities and 
derivatives can be traded with sufficient liquidity in 
 active markets, i.e. market prices are available, or trad-
able prices can be established by active market partici-
pants, then these prices are used as the basis for 
determining fair value. If no prices from liquid markets 
are available, fair value is determined using techniques 
whose parameters are based on observable market 
data. Financial instruments repayable on demand are 
measured at their principal amount. These instruments 
include cash on hand, current account credit balances, 
and trade receivables.

[8] Currency translation

All monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the 
closing rate prevailing at the balance sheet date into 

the relevant functional currency of the entities in the 
UMH Group. The translation of non-monetary assets 
and liabilities depends on the way in which these assets 
and liabilities are measured. If non-monetary assets 
are measured at amortized cost, they are translated 
using the historical exchange rate. Non-monetary assets 
measured at fair value are translated at the closing 
rate. Income, expenses, gains and losses are translated 
at the prevailing closing rate when they are recog-
nized either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive 
income/loss.

If the functional currency of subsidiaries consolidated 
in the UMH Group is different from the Group’s report-
ing currency (euro), all assets and liabilities are trans-
lated at the closing rate and equity is translated at the 
historical rate. The resulting difference is reported in 
the currency translation reserve. Income and expenses 
are translated at the average rate. In most cases, the 
functional currency of the entities included in the con-
solidated financial statements is the euro, i.e. the 
group reporting currency.

[9] Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand and bal-
ances with central banks and other government 
 institutions. Cash and cash equivalents are measured 
at their nominal amount.

[10] Loans and receivables

Loans to and receivables from banks and customers 
are recognized at amortized cost. Loans are recognized 
when the loan is paid out.

Premiums, discounts, and transaction costs are recog-
nized in the income statement under net interest in-
come/expense. Accrued interest income on loans and 
receivables as well as premiums and discounts are 
 reported with the pertinent loans and receivables under 
the relevant balance sheet items. Premium and dis-
count amounts are allocated over the term of the loan/
receivable using the effective interest method.

[11] Allowances for losses on loans and 
 receivables

An allowance is recognized for losses on loans and 
 receivables if there is objective evidence that it will not 
be possible to collect the full amount when due. The 
amount of the allowance is measured as the difference 
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between the carrying amount and the value of esti-
mated future cash flows from this loan or receivable.

Uncollectible loans and receivables are written off 
 immediately; any subsequent receipts from loans and 
receivables already written off are recognized in the 
income statement. The total amount of the allowances 
for losses on loans and receivables is clearly reported 
as a deduction from loans to and receivables from banks 
and customers.

[12] Investments

Investments comprise non-trading bonds and other 
fixed-income securities, equities and other variable-yield 
securities, and investments in subsidiaries, joint ven-
tures and associates. This balance sheet line item mainly 
consists of investment fund units. These investments 
may be short-term investments for the purposes of li-
quidity management (liquidity), initial funding for 
 newly launched funds (funding), investments in pension 
plans or employee retention programs (employee in-
vestments), or longer-term capital investments (strate-
gic investments). In addition, temporary investments  
in funds used to protect the liquidity of these funds are 
allocated to the ‘funding’ category. Financial instru-
ments are measured at fair value on acquisition. The 
subsequent measurement of financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities depends on the IAS 39 category in which 
they are classified on acquisition.

[13]  Shares in companies accounted for  
using the equity method

Investments in associates and joint ventures are recog-
nized at cost on the face of the consolidated balance 
sheet when significant influence is acquired or the en-
tity is established. In subsequent years, the carrying 
amount of the equity is adjusted to take into account 
the Group’s share of the changes in equity. The 
Group’s share of the profit or loss from the associate 
or joint venture is recognized on the face of the 
 consolidated income statement as the profit/loss from 
companies accounted for using the equity method.

[14] Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprises the following 
assets used by the Group for its own purposes: land 
and buildings that are expected to be used over more 
than one period, and office furniture and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less 
depreciation. If there are indicators as at the balance 
sheet date that the assets may be impaired, an impair-
ment test is carried out. If the higher of the fair value 
less costs to sell or the value in use is found to be low-
er than the cost less depreciation, a corresponding 
 impairment loss is recognized. If the reasons for a pre-
viously recognized impairment loss no longer apply, 
the impairment loss is reversed up to a maximum of the 
carrying amount net of depreciation that would have 
applied if the impairment loss had not been recognized.

The normal useful lives of property, plant and equip-
ment are determined by taking into account expected 
physical wear and tear, technical obsolescence, and 
 legal and contractual restrictions.

The normal useful life for buildings is 40 years, and  
for office furniture and equipment between three and 
13 years. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line 
basis. Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation expense on property, plant and 
equipment is included in administrative expenses 
(Note [30]). Impairment losses and reversals of 
 impairment losses as well as gains and losses on 
 disposals of property, plant and equipment are 
 reported under other net operating income (Note [31]).

[15] Intangible assets

Intangible assets include purchased software and  
any goodwill. Intangible assets are measured at amor-
tized cost.

The normal useful life of most software is four or five 
years. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis.
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If there are indications at the balance sheet date that 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life may be im-
paired, the asset is subjected to an impairment test. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, intangible 
assets not yet ready for use, and goodwill are not 
 amortized but are tested for impairment once a year.

The Union Investment Group does not develop any of 
its own software as part of its software projects. 
 However, standard software products are customized, 
resulting in expenses that are regularly capitalized as 
ancillary costs for purchased software licenses. 

The amortization expense on intangible assets  
is  included in administrative expenses (Note [30]). 
 Impairment losses and reversals of impairment  
losses as well as gains and losses on disposals of 
 intangible assets are reported under other net 
 operating income (Note [31]).

[16]  Non-current assets and disposal  
groups classified as held for sale

The carrying amount of non-current assets or disposal 
groups for which a sale is planned is recovered princi-
pally through a sale transaction rather than through 
their continuing use. These assets and disposal groups 
therefore need to be classified as held for sale if the 
criteria set out below are satisfied.

To be classified as held for sale, the assets or disposal 
groups must be available for immediate sale in their 
present condition subject only to terms that are usual 
and customary for sales of such assets or disposal 
groups, and it must be highly probable that a sale will 
take place. A sale is deemed to be highly probable  
if there is a commitment to a plan to sell the asset or 
disposal group, an active program to locate a buyer 
and complete the plan has been initiated, the asset or 
disposal group is being actively marketed for sale at  
a price that is reasonable in relation to the current fair 
value, and a sale is expected to be completed within 
one year of the date on which the asset or disposal 
group is classified as held for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. The assets are no longer depreciated or amortized 
from the date on which they are classified as held for 
sale.

Assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 
are shown separately on the face of the balance sheet 
under non-current assets and disposal groups classi-
fied as held for sale and liabilities included in disposal 
groups classified as held for sale. Gains and losses 
arising on remeasurement at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell and gains and 
losses on the sale of these assets or disposal groups 
that represent a component of an entity (i.e. they rep-
resent a cash-generating unit or groups of cash-gener-
ating units) are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement under profit (loss) from discontinued opera-
tions, net of tax. Gains and losses arising on remeas-
urement and on the sale of assets or disposal groups 
that do not represent a component of an entity are 
recognized in the consolidated income statement under 
other net operating income (Note [31]).

Occasionally, the UMH Group has holdings of funding 
provided for a number of investment funds, as a result 
of which the Group is in a position to exercise control 
over the fund concerned. These holdings are consolidat-
ed unless they satisfy the criteria specified in IFRS 5 
 allowing them to be reported as disposal groups under 
non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale and liabilities included in disposal groups. 
This is the case if the UMH Group actively endeavors 
to sell off the holdings immediately in order to ensure 
that the funding is repaid and if it is highly probable 
that the investment funds concerned will no longer be 
under the control of the UMH Group within one year 
of the initial acquisition of the holdings.

[17] Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized at amortized cost.

Liabilities from financial guarantees that fall within  
the scope of IAS 39 are measured at fair value on ini-
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tial recognition. They are subsequently measured at 
the higher of any provision recognized in accordance 
with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognized. 
 Liabilities from financial guarantees are reported as 
‘other liabilities’ on the face of the balance sheet.

[18]  Derivatives (negative fair values)

Figures reported in this item on the face of the balance 
sheet represent funding gaps in capital preservation 
commitments in accordance with section 1 (1) no. 3 of 
the German Personal Pension Plan Certification Act 
(AltZertG) in connection with individual product vari-
ants of the UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente Select 
products issued by Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH 
to the extent that such funding gaps arise on the 
measurement of each individual contract as specified 
in section II no. 1 in conjunction with section V of 
 circular 2/2007 (BA) issued by the Bundesanstalt für 
 Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin) [German Federal 
Financial Supervisory Authority] on January 18, 2007. 
The amounts recognized as liabilities in each case rep-
resent the difference between the present value of the 
pension plan contributions guaranteed in accordance 
with section 1 (1) no. 3 AltZertG and the market value 
of the portfolio that has been reduced by a volatility-
related factor for allowances for losses on loans and 
receivables, provided that this difference is positive.

Funding gaps in minimum payment commitments as 
part of genuine guarantee funds issued by fund man-
agement companies in the UMH Group are measured 
on the basis of section II no. 2 in conjunction with 
 section V of BaFin circular 2/2007 (BA) and reported 
under this line item.

[19]  Provisions for employee benefits

Provisions for employee benefits are recognized in 
 accordance with IAS 19.

A distinction is made in occupational pension schemes 
between defined contribution plans and defined 
 benefit plans. In defined contribution plans, the entity 
concerned has no obligation other than to pay contri-
butions to an external pension provider. The providers 
covering the pension entitlements of employees in  
the Union Investment Group’s German companies are 
as follows: BVV Versicherungsverein des Bankgewerbes 
a.G., Berlin (BVVaG), BVV Versorgungskasse des 
 Bankgewerbes e.V., Berlin (BVVeV), R+V Pensionsver-

sicherung a.G., Wiesbaden (RVPaG), R+V Pensionsfonds 
Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden (RVP), and Versorgungs-
kasse genossenschaftlich orientierter Unternehmen 
VGU e.V., Wiesbaden (VGUeV). All the plans in this 
case are in fact defined benefit plans, which are treated 
as defined contribution plans in accordance with the 
rules for multi-employer plans specified in IAS 19.30.

Under defined benefit plans, the entity concerned has 
an obligation to pay the benefits promised to current 
and former employees, although there is a distinction 
between plans funded by provisions and those funded 
by third-party arrangements.

In accordance with IAS 19, the Union Investment Group 
recognizes provisions for its obligations arising in 
 connection with pension entitlements and current ben-
efits payable to eligible current and former employees 
of the Group as well as their surviving dependants 
(the plans being funded by both employer and em-
ployees). There are various different pension systems 
in operation at the individual Union Investment Group 
sites depending on local legal, financial and tax 
 circumstances. However, all the systems are generally 
based on the length of service and the individual 
 employee’s level of remuneration.
On November 1, 2007, the pension obligations under 
employer-funded pension commitments to retirees and 
former employee beneficiaries with vested pension 
 entitlements and to a significant proportion of the 
beneficiaries who are still employed were transferred 
to VGUeV or RVP.

The defined benefit obligation of UMH Group compa-
nies is measured in accordance with IAS 19 using the 
projected unit credit method and is based on actuarial 
evaluations. The calculation of the obligation takes 
into account current projections of mortality, invalidity 
and employee turnover, expected increases in salaries, 
entitlements, and pensions, and uses a realistic dis-
count rate. The discount rate is based on interest rates 
currently available for long-term corporate bonds  
from investment-grade issuers, and in 2012 was set at 
3.25 percent (2011: 5.00 percent). Mortality and 
 invalidity assumptions are derived from the Heubeck 
2005 G mortality tables. The forecast long-term 
growth in existing plan assets is based on the invest-
ment structure taking into account historical trends 
and the expected overall return from pension insurance 
policies.

120



The employer-funded pension obligations are covered 
by VGUeV and RVP assets, which may be used solely 
for the purposes of meeting the pension commitments 
and are protected from the claims of any creditors. The 
VGUeV and RVP assets are plan assets as defined by 
IAS 19 and are netted against the pension obligations. 
If the assets exceed the pension obligations, an asset 
item is recognized in accordance with IAS 19. If the 
assets do not cover the obligation, the net obligation 
is recognized under provisions for pensions.

In some cases in the past, pension insurance policies 
were taken out to cover the risks arising from pension 
obligations. Some of these policies are pledged  
to  employees. The premiums are paid by the Union 
 Investment Group.

The obligations arising from the deferred compensa-
tion scheme (employee-funded) are covered by invest-
ments in Union Investment Group investment fund 
units. These units are pledged to the employees. How-
ever, they cannot be netted with the pension obliga-
tions because they are not recognized as plan assets.

Actuarial gains or losses may arise from increases or 
decreases in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, the fair value of plan assets, or reimburse-
ment rights. The reasons for these actuarial gains or 
losses may include changes in the calculation parame-
ters, changes in the estimates of risk from pension 
 obligations, differences between the actual and ex-
pected return on plan assets, and differences between 
the actual and expected return on reimbursement 
rights.

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit obliga-
tions, plan assets, and reimbursement rights are 
 recognized in other comprehensive income/loss in 
 accordance with IAS 19.93A.
Provisions are recognized to cover obligations arising 
from partial retirement schemes.

[20] Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized in accordance  
with IAS 37.

When determining the amount to be recognized for 
provisions, the UMH Group needs to make assumptions 
about the probability of an outflow of resources. 

 Although these assumptions are a best estimate based 
on the prevailing circumstances in each case, the  
need to make assumptions means that there is a 
 degree of uncertainty involved. When measuring provi-
sions,  assumptions also have to be made about the 
likely amount of the outflow of resources. A change in 
the assumptions used may alter the amount recog-
nized for the provisions.

[21] Revenue

Revenue comprises management fees, sales commis-
sions, and other commissions. Revenue is recognized 
when the underlying services have been performed,  
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group, and the amount of the revenue can be 
 reliably measured. Revenue is generally recognized 
over the period in which the underlying services  
are performed. In the case of performance-related 
management fees, revenue is recognized when the 
 contractually agreed performance criteria have been 
satisfied.

The management fees represent the payment of  
a consideration for the professional management of 
 mutual funds, special funds, individual portfolios,  
and portfolios forming part of advisory agreements 
with institutional clients.

Management fees vary depending on the asset  
classes being managed and sometimes include perfor-
mance-related components. 

The volume-related sales commission that is generated 
from the sale of fund units with a front-end fee is 
used, among other things, to cover sales and marketing 
expenses. Sales commission is recognized on the  
date of the sale. The amount recognized is reduced by 
the portion of the sales commission passed on to  
sales partners, any such reduction being reported as a 
deduction from revenue.

Interest income generated from deposits and fixed- 
income securities is recognized using the effective 
 interest method.

Dividend income from long-term equity investments 
and distributions from investment fund units are 
 recognized on the date that the legal entitlement to 
the payment arises.
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[22] Income taxes

Current and deferred tax assets are shown under the 
income tax assets balance sheet item; current and 
 deferred tax liabilities are reported under income tax 
liabilities.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are calculated 
using current tax rates. The tax rate applied to German 
income taxes was 31.93 percent (2011: 31.93 percent) 
and comprised a corporation tax rate of 15.0 percent 
(2011: 15.0 percent), the solidarity surcharge rate of 
5.5 percent (2011: 5.5 percent) of corporation tax, 
and trade tax. Deferred tax assets and liabilities arose 
in connection with differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS 
and those in the tax base. These differences are 
 expected to impact on income tax liabilities or refunds 
in the future (temporary differences). Deferred taxes 
are measured using the tax rates expected to apply in 
the country of the company concerned in the period  
in which the taxes will actually be paid or recovered. 
Deferred tax assets for as yet unused tax loss carry-
forwards are only recognized if it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits in the same tax 
unit in the future against which the losses can be 
 utilized. Current tax receivables and payables are re-
ported separately and are not netted, nor are they 
 discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized either 
in the income statement (under income taxes) or on 
the face of the balance sheet (under equity) depending 
on the treatment of the items to which they relate. 
 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are net-
ted on the balance sheet if they relate to the same  
tax authorities.

Other, non-income-related taxes are reported under 
other net operating income (Note [31]).

After the balance sheet date, there were no changes 
to tax rates or tax legislation that could have a signifi-
cant impact on the UMH Group’s income tax assets  
or liabilities.

The income tax expense represents the total of the 
current tax expense and the deferred taxes. The current 
tax expense is calculated on the basis of the taxable 
income for the year. Taxable income is different from 
the net profit for the year reported in the income 
statement because taxable income disregards income 

and expense that is not taxable/deductible for tax 
 purposes or that is only taxable/deductible for tax pur-
poses in subsequent years. The UMH Group’s current 
tax liabilities were calculated using the tax rates in 
force at the balance sheet date or enacted prior to the 
balance sheet date.

The UMH Group is liable to pay income taxes in various 
countries, and the basis for measuring this liability 
 varies from country to country. Provisions for taxes world-
wide were recognized on the basis of profits deter-
mined in accordance with local stipulations and locally 
applicable tax rates. However, there are some trans-
actions whose final taxation cannot be definitively de-
termined during the normal course of business. The 
amount of the provisions set aside for tax audits is 
based on estimates as to the probability of additional 
tax becoming due in the future and the amount of 
such liabilities. An appropriate provision is recognized 
for any risks arising from a different tax treatment  
that might be applied in the future. If the final taxation 
of these transactions differs from the tax originally 
 assumed, this will impact on the current and deferred 
taxes recognized in the period in which the taxation  
is definitively determined.

The UMH Group also needs to make estimates to de-
termine whether any impairment losses need to be 
recognized on deferred tax assets. There are two key 
elements in deciding whether deferred tax assets are 
impaired: an assessment of the probability that tem-
porary measurement differences will reverse and an 
assessment as to whether the loss carryforwards that 
have given rise to the recognition of deferred tax as-
sets can be utilized. These factors depend on the avail-
ability of future taxable profits during the periods in 
which the temporary measurement differences reverse 
and the tax loss carryforwards can be utilized. The in-
terpretation of complex tax legislation and the amount 
and timing of future taxable income are subject to a 
degree of uncertainty. There may be changes to the 
taxes payable in future periods as a consequence of 
differences between actual outcomes and assumptions 
or future changes in these assumptions, especially in 
view of the increasing interdependence of internation-
al markets.

[23] Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising 
from past events. The existence of these obligations will 
only be confirmed by future events outside the control 
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of the UMH Group. Present obligations arising out of 
past events but not recognized because of the improb-
ability of an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits also constitute contingent liabilities.

Contingent liabilities are measured at the best estimate 
of possible future outflows of resources embodying 
economic benefits.

[24] Leasing

Under IAS 17, a lease is classified as an operating 
lease if substantially all the risks and rewards inciden-
tal to ownership are not transferred to the lessee. In 
operating leases, the lessor accounts for the assets. In 
contrast, a finance lease is a lease that transfers sub-
stantially all the risks and rewards incidental to owner-
ship of the asset concerned to the lessee.

The subsidiaries in the Union Investment Group gener-
ally only act as lessees. There are also a very small 
number of cases in which rental income is earned from 
leasing office space to third parties. All such leases  
are operating leases.

Lease payments under an operating lease are 
 recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease and reported as administrative expenses.

There were no contractual arrangements classified  
as finance leases during the reporting year.
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[25] Net interest income

[27] Net fee and commission income

Consolidated income statement disclosures

[26] Allowances for losses on loans and receivables

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Directly recognized write-downs -11 -38 27

Total -11 -38 27

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Interest income and current income 18,038 14,143 3,895

from lending and money market operations 1,169 2,756 -1,587

from investment fund units 12,357 11,375 982

from long-term equity investments 12 12 –

from investments in subsidiaries 4,500 – 4,500

Interest expenses -2,260 -2,490 230

for liabilities to banks and customers -1,927 -2,363 436

for other liabilities -333 -127 -206

Total 15,778 11,653 4,125

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Fee and commission income 1,270,749 1,223,773 46,976

from sales commissions 32,272 27,023 5,249

from management fees 1,061,394 1,024,470 36,924

from securities custody accounts 35,902 34,530 1,372

other 141,181 137,750 3,431

Fee and commission expenses -406,777 -399,739 -7,038

for volume-based commissions -334,680 -332,315 -2,365

for revenue-based commissions -4,956 -4,449 -507

for securities custody accounts -3,932 -3,292 -640

other -63,209 -59,683 -3,526

Total 863,972 824,034 39,938
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[29] Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the equity method

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Joint ventures 1,626 91 1,535

Associates -2,418 -3,436 1,018

Total -792 -3,345 2,553

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other  
than trading

-2,489 -2,498 9

 Fair value gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other  
than trading

-2,488 -2,489 10

Realized gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other  
than trading

-1 – -1

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair  
value through profit or loss

18,984 -6,728 25,712

Gains and losses on bonds and other  
fixed-income securities

29 – 29

•  Realized gains and losses on bonds and other fixed-income securities 
(active market)

29 – 29

Gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities 
(including other shareholdings)

18,955 -6,728 25,683

•  Fair value gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities 
(including other shareholdings)

18,894 -7,203 26,097

•  Realized gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities 
(including other shareholdings)

61 475 -414

Total 16,495 -9,226 25,721

[28] Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments
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[30] Administrative expenses

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Staff expenses -284,074 -272,029 -12,045

Wages and salaries -247,520 -237,301 -10,219

Social security contributions -25,970 -25,128 -842

Pension and other post-employment benefit expenses -10,584 -9,600 -984

Other administrative expenses -281,789 -298,654 16,865

IT expenses -69,001 -67,139 -1,862

Public relations/marketing -57,185 -65,818 8,633

Office expenses -35,251 -38,396 3,145

Consultancy -34,454 -36,987 2,533

Property and occupancy costs -28,383 -31,198 2,815

Other -57,515 -59,116 1,601

Depreciation and amortization expense -14,596 -14,391 -205

Property, plant and equipment -3,421 -3,560 139

Intangible assets -11,175 -10,831 -344

Total -580,459 -585,074 4,615

The following table shows a breakdown of pension and other post-employment benefit expenses: 

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Defined benefit plan expenses -7,553 -6,895 -658

Current service cost -3,876 -3,742 -134

Interest cost -6,797 -6,149 -648

Expected return on plan assets 3,005 2,828 177

Expected return on reimbursement rights 115 168 -53

Defined contribution plan expenses -2,657 -2,491 -166

Expenses in respect of other pension and  
post-employment benefits

-374 -214 -160

Total -10,584 -9,600 -984

[31] Other net operating income

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Other operating income 27,108 33,185 -6,077

Income from the reversal of accruals 8,755 12,257 -3,502

Income from the refund of other taxes 6,746 7,272 -526

Income from the reversal of provisions 1,602 3,125 -1,523

Income from exchange differences on currency translation 110 174 -64

Residual other operating income 9,895 10,357 -462

Other operating expenses -35,497 -5,561 -29,936

Restructuring expenses -15,049 – -15,049

Expenses for other taxes -12,821 -2,595 -10,226

Expenses for exchange differences on currency translation -530 -209 -321

Impairment losses on intangible assets -198 -141 -57

Residual other operating expenses -6,899 -2,616 -4,283

Total -8,389 27,624 -36,013
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[32] Income taxes

The breakdown of income taxes is as follows: 

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Current tax expense -88,338 -71,514 -16,824

Deferred taxes 2,391 3,159 -768

Total -85,947 -68,355 -17,592

The following reconciliation shows the relationship between profit/loss before taxes and income taxes in the year 
under review: 

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Profit before taxes 306,594 265,628 40,966

x income tax rate 30.852% 30.525% 0.327%

= expected income tax expense for 2012 94,590 81,083 13,507

Deduction from tax owing to tax-exempt income -14,684 -14,340 -344

Addition to tax owing to non-deductible expenses 9,383 4,511 4,872

Trade tax variance 2,354 2,276 78

Tax rate differences on income subject to taxation in other countries -3,442 -3,325 -117

Reduction/increase in tax owing to changes in the law and the  
introduction of new types of tax

5 – 5

Current tax expense/income relating to prior periods -3,612 -2,063 -1,549

Deferred tax expense/income relating to prior periods 1,426 259 1,167

Change in impairment loss on deferred tax assets – 6 -6

Other -73 -52 -21

Tax expense in accordance with IFRS 85,947 68,355 17,592

The income tax expense included income from the interest on recognized corporation tax credits amounting  
to EUR 1,692 thousand (2011: EUR 211 thousand).

The tax rate used for the calculation of deferred taxes was 31.93 percent (2011: 31.93 percent).

The deferred tax income attributable to temporary differences or the reversal thereof that did not result  
from either loss carryforwards or tax rate differences amounted to EUR 2,396 thousand (2011: tax income  
of EUR 3,153 thousand).

The deferred tax expense / tax income attributable to tax rate changes or the introduction of new types of  
tax is shown separately in the reconciliation.
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2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (before tax) 121 – 121

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive  
income/loss

-2 – -2

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (after tax) 119 – 119

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign subsidiaries  
(before tax)

1,792 -2,402 4,194

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive  
income/loss

46 -62 108

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 
subsidiaries (after tax)

1,838 -2,464 4,302

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (before tax) -38,567 -2,434 -36,133

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive  
income/loss

12,094 520 11,574

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (after tax) -26,473 -1,914 -24,559

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and  
associates accounted for using the equity method (before tax)

-465 856 -1,321

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive  
income/loss

– – –

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method (after tax)

-465 856 -1,321

Other comprehensive income/loss (before tax) -37,119 -3,980 -33,139

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 
income/loss

12,138 458 11,680

Other comprehensive income/loss (after tax) -24,981 -3,522 -21,459

Statement of comprehensive income disclosures

[33] Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income/loss

The table below shows the income taxes relating to the various components of other comprehensive income/loss.
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Consolidated balance sheet disclosures

[34] Cash and cash equivalents

[35] Loans to and receivables from banks

[36] Loans to and receivables from customers

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Cash on hand 63 43 20

Total 63 43 20

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from banks in Germany 403,724 234,902 168,822

of which repayable on demand 403,718 234,902 168,816

Loans to and receivables from banks outside Germany 79,109 30,175 48,934

of which repayable on demand 78,977 30,175 48,802

Total 482,833 265,077 217,756

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from customers in Germany 45,392 31,564 13,828

Loans to and receivables from customers outside Germany 11,632 9,317 2,315

Total 57,024 40,881 16,143

Loans to and receivables from customers included loans of EUR 25 thousand secured by mortgage  
(December 31, 2011: EUR 32 thousand).

Loans to and receivables from customers also included employer loans to salaried staff amounting to  
EUR 4,483 thousand (December 31, 2011: EUR 4,855 thousand).

In addition, they include receivables from customers of EUR 10,780 thousand (December 31, 2011:  
EUR 13,351 thousand) in respect of accrued custody account fees for investment accounts under the  
German Capital Accumulation Act (VermBG).
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[37] Investments

Changes in investments

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Equities and other variable-yield securities 583,248 740,608 -157,360

Equities 31 31 –

Investment fund units 582,914 740,287 -157,373

Other shareholdings 303 290 13

Investments in subsidiaries 6,641 6,179 462

Total 589,889 746,787 -156,898

Bonds and  
other 

fixed-income 
securities

Equities and 
other 

variable-yield 
securities

Investments in 
subsidiaries 

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2012 – 755,540 6,179 761,719

Additions 8,418 534,054 341 542,813

Reclassifications – -12,308 – -12,308

Disposals -8,418 -697,346 – -705,764

Currency translation – 252 – 252

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2012 – 580,192 6,520 586,712

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement at  
fair value as at Jan. 1, 2012

– -14,932 – -14,932

Changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss resulting from 
measurement at fair value in 2012

– – 121 121

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value through profit or  
loss in 2012

– 16,888 – 16,888

Reclassifications (measurement at fair value) – -43 – -43

Disposals (measurement at fair value) – 1,129 – 1,129

Changes resulting from currency translation (measurement at fair value) – 14 – 14

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement at fair value as 
at Dec. 31, 2012

– 3,056 121 3,177

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2012 – 740,608 6,179 746,787

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2012 – 583,248 6,641 589,889
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[38] Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method

There are no active markets for the investments accounted for using the equity method, nor can their fair value 
be reliably determined by using a valuation technique based on assumptions that do not rely on available 
 observable market data. There are no other suitable markets elsewhere. The investments in joint ventures and 
associates are largely intended to support the operating activities of the UMH Group over the long term.

Changes in shares in companies accounted for using the equity method

The changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss relating to investments in joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method comprised comprehensive losses of EUR 465 thousand (2011: comprehensive income 
of EUR 856 thousand) attributable to currency translation and comprehensive losses of EUR 1,232 thousand 
(2011: comprehensive loss of EUR 666 thousand) attributable to dividend payments.

The changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss relating to investments in associates accounted  
for using the equity method comprised comprehensive losses of EUR 283 thousand (2011: comprehensive loss  
of EUR 108 thousand) attributable to distributions.

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Investments in joint ventures 49,182 49,253 -71

Investments in associates 14,560 17,261 -2,701

Total 63,742 66,514 -2,772

Investments in  
joint ventures

Investments in 
associates

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2012 55,282 20,210 75,492

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2012 55,282 20,210 75,492

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement under  
the equity method as at Jan. 1, 2012

-6,029 -2,949 -8,978

Changes resulting from measurement under the equity method -71 -2,701 -2,772

• of which changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss -1,697 -283 -1,980

• of which changes recognized in profit or loss 1,626 -2,418 -792

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement under the  
equity method as at Dec. 31, 2012

-6,100 -5,650 -11,750

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2012 49,253 17,261 66,514

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2012 49,182 14,560 63,742
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The following table shows the total of the UMH Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, equity, and income and 
expenses recognized in profit or loss in respect of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method:

The following table shows the total of the UMH Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, equity, and income  
and expenses recognized in profit or loss in respect of associates accounted for using the equity method:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Assets 28,307 28,466 -159

Liabilities 2,042 2,130 -88

Equity 26,265 26,336 -71

Income recognized in profit or loss 7,906 7,241 665

Expenses recognized in profit or loss -6,280 -7,150 870

Net profit/loss for the period 1,626 91 1,535

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Assets 170,433 160,877 9,556

Liabilities 152,494 139,614 12,880

Equity 17,939 21,263 -3,324

Income recognized in profit or loss 23,011 15,339 7,672

Expenses recognized in profit or loss -25,429 -18,775 -6,654

Net profit/loss for the period -2,418 -3,436 1,018
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[39] Property, plant and equipment

Changes in property, plant and equipment

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Land and buildings 44,798 45,644 -846

Office furniture and equipment 5,972 6,512 -540

Total 50,770 52,156 -1,386

Land and buildings Office furniture  
and equipment

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2012 66,517 28,341 94,858

Additions 463 1,681 2,144

Disposals -2,554 -2,516 -5,070

Currency translation – 166 166

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2012 64,426 27,672 92,098

Depreciation as at Jan. 1, 2012 -20,873 -21,829 -42,702

Additions (depreciation) -1,308 -2,136 -3,444

Disposals 2,553 2,377 4,930

Currency translation – -112 -112

Depreciation as at Dec. 31, 2012 -19,628 -21,700 -41,328

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2012 45,644 6,512 52,156

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2012 44,798 5,972 50,770
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[40] Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Software 57,837 47,402 10,435

Total 57,837 47,402 10,435

No goodwill has been recognized by the UMH Group. All intangible assets have a finite useful life.

Software Total

EUR’000 EUR’000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2012 131,267 131,267

Additions 22,868 22,868

Disposals -1,073 -1,073

Currency translation 65 65

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2012 153,127 153,127

Amortization and impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2012 -83,865 -83,865

Additions (amortization) -11,373 -11,373

Disposals 5 5

Currency translation -57 -57

Amortization and impairment losses as at Dec. 31, 2012 -95,290 -95,290

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2012 47,402 47,402

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2012 57,837 57,837
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[41] Income tax assets

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Current tax assets 8,460 5,733 2,727

Germany 8,398 5,671 2,727

Rest of the world 62 62 –

Deferred tax assets 20,300 5,632 14,668

Deferred tax assets (recognized in income) 40,139 35,188 4,951

Deferred tax assets (recognized in equity) 12,513 2,509 10,004

Netting -32,352 -32,065 -287

Total 28,760 11,365 17,395

Current income tax assets included corporation tax credits of EUR 5,146 thousand (December 31, 2011:  
EUR 4,274 thousand).

Deferred tax assets that were only expected to be realized after twelve months amounted to  
EUR 15,422 thousand (based on their net value; December 31, 2011: EUR 4,565 thousand).

Deferred tax assets represent the potential income tax relief available from temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts for assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with IFRS and those 
in the tax base in accordance with local tax regulations for the companies in the UMH Group.

No deferred taxes were recognized in respect of loss carryforwards of EUR 9 thousand (December 31, 2011: EUR 
36 thousand) because, from the current perspective, it was not considered certain that the loss carryforwards 
could be utilized.

Deferred tax assets were recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Assets

Investment fund units 113 – 113

Property, plant and equipment 387 408 -21

Intangible assets 58 10 48

Other assets 1,425 908 517

Liabilities and equity

Derivatives (negative fair values) 1,918 1,158 760

Provisions for employee benefits 39,353 29,991 9,362

Other provisions 634 1,841 -1,207

Other liabilities 8,764 3,381 5,383

Total 52,652 37,697 14,955
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[42] Other assets

[43] Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale

[44] Liabilities to banks

[45] Liabilities to customers

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Other financial receivables 61,645 61,159 486

Trade receivables 61,412 60,785 627

• of which from investment funds 60,083 56,828 3,255

Residual other receivables 233 374 -141

Other tax assets 10,273 11,782 -1,509

Residual other assets 6,286 15,034 -8,748

•  of which funding surplus for defined benefit plans 1,574 10,940 -9,366

•  of which reimbursement rights recognized as assets in accordance  
with IAS 19.104A

3,994 3,917 77

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 5,791 5,647 144

Total 83,995 93,622 -9,627

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Investments 25,023 24,853 170

Total 25,023 24,853 170

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Liabilities to banks in Germany 22,310 32,674 -10,364

of which repayable on demand 22,310 32,674 -10,364

Liabilities to banks outside Germany 548 72 476

of which repayable on demand 548 72 476

Total 22,858 32,746 -9,888

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Liabilities to customers in Germany 72 64 8

of which repayable on demand 72 64 8

Liabilities to customers outside Germany 18 648 -630

of which repayable on demand 18 648 -630

Total 90 712 -622
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[46] Derivatives (negative fair values)

[47] Provisions

Provisions for employee benefits

The following table shows a breakdown of provisions for defined benefit obligations: 

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

In connection with guarantee commitments 6,121 3,633 2,488

Total 6,121 3,633 2,488

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Provisions for employee benefits 161,248 103,356 57,892

Provisions for defined benefit obligations 118,541 81,634 36,907

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 15,456 11,351 4,105

Provisions for termination benefits 27,251 10,245 17,006

• of which provisions for partial retirement schemes 15,607 10,145 5,462

•  of which provisions for termination benefits linked with restructuring 11,644 – 11,644

•  of which residual provisions for termination benefits – 100 -100

Provisions for short-term employee benefits – 126 -126

Other provisions 18,379 13,586 4,793

Provisions for onerous contracts – 48 -48

Provisions for litigation costs 432 432 –

Provisions for restructuring 3,405 – 3,405

Residual provisions 14,542 13,106 1,436

Total 179,627 116,942 62,685

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations 188,141 137,478 50,663

of which not funded by plan assets 111,928 81,634 30,294

of which funded by plan assets 76,213 55,844 20,369

Fair value of plan assets 71,175 66,784 4,391

Total obligation (net) 116,966 70,694 46,272

Unrecognized past service cost – – –

Unrecognized plan assets in the event of a funding surplus  
(asset ceiling)

– – –

Funding surplus 1,574 10,940 -9,366

Provisions recognized for defined benefit obligations 118,541 81,634 36,907

Fair value of reimbursement rights 3,994 3,917 77
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The changes in the defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

The breakdown of funding for pension plans is as follows: 

The following experience adjustments were applied in the year under review in the measurement of the defined 
benefit obligations and plan assets: 

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 137,478 124,343 13,135

Current service cost 3,876 3,742 134

Interest cost 6,797 6,149 648

Current pension payments -3,710 -3,085 -625

Employee contributions 4,459 5,361 -902

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) 39,276 1,001 38,275

of which experience adjustments -857 1,001 -1,858

of which change-related adjustments 40,133 – 40,133

Reclassifications -35 -33 -2

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 188,141 137,478 50,663

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2009 Dec. 31, 2008

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations 188,141 137,478 124,343 104,839 92,277

Less fair value of plan assets 71,175 66,784 62,840 57,461 52,649

Total 116,966 70,694 61,503 47,378 39,628

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Experience adjustments to present value of defined benefit 
obligations (gains(-)/losses(+))

-857 1,001 555 -1,378 -1,705

Experience adjustments to plan assets (gains(+)/losses(-)) 705 -1,259 796 -47 -5,189

138



The changes in reimbursement rights recognized as assets in accordance with IAS 19.104A at the balance sheet 
date were as follows: 

The actual return on plan assets amounted to EUR 3,710 thousand in the year under review  
(2011: EUR 1,569 thousand).

The changes in plan assets at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 3,917 3,531 386

Expected return on reimbursement rights 115 168 -53

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) 5 -174 179

of which experience adjustments 5 -174 179

of which change-related adjustments – – –

Funding of reimbursement rights 315 446 -131

of which contributions by employer 278 407 -129

of which contributions by employees 37 39 -2

Pension benefits paid -370 -54 -316

Settlements 12 – 12

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 3,994 3,917 77

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 66,784 62,840 3,944

Expected return on plan assets 3,005 2,828 177

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) 705 -1,259 1,964

of which experience adjustments 705 -1,259 1,964

of which change-related adjustments – – –

Funding of plan assets 3,138 4,619 -1,481

of which contributions by employer 3,138 4,619 -1,481

of which contributions by employees – – –

Pension benefits paid -2,457 -2,244 -213

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 71,175 66,784 4,391

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Other assets 71,175 66,784 4,391

Total 71,175 66,784 4,391

The planned additions to plan assets within the following reporting period amounted to EUR 3,561 thousand 
(December 31, 2011: EUR 3,646 thousand).

The actual return on reimbursement rights amounted to EUR 120 thousand in the year under review  
(2011: minus EUR 6 thousand).

The following table shows the breakdown of the fair value of plan assets: 
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The following actuarial assumptions were made: 

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

Percent Percent Percentage points

Discount rate 3.25 5.00 -1.75

Expected return on plan assets 4.50 4.50 –

Expected return on reimbursement rights recognized as assets 2.94 4.75 -1.81

Rate of increase in benefit entitlements  
(before benefits are drawn)

0.00-3.25 0.00-3.25 –

Rate of increase in benefits (after benefits are initially drawn) 0.00-3.00 0.00-3.00 –

Staff turnover 0.00-6.00 0.00-6.00 –

Changes in other provisions

Provisions 
for onerous 

contracts

Provisions 
for  

litigation 
costs

Provisions 
for 

restructur-
ing

Residual 
provisions

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1, 2012 48 432 – 13,106 13,586

Additions – – 3,405 3,828 7,233

Utilizations – – – -1,041 -1,041

Reversals -48 – – -1,554 -1,602

Effect from the increase in the discounted amount over time and  
change in the discount rate

– – – 203 203

Closing balance as at Dec. 31, 2012 – 432 3,405 14,542 18,379

140



The residual maturities of other provisions are shown in the following table:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Provisions for onerous contracts – 48 -48

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – 48 -48

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Provisions for litigation costs 432 432 –

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years 432 432 –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Provisions for restructuring 3,405 – 3,405

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years 1,395 – 1,395

More than five years 2,010 – 2,010

Indefinite – – –

Residual provisions 14,542 13,106 1,436

Up to three months 624 443 181

Three months to one year 1,846 2,993 -1,147

One year to five years 9,781 7,486 2,295

More than five years 2,291 2,184 107

Indefinite – – –
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[48] Income tax liabilities

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Current income tax liabilities 60,414 81,025 -20,611

Provisions for income taxes 60,182 80,933 -20,751

Income tax liabilities 232 92 140

Deferred tax liabilities 4,409 4,270 139

Deferred tax liabilities (recognized in profit or loss) 36,436 33,921 2,515

Deferred tax liabilities (recognized in equity) 325 2,414 -2,089

Netting -32,352 -32,065 -287

Total 64,823 85,295 -20,472

Provisions for income taxes are tax liabilities for which a final and binding tax assessment notice has not yet 
been issued.

Income tax liabilities include payment obligations for current income taxes owed to tax authorities both in 
 Germany and in other countries.

Deferred tax liabilities represent the potential income tax expense arising from temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts for assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with IFRS and 
those in the tax base in accordance with local tax regulations for the companies in the UMH Group.

Deferred tax liabilities that were only expected to be actually incurred after twelve months amounted to  
EUR 4,398 thousand (based on their net value; December 31, 2011: EUR 4,073 thousand).

Deferred tax liabilities were recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Assets

Investment fund units 3,631 714 2,917

Investments in subsidiaries and long-term equity investments 2 – 2

Property, plant and equipment 8,112 8,108 4

Intangible assets 1 1 –

Other assets – 214 -214

Liabilities and equity

Provisions for employee benefits 24,929 25,839 -910

Other provisions 34 341 -307

Other liabilities 52 1,118 -1,066

Total 36,761 36,335 426
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[49] Other liabilities

[50] Equity

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Other financial liabilities 22,356 10,543 11,813

Liabilities to social security providers 1,068 1,073 -5

Trade payables 5,857 4,846 1,011

Sundry other liabilities 15,431 4,624 10,807

Other tax liabilities 57,840 47,403 10,437

Accruals 358,925 352,231 6,694

of which for sales commissions 244,907 229,939 14,968

Residual other liabilities 388 1,032 -644

Deferred income 117 44 73

Total 439,626 411,253 28,373

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Subscribed capital 87,130 87,130 –

Capital reserves 18,617 18,617 –

Retained earnings 395,842 390,704 5,138

Revaluation reserve 112 – 112

Currency translation reserve 740 -633 1,373

Unappropriated earnings 217,724 193,710 24,014

Non-controlling interests 6,626 8,591 -1,965

Total 726,791 698,119 28,672

Subscribed capital

The subscribed capital corresponds to the share capital of UMH AG. It amounts to EUR 87,130 thousand 
 (December 31, 2011: EUR 87,130 thousand) and is divided into 29,043,466 (December 31, 2011: 29,043,466) 
fully paid-up, registered no-par-value shares. The UMH Group did not hold any treasury shares at the balance 
sheet date. There were no preferential rights or restrictions in relation to the distribution of dividends.

A dividend of EUR 5.17 per share (2011: EUR 6.00 per share) was distributed to shareholders during the reporting 
year in accordance with the resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting held on May 25, 2012. This equates 
to a total dividend payment of EUR 150,155 thousand (2011: EUR 174,261 thousand). The payment of a dividend 
of EUR 5.17 per share will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting to be held on May 13, 2013. This would 
again equate to a total dividend payment of EUR 150,155 thousand. The Supervisory Board of UMH AG approved 
the proposed appropriation of profit at its meeting held on February 27, 2013.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves comprise the premiums arising on the issue of shares in the Company.
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Retained earnings

Retained earnings comprise the undistributed earnings from prior years, actuarial gains and losses on defined 
benefit plans and plan assets in accordance with IAS 19.93A, and on reimbursement rights in accordance with 
IAS 19.104A, together with the effects of the first-time adoption of IFRS with the exception of the effects from 
the remeasurement of available-for-sale financial instruments.

Breakdown of changes in retained earnings by component of other comprehensive income:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans -26,026 -1,890 -24,136

Total -26,026 -1,890 -24,136

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets 112 – 112

Total 112 – 112

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve comprises the effects from the remeasurement of the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial instruments (net of the associated deferred taxes) before these effects can be recognized in profit or loss. 
Gains and losses are only recognized in profit or loss when the relevant asset is sold or an impairment loss has 
been recognized.

Breakdown of changes in the revaluation reserve by component of other comprehensive income/loss:
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Currency translation reserve

The effects of exchange rates arising when the financial statements of Group companies denominated in foreign 
currency are translated into the group reporting currency (euro) are reported in the currency translation reserve.

Breakdown of changes in the currency translation reserve by component of other comprehensive income:

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the share of subsidiaries’ equity not attributable to UMH AG.

Breakdown of changes in non-controlling interests by component of other comprehensive income:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 
subsidiaries

1,838 -2,464 4,302

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method

-465 856 -1,321

Total 1,373 -1,608 2,981

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets 7 – 7

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans -447 -24 -423

Total -440 -24 -416
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Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans and receivables 601,502 367,117 234,385

Loans to and receivables from banks 482,833 265,077 217,756

Loans to and receivables from customers 57,024 40,881 16,143

Other financial receivables 61,645 61,159 486

Other financial liabilities 45,304 44,001 1,303

Liabilities to banks 22,858 32,746 -9,888

Liabilities to customers 90 712 -622

Other financial liabilities 22,356 10,543 11,813

Available for sale 6,975 6,500 475

Investments 6,975 6,500 475

 •  Equities and other variable-yield securities (including long-term equity 
investments)

334 321 13

   - measured at cost 334 321 13

• Investments in subsidiaries 6,641 6,179 462

   - measured at fair value 6,624 – 6,624

   - measured at cost 17 6,179 -6,162

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 607,937 765,140 -157,203

Investments 582,914 740,287 -157,373

•  Equities and other variable-yield securities (including long-term equity 
investments)

582,914 740,287 -157,373

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 25,023 24,853 170

Held for trading 6,121 3,633 2,488

Derivatives (negative fair values) 6,121 3,633 2,488

Financial instruments disclosures

[51] Categories of financial instruments

Investments with a carrying amount of EUR 351 thousand (December 31, 2011: EUR 6,500 thousand) were 
measured at cost. There are no active markets for these investments, nor can their fair value be reliably deter-
mined by using a valuation technique based on assumptions that do not rely on available observable market 
data. There are no other suitable markets elsewhere. The purpose of these investments is largely to support the 
business operations of the UMH Group on a permanent basis.

The financial instruments in the UMH Group do not form part of any hedge.
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[52] Items of income, expense, gains and losses

Net gains and losses

The breakdown of net gains or net losses on financial instruments by IAS 39 category for financial assets and 
financial liabilities is as follows:

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 28,852 2,149 26,703

Held-for-trading financial instruments -2,489 -2,498 9

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss 31,341 4,647 26,694

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 12 –

Loans and receivables 1,158 2,719 -1,561

Other financial liabilities -2,057 -2,419 362

Net gains or net losses comprise gains and losses on fair value measurement through profit or loss, impairment 
losses and reversals of impairment losses, and gains and losses on the sale or early repayment of the financial 
instruments concerned. These items also include interest income and expense as well as current income.

Interest income and expense

The following total interest income and expense arose in connection with financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are not at fair value through profit or loss:

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Interest income 1,169 2,756 -1,587

Interest expenses -2,057 -2,419 362

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Fee and commission income 1,270,749 1,223,773 46,976

Fee and commission expenses -404,857 -397,833 -7,024

Items of income and expense arising from commissions for asset management provided for  
third-party account

Impairment losses on financial assets

The table below shows impairment losses on financial assets broken down by financial instruments in the 
 following balance sheet line items:

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from banks – 1 -1

Loans to and receivables from customers 11 37 -26
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[53] Fair values

If there is an active market in financial assets and financial liabilities, the fair value is based on the relevant 
market price as at the balance sheet date. The fair values of investment fund units are the redemption prices 
published by the relevant asset management companies.

The fair value of investments classified as equity instruments that are not quoted in an active market is determined 
using an income capitalization approach based on unobservable parameters such as beta factors or discount 
rates that reflect the risk involved. If fair value cannot be reliably determined largely owing to the unavailability of 
profit planning data, equity instruments that are not quoted in an active market are measured at cost.

The fair value of financial instruments repayable on demand is equivalent to their carrying amount. This applies in 
particular to bank balances on checking accounts.

The valuation methods described above are used to determine the fair values of all classes of financial instrument.

Assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from banks (fair value) 482,833 265,077 217,756

Loans to and receivables from banks (carrying amount) 482,833 265,077 217,756

Loans to and receivables from customers (fair value) 57,024 40,881 16,143

Loans to and receivables from customers (carrying amount) 57,024 40,881 16,143

Investments (fair value) 589,889 746,787 -156,898

Investments (carrying amount) 589,889 746,787 -156,898

Other financial receivables (fair value) 61,645 61,159 486

Other financial receivables (carrying amount) 61,645 61,159 486

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale  
(fair value)

25,023 24,853 170

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale  
(carrying amount)

25,023 24,853 170

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Liabilities to banks (fair value) 22,858 32,746 -9,888

Liabilities to banks (carrying amount) 22,858 32,746 -9,888

Liabilities to customers (fair value) 90 712 -622

Liabilities to customers (carrying amount) 90 712 -622

Negative fair values on derivatives (fair value) 6,121 3,633 2,488

Negative fair values on derivatives (carrying amount) 6,121 3,633 2,488

Other financial liabilities (fair value) 22,356 10,543 11,813

Other financial liabilities (carrying amount) 22,356 10,543 11,813
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[54] Fair value hierarchy

The following table shows the financial instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value after initial 
measurement. These instruments are broken down into levels 1 to 3, according to the extent to which it is possible 
to observe their fair value:

Level 1 fair value measurements are derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical financial assets  
or liabilities.
Level 2 fair value measurements are based on inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 fair value measurements use models with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observ-
able market data (unobservable inputs).

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year under review.

The table below shows the changes in fair values of financial assets measured at level 3 during the year under 
review.

In the year under review, measurement at fair value was conducted for the first time for the subsidiary Union 
Investment Real Estate France S.A.S., Paris. The carrying amount had been measured at cost in the previous year 
because it was not possible to determine the fair value reliably at that time.

Strategically held investments in subsidiaries and other shareholdings whose fair values are calculated using an 
income capitalization approach are not included in a sensitivity analysis.

Assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Investments 589,538 740,287 -150,749

of which level 1 582,914 740,287 -157,373

of which level 2 – – –

of which level 3 6,624 – 6,624

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 25,023 24,853 170

of which level 1 25,023 24,853 170

of which level 2 – – –

of which level 3 – – –

Total 614,561 765,140 -150,579

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Derivatives (negative fair values) 6,121 3,633 2,488

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 6,121 3,633 2,488

of which level 3 – – –

Total 6,121 3,633 2,488

Level 3 – financial assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 – – –

Reclassifications 6,503 – 6,503

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value 121 – 121

of which through profit or loss – – –

of which through other comprehensive income 121 – 121

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 6,624 – 6,624
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[55] Contractual maturity analysis

The maturity analysis shows the contractually agreed cash inflows and outflows.

Assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from banks 482,833 265,077 217,756

Up to one month 482,833 265,077 217,756

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers 57,708 42,296 15,412

Up to one month 43,027 24,504 18,523

One month to three months 5,667 1,183 4,484

Three months to one year 77 15 62

One year to five years 7,290 12,483 -5,193

More than five years 1,647 4,111 -2,464

Indefinite – – –

Investments 589,889 746,787 -156,898

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 589,889 746,787 -156,898

Other financial receivables 61,645 61,159 486

Up to one month 61,436 60,880 556

One month to three months 23 1 22

Three months to one year 61 55 6

One year to five years 25 15 10

More than five years – 3 -3

Indefinite 100 205 -105

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified  
as held for sale

25,023 24,853 170

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 25,023 24,853 170
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Liabilities Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Liabilities to banks 22,858 32,746 -9,888

Up to one month 22,858 32,746 -9,888

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Liabilities to customers 90 712 -622

Up to one month 90 712 -622

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Derivatives (negative fair values) 6,121 3,633 2,488

Up to one month 0 2 -2

One month to three months – 2 -2

Three months to one year 0 10 -10

One year to five years 56 376 -320

More than five years 4,715 3,186 1,529

Indefinite 1,350 57 1,293

Other financial liabilities 22,356 10,543 11,813

Up to one month 19,622 8,127 11,495

One month to three months 820 731 89

Three months to one year 609 368 241

One year to five years 1,264 1,317 -53

More than five years 41 – 41

Indefinite – – –
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[56] Assets past due

Assets past due but not yet impaired Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from customers 157 88 69

Up to three months – 2 -2

Three months to six months 19 0 19

Six months to one year 59 15 44

More than one year 79 71 8

Other financial receivables 4 10 -6

Up to three months – – –

Three months to six months 4 – 4

Six months to one year – 10 -10

More than one year – – –

Other disclosures Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Financial guarantees 47,327 48,237 -910

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 47,327 48,237 -910

The table above shows financial guarantees’ potential cash outflows rather than their expected outflows.
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[57] Foreign currency volume

Assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from banks 17,634 13,685 3,949

US dollar (USD) 633 517 116

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) 1 1 –

Pound sterling (GBP) 2 2 –

Polish zloty (PLN) 16,983 13,157 3,826

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies 15 8 7

Loans to and receivables from customers 1,351 501 850

US dollar (USD) 1,046 211 835

Swiss franc (CHF) 251 264 -13

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 15 16 -1

Polish zloty (PLN) – – –

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – 10 -10

Other foreign currencies 39 – 39

Investments 3,483 2,024 1,459

US dollar (USD) 0 0 –

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) 3,483 2,024 1,459

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Other financial receivables 3,374 2,114 1,260

US dollar (USD) 5 41 -36

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 23 22 1

Polish zloty (PLN) 3,319 1,951 1,368

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) 25 6 19

Other foreign currencies 2 94 -92

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale – 23 -23

US dollar (USD) – – –

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) – 23 -23

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 25,842 18,347 7,495

153

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements 



Liabilities Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Other financial liabilities 677 531 146

US dollar (USD) 0 – 0

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) 677 531 146

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 677 531 146

Other disclosures Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Financial guarantees 47,327 48,237 -910

US dollar (USD) 47,327 48,237 -910

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) – – –

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 47,327 48,237 -910

The nominal amount is reported for financial guarantees.
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Other disclosures
 
[58] Equity management

As a subsidiary of DZ BANK, UMH AG is not subject to separate consolidated supervision as a banking group under 
the German Banking Act (KWG) and, consequently, nor is it subject to any regulatory capital requirements at 
UMH Group level. However, some of the companies in the Union Investment Group are – at individual bank level – 
subject to regulatory capital requirements under national legislation, which was complied with at all times during 
the reporting year. Regulatory capital requirements in the Federal Republic of Germany are specified for fund 
management companies by section 11 of the German Investment Act (InvG) and for Union Investment Service 
Bank AG by section 10 KWG. The Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG also uses the corporate guidelines on 
integrated risk and capital management as the basis for ensuring appropriate capital adequacy in the Union 
 Investment Group. In these procedures, the aggregate risk is compared against the available aggregate risk cover 
for a given analysis period in order to make sure that, with a specified confidence level, the potential losses do not 
exceed the aggregate risk cover. Aggregate risk cover comprises the equity reported on the balance sheet and 
quasi-equity components, and also takes into account hidden reserves and liabilities that would crystallize in the 
event of a loss. Please refer to the statement of changes in equity for further information on the composition  
of and changes in equity. Additional details on risk management can also be found in the risk report within the 
group management report.

The Union Investment Group (through UMH AG) had total assets under management of EUR 190,535,266 thousand 
at the balance sheet date (December 31, 2011: EUR 170,276,041 thousand). The fund assets comprise equity 
funds, fixed-income funds, money-market funds, mixed funds, other securities funds, capital preservation funds, real 
estate funds, alternative investment funds, and hybrid funds issued by the Union Investment Group.

The Union Investment Group also manages assets as part of its fund-linked asset management and institutional 
asset management business and under advisory and outsourcing mandates. The fund value of funds that have  
been issued by the Union Investment Group but whose portfolio management has been outsourced is shown as 
a  deduction. The definition of assets under management is based on the aggregate statistics from the Federal 
 Association of German Fund Management Companies (BVI), Frankfurt am Main.

Assets managed on behalf of group companies are included in the figures presented above. Some of these assets  
are accounted for in accordance with SIC-12. To maintain consistency with the BVI aggregate statistics, the fund vol-
umes for BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong, a joint venture consolidated using the equity 
method, together with IPConcept (Luxembourg) S.A. (formerly IPConcept Fund Management S.A.), Luxembourg-
Strassen (IPC Luxembourg), and IPConcept (Schweiz) AG, Zurich (IPC Switzerland), have also been included in the fig-
ures  presented above. IPC Luxembourg and IPC Switzerland are non-consolidated subsidiaries in the DZ BANK Group.

[59] Assets under management

Volume of assets under management

The volume of assets under management in the Union Investment Group at the balance sheet date was as follows:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Fund assets 173,662,927 156,341,108 17,321,819

Volume in other formats 26,023,159 20,303,332 5,719,827

of which fund-linked asset management 315,000 – 315,000

of which institutional asset management 5,561,119 3,659,115 1,902,004

of which advisory and outsourcing 20,147,040 16,644,217 3,502,823

Accounts managed by third parties -9,150,820 -6,368,399 -2,782,421

Total 190,535,266 170,276,041 20,259,225
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Net inflows to assets under management

The table below gives a breakdown of the net inflows to assets under management in the Union Investment Group.

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Net inflows (fund assets) 7,463,310 -1,782,575 9,245,885

Net inflows (in other formats) 3,666,887 1,270,098 2,396,789

of which institutional asset management 1,178,468 784,569 393,899

of which advisory and outsourcing 2,488,419 485,529 2,002,890

Net change in accounts managed by third parties -1,265,298 -1,010,271 -255,027

Total 9,864,899 -1,522,748 11,387,647

Net inflows to assets under management constitute the balance of inflows to and outflows from the product 
formats that make up assets under management. There were net inflows of EUR 9,864,899 thousand in 2012 
(2011: net outflows of EUR 1,522,748 thousand).

Volume of fund assets

The following table shows the volume of fund assets in the Union Investment Group at the balance sheet date:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Mutual funds 114,827,925 103,011,313 11,816,612

Equity funds 26,176,837 23,121,144 3,055,693

Fixed-income funds 33,181,914 27,688,871 5,493,043

Money-market funds 1,846,106 2,979,704 -1,133,598

Mixed funds 16,346,498 12,546,938 3,799,560

Other securities funds 350,328 251,383 98,945

Capital preservation funds 15,422,908 16,839,502 -1,416,594

Open-ended real estate funds 20,203,476 18,274,027 1,929,449

Alternative investment funds 803,985 806,177 -2,192

Hybrid funds 495,873 503,567 -7,694

Special funds 58,835,002 53,329,795 5,505,207

Equity funds 313,677 1,442,053 -1,128,376

Fixed-income funds 8,788,067 8,435,021 353,046

Mixed funds 39,977,636 31,440,830 8,536,806

Other securities funds – 76,895 -76,895

Capital preservation funds 8,271,485 10,654,021 -2,382,536

Special real estate funds 1,484,137 1,280,975 203,162

Total 173,662,927 156,341,108 17,321,819
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Net inflows to fund assets

The table below gives a breakdown of the net inflows to fund assets in the Union Investment Group.

Number of funds managed

The number of investment funds managed at the balance sheet date was as follows:

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Mutual funds 5,306,711 -2,089,962 7,396,673

Equity funds -176,711 -797,328 620,617

Fixed-income funds 4,170,169 -2,801,904 6,972,073

Money-market funds -1,048,932 414,060 -1,462,992

Mixed funds 1,443,817 1,214,297 229,520

Other securities funds -5,782 20,362 -26,144

Capital preservation funds -1,156,073 -441,725 -714,348

Open-ended real estate funds 2,153,810 537,434 1,616,376

Alternative investment funds -23,207 -109,225 86,018

Hybrid funds -50,380 -125,933 75,553

Special funds 2,156,599 307,387 1,849,212

Equity funds -48,478 123,589 -172,067

Fixed-income funds 523,150 -156,962 680,112

Mixed funds 2,005,347 258,342 1,747,005

Other securities funds – 1,501 -1,501

Capital preservation funds -469,473 -45,830 -423,643

Special real estate funds 146,053 126,747 19,306

Total 7,463,310 -1,782,575 9,245,885

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

Number Number Number

Mutual funds 708 675 33

Equity funds 184 182 2

Fixed-income funds 145 125 20

Money-market funds 11 16 -5

Mixed funds 246 235 11

Other securities funds 6 3 3

Capital preservation funds 96 98 -2

Open-ended real estate funds 9 5 4

Alternative investment funds 6 6 –

Hybrid funds 5 5 –

Special funds 323 308 15

Equity funds 1 6 -5

Fixed-income funds 23 21 2

Mixed funds 191 174 17

Other securities funds – 1 -1

Capital preservation funds 83 102 -19

Special real estate funds 25 4 21

Total 1,031 983 48
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[60] List of shareholdings

The shareholdings of Union Asset Management Holding AG at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Consolidated subsidiaries

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding − 
 indirect

Fund management companies

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 87.0% 1) –

Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 2) –

Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH, Hamburg 90.0% –

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg 100.0% –

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 2) –

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg 94.0% –

Union Investment Towarzystwo Funduszy Inwestycyjnych S.A., Warsaw 100.0% –

Banks

Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 2) –

Securities trading companies

attrax S.A., Luxembourg 100.0% –

Union Investment Financial Services S.A., Luxembourg – 100.0%

Service companies

UIR Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg – 3) 94.0%

Union IT-Services GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 2) 3) –

Union Service-Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 2) 3) –

Other subsidiaries

BIG-Immobilien GmbH & Co Betriebs KG, Frankfurt am Main 94.0% 3) 6.0%

BIG-Immobilien Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 3) –

1) Although UMH AG has an equity holding of 75.0 percent, it holds 100 percent of the voting shares.
2)  As permitted by section 264 (3) HGB, the annual general meetings of these subsidiaries decided not to publish their annual financial statements  

for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2012 pursuant to section 325 HGB.
3) No audited and certified annual financial statements are prepared by these companies.
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Consolidated investment funds

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding −  
indirect

UI Vario: 2, Luxembourg – 100.0%

Joint ventures accounted for under the equity method

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong 49.0% –

1) No audited and certified annual financial statements are prepared by these companies.

Non-consolidated subsidiaries

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding −  
indirect

UIR FRANCE 1 S.a.r.l., Paris – 1) 94.0%

UIR FRANCE 2 S.a.r.l., Paris – 1) 94.0%

Unigeno UG i.L., Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 1) –

UNION INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE ASIA PACIFIC PTE. LTD., Singapore – 94.0%

Union Investment Real Estate France S.A.S., Paris – 94.0%

Associates accounted for under the equity method

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding − 
 indirect

compertis Beratungsgesellschaft für betriebliches Vorsorgemanagement mbH, Wiesbaden 49.0% –

Nalinus GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 49.0% 1) –

R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden 49.0% –
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Investment funds held for sale

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding −  
indirect

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 2, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 1, Hamburg 100.0% –

UIN MultiAssetFonds, Frankfurt am Main – 98.8%

UniGlobal II A, Luxembourg – 63.7%

UniInstitutional Flexible Commodities, Luxembourg – 100.0%

UniRak Nachhaltig A, Luxembourg – 51.8%

Non-consolidated investment funds

Name and registered office Shareholding −  
direct

Shareholding −  
indirect

Quoniam Rentenfonds, Frankfurt am Main – 100.0%

UniVorsorge 1, Luxembourg – 87.5%

UniVorsorge 2, Luxembourg – 97.8%

UniVorsorge 3, Luxembourg – 97.5%

UniVorsorge 4, Luxembourg – 95.9%

UniVorsorge 5, Luxembourg – 94.9%

UniVorsorge 6, Luxembourg – 95.7%

UniVorsorge 7, Luxembourg – 96.8%

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 3, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 4, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 5, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 2, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 3, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 4, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 5, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 6, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 7, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 8, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 9, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 10, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 11, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 12, Hamburg 100.0% –

UniInstitutional Residential Real Estate, Hamburg 100.0% –

UniImmo: Flexibel, Hamburg 100.0% –

UniImmo: Metropolen, Hamburg 100.0% –
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[61] Other obligations

The Union Investment Group has capital preservation commitments under section 1 (1) no. 3 of the German 
 Personal Pension Plan Certification Act (AltZertG) amounting to EUR 6,956,973 thousand (December 31, 2011: 
EUR 5,882,671 thousand). These commitments are the total amount of the contributions paid by investors into 
 the individual variants of the UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente Select products of Union Investment Privatfonds 
GmbH. Statutory provisions specify that this is the minimum amount that must be made available at the start  
of the payout phase.

There are also minimum payment commitments of EUR 12,312,434 thousand (December 31, 2011:  
EUR 13,131,315 thousand) in connection with genuine guarantee funds launched by fund management 
 companies in the UMH Group.

The fair value of the shortfall in cover for these guarantee commitments is reported on the face of the balance 
sheet under ’Derivatives (negative fair values)’ (Note [46]).

[62] Operating lease disclosures

Some lease arrangements include index-linked contingent rents.

A few of the leases for buildings have options to renew the lease at the end of the initial term.

[63] Financial guarantees

Following the disposal of GVA GENO-Vermögens-Anlage Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main, (GVA), UMH AG 
issued guarantees in 2011 to DZ BANK and WGZ BANK as security for loans extended by these banks to two 
closed-end investment funds marketed by GVA. As at December 31, 2012, the nominal amount of these guarantees 
was US$ 62,400 thousand (December 31, 2011: US$ 62,400 thousand), which equated to EUR 47,327 thousand 
(December 31, 2011: EUR 48,237 thousand).

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable  
operating leases

136,398 111,395 25,003

of which up to one year 22,812 23,548 -736

of which one year to five years 67,639 68,607 -968

of which more than five years 45,947 19,240 26,707

Future minimum lease payments are attributable to: 136,398 111,395 25,003

Land and buildings leases 107,049 77,078 29,971

Vehicle leases 2,654 5,068 -2,414

IT leases 26,695 29,249 -2,554

Future rental receipts expected under non-cancelable
subleases at the balance sheet date

– – –

Lease and sublease payments
recognized as an expense in 2012

24,805 26,218 -1,413

of which minimum lease payments 22,984 25,955 -2,971

of which contingent rents 1,821 263 1,558

of which payments under subleases – – –
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[64] Number of employees

The following table gives a breakdown by category of the average number of employees in 2012, calculated in 
accordance with section 267 (5) HGB:

[65] Auditor fees

The following table shows the breakdown of auditor fees by type of service:

Auditor fees comprise expenses relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and group management 
report of UMH AG, the statutory audit of the annual financial statements and management report of UMH AG, 
and the audit of the separate financial statements and management reports of subsidiaries included in the consol-
idated financial statements for which an audit is mandatory. The fees charged for other attestation services es-
sentially included fees for the audit performed in accordance with section 36 of the German Securities Trading 
Act (WpHG), the auditor’s review of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements package, as well as 
other attestations and audit-related services. Tax consultancy fees related to remuneration for services rendered  
in accordance with section 1 of the German Tax Consultancy Act (StBerG). The fees for other services mainly resulted 
from the provision of consulting services.

[66] Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events of particular significance after the end of the financial year.

2012 2011 Change

Number Number Number

Female employees 1,102 1,087 15

of which full-time employees 713 707 6

of which part-time employees 389 380 9

Male employees 1,362 1,331 31

of which full-time employees 1,321 1,287 34

of which part-time employees 41 44 -3

Total employees 2,464 2,418 46

For information only:

Female trainees 49 51 -2

Male trainees 56 48 8

Total trainees 105 99 6

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Auditing services 484 419 65

Other attestation services 207 78 129

Tax consultancy services 4 13 -9

Other services 283 193 90

Total 978 703 275
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[67] Related party disclosures

DZ BANK directly holds 54.44 percent (December 31, 2011: 54.44 percent) of the share capital in UMH AG.  
UMH AG is therefore controlled by DZ BANK as defined by IAS 27. As a result, DZ BANK constitutes a related 
party of the UMH Group, as do the other entities consolidated by DZ BANK as well as its non-consolidated 
 subsidiaries, its associates and joint ventures.

Taking into account shares held indirectly, WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf, 
(WGZ BANK) also holds a significant investment in UMH AG.

The list of shareholdings (Note [60]) shows the related parties controlled by the UMH Group or over which the 
UMH Group can exercise a significant influence.

In the UMH Group, the following are related parties (individuals) as defined by IAS 24.9: the Board of Managing 
Directors and the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK, the Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board of 
UMH AG, the heads of segments/divisions and further key management personnel in the UMH Group as well as 
their respective close family members.

UMH AG maintains extensive business relationships with the entities included in the consolidated financial 
 statements as part of its normal business activities. The transactions within these relationships are conducted  
on an arm’s-length basis.

UMH AG and other entities included in the consolidated financial statements enter into relationships with other related 
parties during the course of their normal business activities. This business is transacted on an arm’s-length basis.
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Related party disclosures

Assets Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Loans to and receivables from banks 427,825 255,033 172,792

of which DZ BANK 381,711 223,916 157,795

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 25,870 25,449 421

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 19 19 –

of which WGZ BANK 20,225 5,649 14,576

Loans to and receivables from customers 1,402 1,324 78

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 764 607 157

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 27 29 -2

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 611 688 -77

Other assets 11,380 13,171 -1,791

of which DZ BANK 6,672 8,612 -1,940

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 709 642 67

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 2 – 2

of which associates of UMH AG 3 0 3

of which pension plans for employees 3,994 3,917 77

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Liabilities to banks 580 1,185 -605

of which DZ BANK – 452 -452

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 562 638 -76

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 10 10 –

of which WGZ BANK 0 82 -82

of which associates of UMH AG 8 3 5

Liabilities to customers 58 64 -6

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 58 64 -6

Other liabilities 49,771 40,329 9,442

of which DZ BANK 26,899 20,716 6,183

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 13,607 13,203 404

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK – 82 -82

of which WGZ BANK 8,128 5,409 2,719

of which associates of UMH AG 68 122 -54

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 1,069 797 272
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Consolidated income statement Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Interest income and current income 4,771 1,886 2,885

of which DZ BANK 233 1,729 -1,496

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 22 112 -90

of which WGZ BANK 16 45 -29

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 4,500 – 4,500

Interest expenses -1,885 -2,259 374

of which DZ BANK -1,852 -2,214 362

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -29 -45 16

of which WGZ BANK -4 0 -4

Fee and commission income 20,456 22,507 -2,051

of which DZ BANK 1,279 1,311 -32

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 20,492 18,919 1,573

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 9 8 1

of which WGZ BANK -2,600 819 -3,419

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries – 5 -5

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 1,276 1,445 -169

Fee and commission expenses -63,896 -62,422 -1,474

of which DZ BANK -26,954 -26,437 -517

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -26,753 -27,056 303

of which associates of DZ BANK – -146 146

of which WGZ BANK -6,005 -5,260 -745

of which associates of UMH AG -235 -230 -5

of which joint ventures of UMH AG -3,949 -3,293 -656

Administrative expenses -10,597 -11,723 1,126

of which DZ BANK -3,877 -3,869 -8

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -5,271 -7,335 2,064

of which associates of DZ BANK -3 -74 71

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK -27 -27 –

of which WGZ BANK -59 -199 140

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries -1,290 – -1,290

of which associates of UMH AG -58 -89 31

of which joint ventures of UMH AG – -58 58

Key management personnel in the UMH Group and DZ BANK – -58 58

of which other related parties -12 -14 2

Other net operating income 7,711 3,561 4,150

of which DZ BANK 5,414 1,129 4,285

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 512 660 -148

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 10 10 –

of which WGZ BANK 92 282 -190

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 329 135 194

of which associates of UMH AG 5 3 2

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 1,349 1,342 7

Other disclosures Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Financial guarantees 47,327 48,237 -910

of which DZ BANK 31,551 32,158 -607

of which WGZ BANK 15,776 16,079 -303

Please refer to our comments in Note [63] for further information on the above financial guarantees.
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The fair value of the plan assets at RVP, an associate of UMH AG, was EUR 19,602 thousand as at the balance 
sheet date (December 31, 2011: EUR 17,653 thousand). Funding of EUR 200 thousand was provided in the year 
under review (2011: EUR 973 thousand).

The ’other assets’ balance sheet item includes pension plans for the benefit of employees with a value of 
EUR 3,994 thousand (December 31, 2011: EUR 3,917 thousand). This includes the fair value of reimbursement 
rights at R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden, a company also controlled by DZ BANK, amounting to 
EUR 3,994 thousand (December 31, 2011: EUR 3,648 thousand). Funding of EUR 315 thousand was provided  
in the year under review (2011: EUR 398 thousand).

Remuneration paid to key management personnel

The UMH Group’s key management personnel are deemed to comprise the Board of Managing Directors and the 
Supervisory Board of UMH AG, the heads of segments/divisions, and other staff in key positions in the Group.

In accordance with IAS 19.124(b), disclosures are also made with regard to the post-employment benefits paid 
to these persons.

The compensation paid to the members of the Supervisory Board of UMH AG in return for the performance  
of their duties amounted to EUR 362 thousand in the year under review (2011: EUR 357 thousand). The 
 remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG in 2012 amounted to 
EUR 4,348 thousand (2011: EUR 4,221 thousand).

2012 2011 Change

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Short-term compensation 11,505 12,282 -777

Long-term compensation 1,450 1,776 -326

Contributions to defined contribution plans 42 49 -7

Current service cost of defined benefit plans 1,125 1,135 -10

Total 14,122 15,242 -1,120
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[68] Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG

[69] Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Name Professional capacity

Hans Joachim Reinke Chief Executive Officer

Ulrich Köhne Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Alexander Schindler Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Name and Supervisory Board post Professional capacity

Wolfgang Kirsch 

Chairman 1)
Chief Executive Officer, 
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

Karl-Heinz Moll 

Deputy chairman 1)
Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

Hermann Buerstedde 
Employee representative

Member of the Employees’ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Jürgen Burhop 

Member 1)
Chief Executive Officer,  
Bremische Volksbank eG, Bremen

Dr. Friedrich Caspers 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden

Uwe Fröhlich 
Member

President,  
National Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin

Lars Hille 
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

Walter Klemming 
Employee representative

Health & safety officer,  
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main

Roland Müller 
Employee representative 1)

Member of the Employees’ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Professor Dr. Wolfgang Müller 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
BBBank eG, Karlsruhe

Heike Orth 
Employee representative

Group Head, Admin Service, Institutional Clients,  
Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main

Walter Riester 
Member (until May 25, 2012)

Former German government minister,  
Berlin

Rainer Schaidnagel 
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG, Kempten

Andreas Theis 
Member (since May 25, 2012)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bitburg eG, Bitburg

Claudia Vives Carrasco 
Employee representative

Real estate manager,  
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

Dr. Heinz Wings 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
Sparda-Bank Hamburg eG, Hamburg

1) Also a member of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board.
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[70] Supervisory mandates held by members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees 

As at December 31, 2012, members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees also held mandates on 
the statutory supervisory bodies of major companies. Companies included in the consolidation are indicated with 
an asterisk (*).

Mandates held by members of the Board of Managing Directors of  
Union Asset Management Holding AG:

Name Mandate(s)

Hans Joachim Reinke Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board  
 
Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Ulrich Köhne Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Alexander Schindler Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Jens Wilhelm Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Mandates held by employees of Union Asset Management Holding AG:

Name Mandate(s)

Sonja Albers Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Member of the Supervisory Board
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Mandates held by members of management boards/senior management and employees:

[71] Residual other disclosures

The Board of Managing Directors signed these consolidated financial statements on March 4, 2013 and at the 
same time approved them for submission to the Supervisory Board. It is the responsibility of the Supervisory 
Board to review the consolidated financial statements and then to declare whether the consolidated financial 
statements are approved.

Frankfurt am Main, March 4, 2013

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke Ulrich Köhne
Chief Executive Officer Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Alexander Schindler Jens Wilhelm
Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Name Mandate(s)

Giovanni Gay 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors

Björn Jesch 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)
(since September 1, 2012)

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg (*)
Member of the Board of Directors (since September 28, 2012)   

Dr. Reinhard Kutscher 
Chief Executive Officer 
(Union Investment Real Estate GmbH)

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg 
Member of the Supervisory Board

Anja Mikus 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)
(until July 31, 2012)

Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Member of the Board of Directors (until July 31, 2012)

Klaus Riester 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Member of the Board of Directors 

Nikolaus Sillem 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Institutional GmbH)

Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Member of the Board of Directors

Peter Werhan 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Service Bank AG)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Audit Opinion (translation)

We have issued the following audit opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report:

“We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by Union Asset Management Holding AG, 
Frankfurt am Main, comprising the consolidated income 
statement, the statement of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated balance sheet, the statement of chang-
es in equity, the statement of cash flows, and the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, together 
with the group management report, for the financial 
year from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012. The 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) 
of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report based on 
our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with section 317 HGB and 
the German generally accepted standards for the audit 
of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (German Institute of Public Auditors) 
(IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
 perform the audit such that misstatements materially 
affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the applicable 

financial reporting framework and in the group man-
agement report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 
and legal environment of the Group and expectations 
as to possible misstatements are taken into account in 
the determination of audit procedures. The effective-
ness of the accounting-related internal control system 
and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements and the group man-
agement report are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 
assessing the annual financial statements of the com-
panies included in the consolidated financial statements, 
the determination of the companies to be included in 
the consolidated financial statements, the accounting 
and consolidation principles used and significant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report. We be-
lieve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for  
our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the 
consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) 
HGB, and give a true and fair view of the net assets, 
 financial position and results of operations of the Group 
in accordance with these requirements. The group 
management report is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development.”

Eschborn, Frankfurt am Main, March 4, 2013

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

Heist Kruskop
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)
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Shareholders and Decision-making Bodies 
of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Shareholders

DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

54.44%

WGZ BANK AG
Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

17.72%

VR GbR
Frankfurt am Main 1)

24.25%

Local cooperative banks (including holding companies of the primary banks, trade associations, and  
special-purpose entities of the German cooperative financial network as well as other entities)

3.59%

1)  A partnership under the German Civil Code between DZ BANK AG, Frankfurt am Main, WGZ BANK AG, Düsseldorf, and R+V Personen Holding GmbH, 
 Wiesbaden; the holdings of the VR GbR partnership assets are as follows: DZ BANK AG, 47.52 percent; WGZ BANK AG, 11.25 percent; and R+V Personen 
 Holding GmbH, 41.23 percent. Taking into account these investments in VR GbR, Frankfurt am Main, the percentages of the voting shares held by the 
 shareholders in Union Asset Management Holding AG are as follows: DZ BANK AG, 65.96 percent,2); WGZ BANK AG, 20.45 percent; and, R+V Personen 
 Holding GmbH, 10 percent.

2)  When the calculation of shareholdings also takes into account DZ BANK AG’s controlling interest in R+V Versicherung AG, which holds all the shares in  
R+V Personen Holding GmbH, DZ BANK AG controls 75.96 percent of the voting shares in Union Asset Management Holding AG.

As at March 4, 2013

Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG

1) Also a member of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board.

Name and Supervisory Board post Professional capacity

Wolfgang Kirsch 

Chairman 1)
Chief Executive Officer, 
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

Karl-Heinz Moll 

Deputy chairman 1)
Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

Hermann Buerstedde 
Employee representative

Member of the Employees’ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Jürgen Burhop 

Member 1)
Chief Executive Officer,  
Bremische Volksbank eG, Bremen

Dr. Friedrich Caspers 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden

Uwe Fröhlich 
Member

President,  
National Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin

Lars Hille 
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

Walter Klemming 
Employee representative

Health & safety officer,  
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main

Roland Müller 
Employee representative 1)

Member of the Employees’ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Professor Dr. Wolfgang Müller 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
BBBank eG, Karlsruhe

Heike Orth 
Employee representative

Group Head, Admin Service, Institutional Clients,  
Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main

Walter Riester 
Member (until May 25, 2012)

Former German government minister,  
Berlin

Rainer Schaidnagel 
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG, Kempten

Andreas Theis 
Member (since May 25, 2012)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bitburg eG, Bitburg

Claudia Vives Carrasco 
Employee representative

Real estate manager,  
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

Dr. Heinz Wings 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
Sparda-Bank Hamburg eG, Hamburg
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Dr. Wolfgang Baecker
Chairman

Chief Executive Officer,
VR-Bank Westmünsterland eG, Coesfeld

Gerhard Oppermann
Deputy Chairman

Deputy Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Hannoversche Volksbank eG, Hannover

Mario Baumert
(since January 1, 2013)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Raiffeisen-Volksbank eG, Aurich

Gunnar Bertram Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Chemnitz eG, Chemnitz

Dr. Ulrich Bittihn
(until October 31, 2012)

Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Paderborn-Höxter-Detmold eG, Paderborn

Andreas Böhler Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Kraichgau Wiesloch-Sinsheim eG, Wiesloch

Dr. Thomas Brakensiek
(since March 1, 2012)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Hamburger Volksbank eG, Hamburg

Dirk Cormann Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Heinsberger Volksbank AG, Heinsberg

Joachim Erhard Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Würzburg eG, Würzburg

Manfred Gasteiger
(since January 1, 2012)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Raiffeisen-Volksbank Donauwörth eG, Donauwörth

Walter Geser Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG, Rosenheim

Uwe Gutzmann Chief Executive Officer,
Volks- und Raiffeisenbank eG, Wismar

Dr. Peter Hanker Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Mittelhessen eG, Giessen

Eberhard Heim Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Tübingen eG, Tübingen

Michael Joop Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Hameln-Stadthagen eG, Hameln

Carsten Jung Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Berliner Volksbank eG, Berlin

Hubert Kamml Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Mangfalltal-Rosenheim eG, Rosenheim

Volker König Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Esslingen eG, Esslingen

Johann Kramer
(until December 31, 2012)

Chief Executive Officer,
Raiffeisen-Volksbank eG, Aurich

Heinrich Lages Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Selm-Bork eG, Selm

Michael Mengler Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
VVB Vereinigte Volksbank Maingau eG, Obertshausen

Advisory Council

Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke Chief Executive Officer 

Ulrich Köhne Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Alexander Schindler Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Member of the Board of Managing Directors
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Jörn Nordenholz
(since January 1, 2012)

Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank eG, Sulingen

Christoph Ochs Chief Executive Officer,
VR Bank Südpfalz eG, Landau

Wolfgang Osse Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Kasseler Bank eG Volksbank Raiffeisenbank, Kassel

Kurt Reinstädtler Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Bank 1 Saar eG, Saarbrücken

Stefan Rinsch Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Krefeld eG, Krefeld

Gregor Scheller
(until December 31, 2012)

Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Forchheim eG, Forchheim

Paul-Josef Schmitt Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Westerwald Bank eG Volks- und Raiffeisenbank, Hachenburg

Manfred Sonnenschein Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
BANK IM BISTUM ESSEN eG, Essen

Eberhard Spies Chief Executive Officer,
VR Bank Schwäbisch Hall-Crailsheim eG, Schwäbisch Hall

Manfred Stevermann
(until December 31, 2012)

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Sparda-Bank West eG, Düsseldorf

Wolfgang Völkl Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Oberbayern Südost eG, Bad Reichenhall

Ekkehard Windler Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Klettgau-Wutöschingen eG, Wutöschingen

Roger Winter Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank eG, Constance

Jürgen Wunn Chief Executive Officer,
PSD Bank RheinNeckarSaar eG, Stuttgart

As at March 4, 2013

Advisory Council (continued from page 172)

173

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2012 Annual Report Shareholders and Decision-making Bodies



Acquisition method

The acquisition method must be used to account for 
business combinations in consolidated financial state-
ments prepared in accordance with IFRS. The acquisi-
tion method is based on the notion that all the assets 
and liabilities held by the acquiree – rather than this 
entity’s shares – are acquired at their respective fair 
value. Hidden reserves and liabilities reported in the 
acquiree’s financial statements must therefore be dis-
closed in the consolidated financial statements.

Amortized cost

Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset 
or financial liability is measured at initial recognition 
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumula-
tive amortization using the effective interest method 
of any difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly  
or through the use of an allowance account) for impair-
ment or uncollectibility.

Associates 
(investments in associates)

An associate is an entity in which an investor can exer-
cise significant influence over the entity’s financial  
and operating policy decisions. Associates are generally 
included in the investor’s consolidated financial state-
ments using the equity method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative 
 financial assets that cannot be classified in any other 
category as specified in IAS 39. Changes in the fair 
value of assets in this category are generally recognized 
in other comprehensive income/loss. Only permanent 
impairment losses are recognized in the income state-
ment. 

Cash flow

Cash flow is the term given to inflows and outflows of 
cash and cash equivalents.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are income taxes that are to be paid or 
refunded in the future, that arise from measurement 
differences between the tax base and the IFRS financial 
statements, and that do not constitute a current tax 
 liability due to the tax authorities, or a current tax re-
ceivable due from the tax authorities, on the date they 
are recognized. Deferred taxes are recognized in respect 
of timing differences and, in certain circumstances, in 
respect of tax loss carryforwards.

Derivatives

Derivatives are financial instruments with the following 
characteristics: their value changes in response to  
the change in a specified underlying instrument (for 
example share price, foreign exchange rate, interest 
rate); they generally require only a small initial invest-
ment or no initial investment at all; and they are 
 settled at a future date in cash or by the delivery of 
the underlying instrument.

Designation as at fair value through  
profit or loss
(fair value option)

IAS 39 offers the option of designating any financial 
asset or financial liability irrevocably as at fair value 
through profit or loss (fair value option). Further criteria 
must be satisfied before the option can be exercised. 
Exercise of the option normally reduces accounting 
mismatches.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of determin-
ing the effective interest income or expense on inter-
est-bearing financial instruments. The effective interest 
method is used, for example, to allocate premiums or 
discounts as well as capitalized transaction costs over 
the term of a financial instrument so as to generate a 
constant rate of interest on the carrying amount.

Glossary
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Equity method

The equity method is a prescribed method for recogniz-
ing and measuring investments in joint ventures and 
associates in consolidated financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with IFRS. The measurement of the 
investment in the investor’s financial statements is 
based on the proportion of equity attributable to the 
investor. Changes in this share of equity are reflected in 
the financial statements of the investor by an adjust-
ment to the measurement of the investment (mirror-
image method).

Fair value
 
Fair value is the price that would be received for an 
asset or paid to settle a liability in an arm’s-length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties.
  
Finance lease

A lease is classified as a finance lease if substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership 
of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. As 
beneficial owner, the lessee must account for the asset 
and recognize a liability for the payment of lease in-
stallments to the lessor. The lessor recognizes the present 
value of the lessee’s lease payments as a receivable.

Financial instrument
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise  
to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial instruments held for trading

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified 
as financial instruments held for trading if they are pri-
marily purchased with the intention of reselling them 
in the near term or sold with the intention of repurchas-
ing them in the near term. Derivatives not designated 
as an effective hedge are also allocated to this category.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the positive difference between the price 
paid for a business combination and the sum of the 
fair values for the proportion of assets acquired and 
 liabilities assumed. It encompasses future economic 
benefits that cannot be separately identified and rec-
ognized as individual assets.

Held for sale

A non-current asset or disposal group is classified as 
held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use.  

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments consist of non-derivative 
financial assets listed on an active market with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity that an 
entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. IAS 39 provides for a separate measurement 
category for such financial instruments. However, this 
category is not used in the UMH Group.

Impairment of assets

An asset is impaired if its recoverable amount is below 
its carrying amount. The methodology for calculating 
the amount of an impairment loss depends on each 
individual case and the relevant IFRS provisions.

International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS)

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are 
the accounting standards published by the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In addition 
to the IFRSs published since 2003, the standards in-
clude the previously published International Accounting 
Standards (IASs), the interpretations of the Standing 
Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the interpretations 
of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC).
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Joint venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby 
two or more parties undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
that have fixed or determinable payments and that are 
not quoted in an active market. This category includes, 
in particular, receivables and some types of investments.
  
Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the share of sub-
sidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the parent 
company.

Operating lease

All leases that do not satisfy the requirements for fi-
nance leases are classified as operating leases. Beneficial 
ownership of the leased asset remains with the lessor 
and the asset is recognized and measured in the 
 lessor’s financial statements.

Other financial liabilities

All financial liabilities that are not classified as held for 
trading or designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss are classified as other financial liabilities. Other 
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve is a separate line item under 
equity. Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets are reported under this item.
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The Union Investment Group is one of the 
largest and most important providers in 
Germany's asset management industry, 
with more than 50 years of expertise 
in fund management, and assets under 
management of over EUR 190 billion. 
Union Investment actively manages assets, 
offering tailored investment solutions for 
both retail and institutional investors. 

Union Investment is a member of the  
DZ BANK Group alongside Bausparkasse 
Schwäbisch Hall, DG HYP, DZ PRIVAT-
BANK, R+V Versicherung, TeamBank,  
VR LEASING, and various other specialized 
institutions. The companies in the  
DZ BANK Group constitute key pillars in 

the range of financial products and ser-
vices offered by the cooperative financial 
network. The DZ BANK Group sets out 
its strategy and range of services for the 
cooperative banks and their customers 
through its four strategic business lines – 
Retail Banking, Corporate Banking, Capital 
Markets, and Transaction Banking. The  
DZ BANK Group forms part of the German 
cooperative financial network, which 
comprises more than 1,100 local coopera-
tive banks and is one of Germany's largest 
private-sector financial services organiza-
tions in terms of total assets. Within the 
cooperative financial network, DZ BANK 
AG functions both as a central institution 
for over 900 cooperative banks (and their 

roughly 12,000 branch offices) and as a 
corporate bank.

This combination of banking, personal in-
vestment products and services, insurance, 
and home savings has a long and success-
ful tradition in the cooperative financial 
network. The specialized institutions in the 
DZ BANK Group provide top-class, highly 
competitive products at reasonable prices 
within their specific areas of expertise. 
This ensures that the cooperative banks 
in Germany are able to offer their clients 
a comprehensive range of outstanding 
financial services.

Union Investment – Partner of the Cooperative Banks and  
a DZ BANK Group Company

Key financial figures for the Union Investment Group 

2012 2011 2010

Assets under management (AuM) (EUR billion) 190.5 170.3 177.4

Mutual funds 114.8 103.0 109.7

Special funds 58.8 53.3 54.4

Other formats ¹ 26.1 20.3 19.1

Formats managed by third parties ² -9.2 -6.3 -5.8

Market share of total BVI assets under management ³ 12.3% 11.8% 11.9%

Market share of BVI mutual funds (AuM) 19.5% 18.2% 18.1%

Market share of BVI special funds (AuM) 11.0% 11.7% 11.9%

Net inflows (EUR billion) 9.9 -1.5 8.7

Mutual funds 5.4 -2.1 -0.3

Special funds 2.1 0.3 6.2

Other formats ¹ 3.7 1.3 3.0

Formats managed by third parties ² -1.3 -1.0 -0.2

Market share of total inflows to BVI (AuM) ³ -14.9% -36.2% 25.0%

Market share of inflows to BVI mutual funds (AuM) 41.0% n.a. 4 -32.0%

Market share of inflows to BVI special funds (AuM) 10.3% 4.4% 21.5%

Number of products 998 969 957

Mutual funds 708 675 634

Special funds 323 308 318

Other formats ¹ 250 249 246

Formats managed by third parties ² -283 -263 -241

¹ Fund-linked asset management, institutional asset management, private banking, advisory services.
² Notional adjustment of assets under management for formats that are administered by Union Investment but managed by third parties.
³ Based on fund management statistics published by the Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management e.V. (BVI) [Federal Association of German Fund Management Companies].
4 Total new business in the sector was down, therefore no market share can be shown.
Source: Union Investment; as at December 31, 2012

Leif Schönstedt, Head of Sales Support,  
Risk Management, and Regulatory Law

Gunther Kramert, UniGlobal fund manager

Many people, one 'us'

Union Investment has many facets. The diversity 
of our business lines and knowledge is mirrored 
in the diversity of the people behind our solutions 
and products. A small cross-section is illustrated 
by the changing themes on the cover of our 2012 
Annual Report. Four employees have been chosen 
to represent the values and attitudes of our Com-
pany. We maintain a strong focus on customers 
by working side by side with our partners in the 
Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken cooperative finan-
cial network or through direct contact with our 
institutional clients. That is what Union Investment 
understands by 'We can do it'.
 

Cover page: Dr. Joachim von Cornberg, Head of the General Legal and Compliance department

Astrid Joost-van der Spek, Head of International 
Institutional Account Management

Union Investment Group entities

Union Investment 
Institutional GmbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union IT-Services GmbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Service-Gesellschaft 
mbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment 
Service Bank AG
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment Financial 
Services S.A
308, route d’Esch
1471 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg

attrax S.A.
308, route d’Esch
1471 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg

Union Investment Institutional 
Property GmbH
Platz der Republik 6
60325 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment 
Luxembourg S.A.
308, route d’Esch
1471 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg

Union Investment 
Privatfonds GmbH
Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10
60329 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Union Investment 
Real Estate GmbH
Valentinskamp 70
20355 Hamburg 
Germany

Union Investment Towarzystwo 
Funduszy Inwestycyjnych S.A
ul. Polna 11
00-663 Warsaw 
Poland

Union Investment Real Estate 
France S.A.S., Paris
112, Avenue Kléber
75784 Paris Cedex 16 
France

BEA Union Investment  
Management Limited,  
Hong Kong
10 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

Quoniam Asset
Management GmbH
Westhafenplatz 1
60327 Frankfurt am Main  
Germany

Credit institutions

Fund management companies

Securities trading companies

Service companies

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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2012 Annual Report 

We can do it

Our objective is to always  
offer the best solution in an  
ever-changing world. 
We act decisively and use our 
strength of innovation to  
create a successful future in  
asset management.
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Note on forward-looking statements

The group management report and other sections of this annual report contain 

forward-looking statements that are based on current planning, assumptions, 

and estimates rather than on historical facts. In all cases, the forward-looking 

statements apply at the time the statements are made and we give no 

undertaking to update the content on the basis of new information or future 

events after publication of this report. We have derived our assessments 

and conclusions from these forward-looking statements, expectations, and 

forecasts. We explicitly draw attention to the fact that all our forward-looking 

statements are subject to known or unknown risks and uncertainties and are 

based on conclusions that relate to future events. These in turn are subject 

to risks, uncertainties, and other factors outside our control. Such risks, 

uncertainties, and other factors may arise, among other things, from changes 

in general economic conditions or the competitive environment, trends on the 

capital markets, changes in the tax/legal framework, and other risks. Actual 

events in the future may therefore differ substantially from our forward-looking 

statements, expectations, forecasts, and conclusions. We can accept no liability 

for the accuracy or completeness of the information provided and can make no 

warranty that future situations will occur as described.

General disclaimer

Unless otherwise stated, the past performance of the funds has been 

determined on the basis of Union Investment's own calculations using the BVI 

method (front-end fees not included, where applicable). Past performance is 

not necessarily a guide to future performance. For extensive product-specific 

information and details of the opportunities and risks attaching to Union 

Investment Group funds, please refer to the latest sales prospectuses, the 

Company's terms and conditions, the Key Investor Information, or the annual 

and half-yearly reports, German versions of which can be obtained free of 

charge from the client service offered by Union Investment Service Bank AG at 

Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. These documents 

constitute the sole binding basis for the purchase of funds. The content of this 

annual report does not constitute a recommendation to take a specific course 

of action; it is not a substitute for personal investment advice from the Bank or 

for expert personal tax advice. Although Union Asset Management Holding AG 

has taken due care in preparing and producing this document, Union Invest-

ment gives no guarantee that the information contained therein is up to date, 

accurate, and complete.

Revision date of all information, disclosures, explanations, charts, and  

diagrams: March 4, 2013 (unless stated otherwise).

Formal aspects of the report

 

To improve readability, repeated use throughout the report of the full legal 

form of the names of group companies has been avoided. The 2012 Annual 

Report is available in both German and English. 

It can be accessed on the internet at wir-vermoegen.de, either as an interactive 

report or as a PDF download.
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We can do it

Our objective is to always   
offer the best solution in an 
 ever-changing world. 
We act decisively and use our 
strength of innovation to   
create a successful future in 
 asset  management.
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Note on forward-looking statements

The group management report and other sections of this annual report contain 

forward-looking statements that are based on current planning, assumptions, 

and estimates rather than on historical facts. In all cases, the forward-looking 

statements apply at the time the statements are made and we give no under-

taking to update the content on the basis of new information or future events 

after publication of this report. We have derived our assessments and conclusions 

from these forward-looking statements, expectations, and forecasts. We explicitly 

draw attention to the fact that all our forward-looking statements are subject  

to known or unknown risks and uncertainties and are based on conclusions that 

relate to future events. These in turn are subject to risks, uncertainties, and 

 other factors outside our control. Such risks, uncertainties, and other factors may 

arise, among other things, from changes in general economic conditions or  

the competitive environment, trends on the capital markets, changes in the tax/

legal framework, and other risks. Actual events in the future may therefore 

 differ substantially from our forward-looking statements, expectations, forecasts, 

and conclusions. We can accept no liability for the accuracy or completeness  

of the information provided and can make no warranty that future situations will 

occur as described.

General disclaimer

Unless otherwise stated, the past performance of the funds has been determined 

on the basis of Union Investment’s own calculations using the BVI method 

(front-end fees not included, where applicable). Past performance is not neces-

sarily a guide to future performance. For extensive product-specific information 

and details of the opportunities and risks attaching to Union Investment Group 

funds, please refer to the latest sales prospectuses, the Company’s terms and 

conditions, the Key Investor Information, or the annual and half-yearly reports, 

German versions of which can be obtained free of charge from the client service 

offered by Union Investment Service Bank AG at Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10, 

60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. These documents constitute the sole binding 

basis for the purchase of funds. The content of this annual report does not 

 constitute a recommendation to take a specific course of action; it is not a sub-

stitute for personal investment advice from the Bank or for expert personal tax 

advice. Although Union Asset Management Holding AG has taken due care in 

preparing and producing this document, Union Investment gives no guarantee 

that the information contained therein is up to date, accurate, and complete.

Revision date of all information, disclosures, explanations, charts, and diagrams: 

March 4, 2013 (unless stated otherwise).
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It can be accessed on the internet at wir-vermoegen.de, either as an interactive 

report or as a PDF download.
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